UC Davis UC Davis Electronic Theses and Dissertations

Title

Impacts of Monoglycerides on Intestinal Integrity and Disease Resistance of Weaned Pigs

Permalink https://escholarship.org/uc/item/422576vj

Author Park, Sangwoo

Publication Date

2024

Peer reviewed|Thesis/dissertation

Impacts of Monoglycerides on Intestinal Integrity and Disease Resistance of Weaned Pigs

By

SANGWOO PARK DISSERTATION

Submitted in partial satisfaction of the requirements for the degree of

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

in

Animal Biology

in the

OFFICE OF GRADUATE STUDIES

of the

UNIVERSITY OF CALIFORNIA

DAVIS

Approved:

Yanhong Liu, Chair

Payam Vahmani

Xiang Yang

Committee in Charge

2024

Copyright © 2024 by Sangwoo Park

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

First and foremost, I would like to express my deepest appreciation to my major professor, Dr. Yanhong Liu, for her continuous support, guidance, and encouragement throughout my doctoral journey. Dr. Liu has provided me with numerous opportunities and valuable experiences to help me grow as an independent researcher.

I would like to acknowledge my qualifying exam committee members, Drs. Xiang Yang, Maurice Pitesky, Andreas Bäumler, Noelia Silva del Rio, and Payam Vahmani, who generously shared their insights and expertise. I would also like to thank my dissertation committee members Dr. Xiang Yang and Dr. Payam Vahmani for their time and insightful feedback on my work.

Special thanks to my lab mates, Dr. Yijie He, Dr. Kwangwook Kim, Dr. Cynthia Jinno, Lauren Kovanda, Robert Hernandez, Braden Wong, Supatirada Wongchanla, Shuhan (Cynthia) Sun, Yating (David) Zhao, Xiaogu (Tina) Du, and Youngmin Park for their friendship and collaboration, which made my PhD journey both productive and enjoyable. I would like to extend my sincere thanks to Drs. Minho Song, Peng Ji, Jeong Jae Lee, Jung Min Heo, Samooel Jung, and Ki Beom Jang for their support and inspiration.

I am thankful to swine facility manager Shelby Sopocy, feed mill manager David Gall, and animal facilities coordinator Kristy Portillo for their efforts in providing the resources that made the animal trials possible. I would also like to thank Animal Biology Graduate Group for their invaluable support. I deeply appreciate everyone who provided the resources and support throughout my PhD program to help me grow and overcome challenges.

Finally, and most importantly, without the unwavering support and love of my parents, I would not have been able to complete this journey or have had this opportunity. I am deeply grateful to my parents for their unwavering faith in me and for always being there for me.

ABSTRACT

Monoglycerides, glycerol monoesters of fatty acids, offer several advantages over organic acids by increasing stability, reducing unpleasant odors, and enabling the gradual release of bioactive substances (i.e., organic fatty acids) throughout the intestine, where they can positively affect intestinal integrity. These properties make monoglycerides attractive nutritional interventions for improving animal health and growth. In this context, three studies were performed to investigate the potential beneficial effects of monoglycerides as a practical strategy to improve disease resistance and overall health in pigs.

The first study aimed to evaluate the potential of a monoglyceride blend and zinc glycinate as sustainable methods for improving intestinal mucosal integrity in weaned pigs. *In vitro* cell culture models (porcine enterocyte cell line [IPEC-J2] and porcine alveolar macrophages [PAM]) were used to assess intestinal barrier and immunomodulatory functions. IPEC-J2 cells treated with 250 and 1,000 µg/mL of monoglycerides had increased (P < 0.05) transepithelial electrical resistance (TEER) values at 48 and 72 h after treatment, while 5 µg/mL of zinc glycinate showed increased (P < 0.0001) TEER values only at 72 h after treatment, compared with the control group. Lipopolysaccharide (LPS) challenge increased (P < 0.05) the production of tumor necrosis factoralpha (TNF- α) and interleukin-1 beta (IL-1 β) from PAM. In the non-challenge group, 50 or 100 µg/mL of monoglycerides stimulated (P < 0.05) TNF- α and IL-1 β production from PAM. Treatment with 25 or 100 µg/mL of zinc glycinate also enhanced (P < 0.05) TNF- α production from PAM. In LPS-treated PAM, 1,000 µg/mL of monoglycerides increased (P < 0.05) IL-1 β production, while zinc glycinate suppressed (P < 0.0001) the secretion of TNF- α and IL-1 β at the doses of 100, 250, and 500 µg/mL. The results from *in vitro* culture assays indicate that monoglycerides have a beneficial effect on strengthening epithelial barrier function, while zinc glycinate may have strong anti-inflammatory benefits.

The second study evaluated the effects of dietary monoglycerides (blend of short- and medium-chain fatty acids; BalanGutTM LS L; BASF SE) on the gut health and immunity of weaned pigs experimentally infected with an enterotoxigenic *Escherichia coli* (ETEC) F18. Pigs in highdose zinc oxide (ZNO; 3,000 mg/kg) and antibiotic groups had lower (P < 0.05) severity of diarrhea than control, but the severity of diarrhea was not different between antibiotic and monoglycerides groups. Pigs fed with monoglycerides or ZNO had lower (P < 0.05) serum haptoglobin on d 2 or 5 post-inoculation (PI) than control. Pigs in ZNO had greater (P < 0.05) goblet cell numbers per villus, villus area and height, and villus height-to-crypt depth ratio (VH:CD) in duodenum on d 5 PI than pigs in control, monoglycerides, and antibiotic groups. Pigs supplemented with monoglycerides, ZNO, or antibiotic had reduced (P < 0.05) ileal crypt depth compared with control on d 5 PI, contributing to the increase (P = 0.06) in VH:CD. Consistently, pigs in ZNO expressed the lowest (P < 0.05) TNFa, IL6, IL10, IL12, IL1A, IL1B, and PTGS2 in ileal mucosa on d 5 PI, while no difference was observed in the expression of those genes between ZNO and monoglycerides. Supplementation of ZNO or antibiotic had significant impacts on metabolic pathways in the serum compared with control, particularly on carbohydrate and amino acids metabolism, while limited impacts on serum metabolites were observed in monoglycerides group when compared with control. Pigs supplemented with ZNO had greater (P < 0.05) growth performance than other treatments, but no difference was observed in average daily feed intake between ZNO and monoglycerides groups during the post-challenge period. The second study indicates that supplementation of monoglyceride blend may enhance disease resistance of weaned

pigs by alleviating the severity of diarrhea and mitigating intestinal and systemic inflammation, although the effectiveness may not be comparable to high-dose zinc oxide.

The third study was conducted to explore the effects of dietary supplementation of organic acids (blend of formic acid, lactic acid, and sodium formate; Acitra G20C, Eastman), monoglycerides (blend of short- and medium-chain fatty acids; Entero-Nova 410C, Eastman), and combination of both acid-based additives on diarrhea, immune responses, and growth performance of ETEC F18-challenged weaned pigs. Supplementation of organic acids, monoglycerides, or their combination significantly reduced (P < 0.05) the frequency of diarrhea compared with control group. ETEC F18 infection increased (P < 0.05) counts of total white blood cells, neutrophils, and lymphocytes on d 5 and 14 PI, compared with d 0. Supplementation of the combination of organic acids and monoglycerides reduced (P < 0.05) the counts of total white blood cells, lymphocytes, and the ratio of neutrophils to lymphocytes, and tended (P < 0.10) to reduce neutrophil count on d 5 PI, compared with control. Pigs fed with monoglycerides had higher (P < 0.05) neutrophil counts than pigs in the control group on d 14 PI. Pigs fed with monoglycerides tended (P < 0.10) to have lower serum granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor, interleukin-1 alpha, and TNF- α concentrations on d 0, 5, or 14 PI compared with control. However, supplementation of organic acids, monoglycerides, or the combination of both had limited impacts on growth performance throughout the experiment. The third study suggests that dietary supplementation of organic acid blend, monoglyceride blend, and or their combination may alleviate diarrhea, intestinal damage, or inflammation caused by ETEC infection in pigs. Moreover, the potential for synergistic effects related to immune-modulatory effect observed in the combination group requires further investigation. In summary, monoglycerides investigated in the present studies have positive effects

on disease resistance and the overall health of weaned pigs under ETEC F18 infection, by improving gut integrity and modulating local and systemic inflammation.

KEY WORDS: enterotoxigenic *Escherichia coli*, gut integrity, monoglycerides, post-weaning diarrhea, systemic immunity, weaned pigs

TABLE OF CONTENTS

CHAPTER 1. LITERATURE REVIEW 1
1.1 Gut health of weaning pigs1
1.1.1. Gastrointestinal function development and early life stress
1.1.2. Post-weaning diarrhea
1.1.3. Diarrheagenic Escherichia coli–enterotoxigenic Escherichia coli
1.2. Organic acids 11
1.2.1. Acidification function
1.2.2. Biological activity on intestinal health
1.2.3. Application of organic fatty acid derivatives-monoglycerides
SUMMARY
LITERATURE CITED
TABLES AND FIGURES 61
CHAPTER 2. IN VITRO INVESTIGATION OF MONOGLYCERIDES AND ZINC
GLYCINATE: ANTI-INFLAMMATORY AND EPITHELIAL BARRIER FUNCTION 69
ABSTRACT
INTRODUCTION71
MATERIALS AND METHODS72
RESULTS76
DISCUSSION

LITERATURE CITED
TABLES AND FIGURES
CHAPTER 3. EFFECTS OF MONOGLYCERIDE BLEND ON SYSTEMIC AND
INTESTINAL IMMUNE RESPONSES, AND GUT HEALTH OF WEANED PIGS
EXPERIMENTALLY INFECTED WITH A PATHOGENIC ESCHERICHIA COLI
ABSTRACT
INTRODUCTION
MATERIALS AND METHODS
RESULTS
DISCUSSION
LITERATURE CITED
TABLES AND FIGURES 129
CHAPTER 4. DIETARY SUPPLEMENTATION OF BLEND OF ORGANIC ACIDS AND
MONOGLYCERIDES ALLEVIATED DIARRHEA AND SYSTEMIC INFLAMMATION OF
WEANED PIGS EXPERIMENTALLY INFECTED WITH ENTEROTOXIGENIC
ESCHERICHIA COLI F18157
ABSTRACT157
INTRODUCTION159
MATERIALS AND METHODS 161
RESULTS165
DISCUSSION

LITERATURE CITED	
TABLES AND FIGURES	
CHAPTER 5. GENERAL SUMMARY, DISCUSSION, AND CONCLUSION	198

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1.1. Regulations regarding the use of antibiotics as growth promoters in different countries
(adapted from Rahman et al., 2022)
Table 1.2. List of the most common acids and their properties (adapted from Tugnoli et al.,
2020)
Table 3.1. Ingredient compositions of experimental diets 129
Table 3.2. Gene-specific primer sequences and polymerase chain reaction conditions
Table 3.3. Growth performance of enterotoxigenic Escherichia coli F18-challenged weaned pigs
fed experimental diets
Table 3.4. Serum tumor necrosis factor-alpha and acute-phase proteins in enterotoxigenic
Escherichia coli F18-challenged weaned pigs fed experimental diets
Table 3.5. Intestinal morphology of enterotoxigenic Escherichia coli F18-challenged weaned
pigs fed experimental diets
Table 3.6. Number of neutrophils and macrophages in the ileum of enterotoxigenic Escherichia
coli F18-challenged weaned pigs fed experimental diets
Table 3.7. Serum metabolites that differed among the dietary treatment groups
Table 3.8. Significant impact pathways in serum that affected by the dietary treatment groups
Table 4.1. Ingredient compositions of experimental diets 182
Table 4.2. Growth performance of enterotoxigenic Escherichia coli F18-challenged weaned pigs
fed experimental diets
Table 4.3. Total and differential white blood cells and red blood profile in weaned pigs

Table 4.4. Total and differential white blood cells in enterotoxigenic Escherichia coli F18-	
challenged weaned pigs fed experimental diets	188
Table 4.5. Red blood cell profile in enterotoxigenic Escherichia coli F18-challenged weaned	
pigs fed experimental diets	190
Table 4.6. Serum inflammatory cytokines and acute phase proteins in enterotoxigenic	
Escherichia coli F18-challenged weaned pigs fed experimental diets	192

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.1. Impact of early weaning on the developmental trajectory of gastrointestinal (GI)
barrier function (adapted from Moeser et al., 2017)
Figure 1.2. Number of diagnostic accessions at the Iowa State University Veterinary Diagnostic
Laboratory resulting in each specific disease diagnosis from samples collected from pigs with
post-weaning diarrhea from 2010 to 2022 (adapted from Paiva et al., 2023)
Figure 1.3. Frequency of <i>Escherichia coli</i> F18 and F4 fimbrial gene detection in cases where
genotyping was performed at the Iowa State University Veterinary Diagnostic Laboratory from
2010 to 2022 (adapted from Paiva et al., 2023)
Figure 1.4. Summarised downstream effects of LPS signalling. LPS influences a range of cell
types and physiological processes (adapted from Page et al., 2022)
Figure 1.5. Proposed mechanisms of action on the beneficial effects of butyric acid (adapted
from Xiong et al., 2019)

 Figure 3.4. Intestinal morphology of enterotoxigenic *Escherichia coli* F18-challenged weaned Figure 3.5. Relative mRNA abundance of genes in jejunal mucosa of enterotoxigenic Escherichia coli F18-challenged weaned pigs fed diets supplemented with monoglycerides, highdose zinc oxide, or antibiotic. Each least squares mean represents 6–9 observations. PI = Postinoculation; MUC2 = Mucin 2; CLDN1 = Claudin-1; ZO-1 = Zonula occludens-1; OCLN =Figure 3.6. Relative mRNA abundance of genes in ileal mucosa of enterotoxigenic Escherichia coli F18-challenged pigs supplemented with monoglycerides, high-dose zinc oxide, or antibiotic on d 5 (A) and 21 PI (B). ^{a,b}Means without a common superscript are different (P < 0.05). Each least squares mean represents 6–9 observations. PI = Post-inoculation; TNFa = Tumor necrosis factor-alpha; IL6 = Interleukin 6; IL7 = Interleukin 7; IL10 = Interleukin 10; IL12 = Interleukin 12; IL1A = Interleukin-1 alpha, IL1B = Interleukin-1 beta; MUC2 = Mucin 2, and PTGS2 = Figure 3.7. Partial Least Squares Discriminant Analysis (PLS-DA) 2D score plot of the metabolites in serum showed separated clusters between the CON and ZNO, MG and ZNO, MG and AB, and ZNO and AB groups on d 5 (A) and/or d 14 (B) post-inoculation, respectively. CON = Control; MG = Monoglycerides; ZNO = High-dose zinc oxide; AB = Antibiotic. Shaded Figure 3.8. Partial Least Squares Discriminant Analysis (PLS-DA) 2D score plot of the metabolites in serum showed separated clusters between the CON and ZNO (A and B), MG and ZNO (C and D) on d 5 (A and C) and d 14 (B and D) post-inoculation, respectively. CON =

Control; MG = Monoglycerides; ZNO = High-dose zinc oxide. Shaded areas in different colors Figure 3.9. Partial Least Squares Discriminant Analysis (PLS-DA) 2D score plot of the metabolites in serum showed separated clusters between the MG and AB (A and B), ZNO and AB (C and D) on d 5 (A and C) and d 14 (B and D) post-inoculation, respectively. MG =Monoglycerides; ZNO = High-dose zinc oxide; AB = Antibiotic. Shaded areas in different colors Figure 3.10. Significantly changed pathways in serum between the control and monoglycerides groups on d 5 (A) and d 14 (C) post-inoculation, respectively. The x-axis represents the pathway impact values and the y-axis represents the $-\log(P)$ values from the pathway enrichment analysis. Metabolite set enrichment analysis shows the metabolic pathways were enriched in control compared with monoglycerides on d 5 (**B**) and d 14 (**D**) post-inoculation, respectively. Both pathway analysis and metabolite set enrichment analysis were performed using identified Figure 3.11. Significantly changed pathways in serum between the control and high-dose zinc oxide (ZNO) groups on d 5 (A) and d 14 (C) post-inoculation, respectively. The x-axis represents the pathway impact values and the y-axis represents the $-\log(P)$ values from the pathway enrichment analysis. Metabolite set enrichment analysis shows the metabolic pathways were enriched in control compared with ZNO on d 5 (**B**) and d 14 (**D**) post-inoculation, respectively. Both pathway analysis and metabolite set enrichment analysis were performed Figure 3.12. Significantly changed pathways in serum between the monoglycerides and highdose zinc oxide (ZNO) groups on d 5 (A) and d 14 (C) post-inoculation, respectively. The x-axis

CHAPTER 1

LITERATURE REVIEW

1.1 Gut health of weaning pigs

1.1.1. Gastrointestinal function development and early life stress

The gastrointestinal tract is responsible not only for the breakdown and transport of nutrients but also for maintaining fluid balance and acting as a barrier (physical, biochemical, and immunological) to protect the host from the external environment (Vancamelbeke and Vermeire, 2017). More than two-thirds of the body's immune cells are located in the gut, and this key immune organ plays a critical role in maintaining balance among the complex interactions of nutrients, microbes, and the epithelium (Blikslager et al., 2007; Pluske et al., 2018; Szabó et al., 2023). Therefore, maintaining good gut health is crucial for the efficient utilization of ingested nutrients and proper epithelial barrier and immune response, which are essential for the growth and health of pigs (Heo et al., 2013). The intestinal health of pigs can be threatened throughout their lives by various factors, including anti-nutritional factors, antibiotic misuse, and environmental stress. However, early life stages are particularly vulnerable due to physiological immaturity (Campbell et al., 2013).

Weaning is the most stressful event in the early life of pigs, typically occurring at 3 to 4 weeks of age under commercial conditions. During the weaning stage, piglets experience an immunity gap characterized by a decline in passive immunity and insufficient active immunity (Moeser et al., 2017). Additionally, stress induced by weaning during the critical period of postnatal intestinal maturation can compromise the development and function of the gut, disrupting

its ability to achieve optimal developmental trajectories (Figure 1.1) (Moeser et al., 2017; Tang et al., 2022). This disruption may also affect gut health and susceptibility to diseases in subsequent phases (Medland et al., 2016; Pohl et al., 2017; Pluske et al., 2018). Although many studies have explored practical strategies to manage the transition (Smith et al., 2010; Lancheros et al., 2020; Park et al., 2020b), the complex interplay of physiological, nutritional, and environmental challenges makes it difficult to manage weaning stress.

1.1.2. Post-weaning diarrhea

The combination of stressors during the weaning period impairs the efficient use of resources in weanling pigs by causing physiological changes such as decreased appetite, intestinal dysfunction, and immune dysregulation (Lallès et al., 2007). At the same time, compromised gut integrity increases the host's susceptibility to external factors, such as antigens, pathogens, and toxins, leading to post-weaning diarrhea (PWD) and undesirable inflammation (McLamb et al., 2013; Jayaraman and Nyachoti, 2017). PWD typically occurs within a few days to weeks after weaning and is a common gastrointestinal disease in piglets. It not only causes growth retardation but also has a high mortality, resulting in significant economic losses and animal welfare concerns (Liu et al., 2013). Although a variety of pathogens can cause diarrhea in weanling piglets, pathogenic *Escherichia coli* (*E. coli*) infection is the most common cause of PWD (Figure 1.2) (Almeida et al., 2022; Paiva et al., 2023). Theoretically, acute diarrhea is associated with altered intestinal motility, decreased nutrient assimilation, and/or increased water and electrolyte secretion (Hornbuckle et al., 2008). These symptoms closely align with those observed in *E. coli*-associated PWD in pigs, such as loose stools, dehydration, metabolic acidosis, and poor appearance.

1.1.3. Diarrheagenic Escherichia coli-enterotoxigenic Escherichia coli

E. coli, a member of the Enterobacteriaceae family, is a facultatively anaerobic, Gramnegative bacterium commonly found to be commensal in the intestine of healthy animals (Kaper et al., 2004). E. coli maintains biological activity by regulating cytoplasmic pH within an optimal range (i.e., pH 7.2-7.8) to survive and colonize across a wide range of gastrointestinal pH (i.e., pH 4.5-9) (Gonzales et al., 2013). The optimal conditions for the growth of E. coli are 37°C and a pH close to neutral or slightly alkaline (Tuttle et al., 2021; Xu et al., 2023). In contrast to commensal E. coli strains, which typically do not induce disease under normal conditions, some E. coli strains with certain specific virulence factors have been classified as enteropathogenic based on their pathogenesis and clinical symptoms (Kaper et al., 2004; Mare et al., 2021; Yu et al., 2021). These include: 1) enteropathogenic E. coli (EPEC); 2) enterohaemorrhagic E. coli (EHEC); 3) enteroinvasive E. coli (EIEC); 4) diffusely adherent E. coli (DAEC); 5) enteroaggregative E. coli (EAEC); and 6) enterotoxigenic E. coli (ETEC). Among the diarrheagenic E. coli strains, ETEC is the predominant pathotype of *E. coli* associated with PWD in pigs (Dubreuil, 2021). Although surface structures of E. coli, including O (lipopolysaccharide; LPS) and H (flagellar) antigens, can also be used for serological classification, serotyping is considered inefficient and inaccurate due to cross-reactivity resulting from high diversity (Fratamico et al., 2016; Debroy et al., 2018; Mare et al., 2021).

1.1.3.1. Pathogenesis of Escherichia coli

In the pathogenesis of pathogenic bacteria, including ETEC, several virulence factors enable the bacteria to attach to host cells, proliferate, evade the defense system, and cause adverse effects (Turner et al., 2006; Nash et al., 2015; Kim et al., 2022). The primary virulence factors essential to the pathogenic process of ETEC are colonization factors (CF; i.e., adhesions) and enterotoxins (Dubreuil, 2021). Upon ingestion through contaminated sources (e.g., fecal-oral route), ETEC reaches the small intestine, where infection begins as ETEC colonizes the small intestine by attaching to specific receptors on the intestinal epithelium via fimbrial adhesins (Zhang et al., 2022). This colonization of ETEC facilitates the stable and intense production and secretion of enterotoxins. These toxins then bind to specific receptors on the intestinal epithelium, causing local lesions and impairing gut integrity (Kim et al., 2022; Svennerholm and Lundgren, 2023).

Adhesion and invasion–adhesins. The major adhesive surface antigens in ETEC are fimbriae (Sun and Kim, 2017). These fimbrial structures recognize and bind to specific receptors on the surface of small intestinal enterocytes (Heo et al., 2015). There are five groups of porcine ETEC fimbrial adhesions, including F4 (K88), F5 (K99), F6 (987P), F7 (F41), and F18. There is also an age-related correlation based on fimbrial types. F5 (K99), F6 (987P), and F7 (F41) fimbriae are primarily associated with diarrhea in newborn piglets. F4 (K88) fimbriae are observed in both neonatal/suckling and weaned pigs, while F18 fimbriae are mainly associated with PWD (Frydendahl, 2002; Hartadi et al., 2020). This relationship is not surprising given that intestinal receptors are expressed differently depending on the age of the pig (Nagy et al., 1992), and successful attachment is a prerequisite for ETEC infection. Differences in the relationship between the adhesin and the host receptor may also contribute to the host specificity of ETEC (Fleckenstein et al., 2010). According to a recent report from the Iowa State University Veterinary Diagnostic Laboratory (Paiva et al., 2023), ETEC F18 fimbriae were observed to be predominant when genotyping was performed on cases submitted for diagnosis of pig PWD (Figure 1.3).

F18ab and F18ac, variants of ETEC F18, are known to induce different diseases in pigs. F18ab is associated with edema disease, whereas F18ac is known to cause PWD in pigs (Duarte et al., 2023a). The operon encoding F18 fimbriae includes five genes (*fedA*, *fedB*, *fedC*, *fedE* and *fed*F). The sequence of FedF, which is associated with adhesin, has been reported to be conserved across different regions and variants, suggesting that both variants share the same receptor (F18 receptor; F18R) (Cox et al., 2012). Polymerase chain reaction (PCR) test can be used to detect the presence of the F18 receptor in pigs, assessing their susceptibility to ETEC F18 infection. It has been reported that a point mutation at nucleotide 307 of the *FUT1* gene, which encodes alpha(1,2)-fucosyltransferase, confers resistance to ETEC F18 in pigs with the A/A homozygous genotype. In contrast, pigs with the G/G or G/A genotypes are susceptible (Meijerink et al., 2000; Kreuzer et al., 2013). The *FUT1* gene is involved in the expression of H blood group antigens (HBGA), which are related to the receptor for ETEC F18 fimbriae (Duarte et al., 2023a). Previous studies have reported that the *FUT1M307* genotype in pigs is highly associated with ETEC F18 susceptibility (87%), although a resistant genotype does not completely exclude the risk of ETEC F18 infection (6%) (Frydendahl et al., 2003; Sun and Kim, 2017).

Cytotoxic effects–enterotoxins. Enterotoxins produced by ETEC can compromise intestinal integrity and lead to infection and disease (Boeckman et al., 2022). Based on their thermal stability, these toxins are divided into two groups: heat-labile (LT) and heat-stable (ST) toxins. Enterotoxins primarily induce secretory diarrhea due to fluid imbalance.

LT are classified into LT-I (LT-Ih and LT-Ip) and LT-II (LT-IIa, LT-IIb, and LT-IIc) based on their antigen properties (Wang et al., 2019). LT is a high-molecular-weight (MW = \sim 88 kDa) complex that remains stable at 60°C for up to 15 minutes. Upon binding to enterocyte receptors, LT activates adenylate cyclase (AC) (Read et al., 2014). The activation of AC induces an excessive increase in cyclic adenosine monophosphate (cAMP), which affects the cystic fibrosis transmembrane regulator (CFTR) chloride ion channel through protein kinase A (PKA) activation, resulting in electrolyte and water loss (Read et al., 2014). In addition to the loss of intestinal permeability associated with ion channels, LT has been reported to support adhesion for colonization (Berberov et al., 2004; Horstman et al., 2004; Sun and Kim, 2017) and to increase levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines (Soriani et al., 2002; Read et al., 2014).

ST are low-molecular-weight monomeric peptides that remain stable at 100 °C for up to 15 minutes. They exist in two variants: STa and STb (MW = 2 and 5 kDa, respectively) (Cox et al., 2012). STa binds to the intestinal receptor, guanylyl cyclase-C (GC-C), leading to the activation of guanylate cyclase and a subsequent increase in cyclic guanosine monophosphate (cGMP) synthesis (Read et al., 2014). Increased cGMP, similar to the effect of LT, leads to electrolyte and water loss through the alteration of the CFTR channels via protein kinase G II activation (Vaandrager et al., 1997; Vaandrager et al., 2000). Additionally, cGMP indirectly affects CFTR by inhibiting phosphodiesterase 3 (PDE3), which further regulates cAMP and PKA (Dubreuil, 2017). STa also has adverse effects on intestinal epithelial barrier integrity, leading to intestinal mucosal disorders (Whipp et al., 1985) and increased levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines (Loos et al., 2013). In contrast to STa, STb is susceptible to proteolytic enzymes, and its detrimental effects on intestinal barrier function begin with binding to acidic glycosphingolipid (i.e., sulfatide) on the intestinal epithelium (Butt et al., 2020). STb increases intracellular calcium influx and activates chloride channels by increasing calcium-dependent enzymes, thereby inducing chloride efflux. Elevated intracellular calcium levels can also cause fluid loss through several mechanisms, including alterations in ion channels (i.e., CFTR and NHE3) and the synthesis of intestinal secretagogues (i.e., prostaglandin E2 and 5-hydroxytryptamine) (Cox et al., 2012). STb has also been reported to have adverse effects on gut integrity, including damaging intestinal mucosa (Whipp et al., 1985; Whipp et al., 1986; Whipp et al., 1987) and altering tight junction protein expression (Dubreuil, 1997; Mukiza and Dubreuil, 2013) or redistribution (Mukiza and Dubreuil, 2013; Nassour and Dubreuil, 2014; Dubreuil, 2017).

Lipopolysaccharides. LPS is a heat-stable endotoxin that is an essential and specific surface structure of bacteria, especially Gram-negative bacteria such as *E. coli* (Alexander and Rietschel, 2001; Miyamoto et al., 2009). It has been reported that the outer membrane of *Salmonella* and *E. coli* consists primarily (>75%) of LPS (Klein and Raina, 2019; Avila-Calderón et al., 2021). LPS is structurally composed of three parts from the outside: polysaccharide (O-antigen), core oligosaccharide, and lipid A (glycolipid) (Neidhardt et al., 1987; Amor et al., 2000). Generally, the external structure (O-antigen) is variable, which allows for specific discrimination (serotyping) among bacteria strains, while the internal structure (lipid A) is more conservative (DebRoy et al., 2011; Debroy et al., 2018; Farhana and Khan, 2023). Lipid A is the primary component responsible for toxicity (i.e., immune activation) and can vary in structure depending on the bacterial species (Caroff and Novikov, 2020; Farhana and Khan, 2023).

LPS has been widely utilized in numerous *in vitro* and *in vivo* studies of physiology, immunology, endocrinology, metabolism, and toxicity due to its immune-activating properties (Molteni et al., 2016; Farhana and Khan, 2023). LPS is recognized by pattern recognition receptors (PRR) of the host as a specific pathogen-associated molecular pattern (PAMP) (Rallabhandi et al., 2006; Yu et al., 2010). Toll-like receptor 4 (TLR4), an LPS-specific PRR, is primarily expressed on the surface of innate immune cells (e.g., macrophages, neutrophils, and endothelial cells) and induces signaling cascades associated with inflammatory responses (Akira and Takeda, 2004; Akira et al., 2006). In the interaction between LPS and its receptor, LPS binding protein (LBP), cluster of differentiation 14 (CD14), and myeloid differentiation factor 2 (MD2) act as cofactors to trigger downstream signaling (Khan et al., 2018). This signaling leads to the regulation of

transcription factors (e.g., mitogen-activated protein kinases [MAPK] and nuclear factor-kappa B [NF- κ B] activation) and the activation of innate immune cells (Alexander and Rietschel, 2001; Pålsson-McDermott and O'Neill, 2004; Hayden et al., 2006). Consequently, this process results in the secretion of inflammatory mediators (e.g., cytokines/chemokines) and the inflammatory response (Figure 1.4). While this response is essential for maintaining homeostasis, it is also crucial to manage properly to prevent host cell damage from excessive exposure (Renz et al., 2012; Page et al., 2022; Javed et al., 2023).

1.1.3.2. Clinical signs

Pigs infected with ETEC are characterized by acute diarrhea (watery and yellowish stools) due to fluid loss caused by the toxic effects of virulence factors that disrupt electrolyte regulation in the intestinal wall (Liu et al., 2014; Kim et al., 2022). This condition is often accompanied by a dirty appearance, loss of appetite, poor physical condition, dehydration, and depression. In severe cases, it can lead to electrolyte imbalance, nutritional deficiencies, metabolic acidosis, or sudden death without obvious symptoms (Fairbrother et al., 2005; Hornbuckle et al., 2008; Luppi, 2017). This impact of ETEC infection is significant not only due to the economic losses associated with stunted growth, mortality, morbidity, and treatment costs (e.g., preventive/therapeutic medications or additives), but also with regard to animal welfare (Zhang et al., 2007; Nadeau et al., 2017; Cremonesi et al., 2022).

Farm history and clinical signs in piglets can be used to diagnose PWD. Additionally, specific culture media containing lactose (such as MacConkey agar) or mammalian blood (such as blood agar) can help identify some ETEC associated with PWD (i.e., ETEC F4 and F18), which are characterized by their ability to utilize lactose and their hemolytic properties (Luppi, 2017; He et al., 2020a; Mueller and Tainter, 2023). Most ETEC isolates from pigs with PWD on farms in

Europe have been identified as hemolytic (Luppi et al., 2016). However, a definitive diagnosis requires strain isolation and the identification of enterotoxin and fimbriae by PCR (Navez et al., 2023). Necropsy can reveal characteristic ETEC lesions, such as enlargement or hyperemia of the stomach and mesenteric lymph nodes, which aid in guiding further laboratory investigations (Luppi, 2017). Acute diagnosis is crucial for the effective and efficient management of PWD caused by ETEC.

ETEC-infectious diarrhea in weaned pigs, which requires a minimum dose of 10⁹-10¹⁰ ETEC, typically has an average incubation period of two days. Acute diarrhea may last up to 10 days (Sun and Kim, 2017; Khalil et al., 2021; Duarte et al., 2023a). The intensity and/or duration of PWD and the associated symptoms can vary depending on several factors, including the condition of the animal and management strategies used during the period. The detrimental effects of ETEC infection can persist even after the symptoms disappear (Fairbrother et al., 2005; Gebhardt et al., 2020; Duarte and Kim, 2022). A recent review paper summarized several studies on the effects of experimental challenge with ETEC F18 on the health of weaned pigs (Duarte et al., 2023a), including:

1) Reduced average daily gain (by 28%), average daily feed intake (by 10%), and gain-tofeed ratio (by 20%) (Liu et al., 2013; Andersen et al., 2017; Kim et al., 2019; Li et al., 2019; Becker et al., 2020; Duarte et al., 2020; He et al., 2020b; Sun et al., 2021; Wong et al., 2022; Caprarulo et al., 2023; Chang et al., 2023; Duarte et al., 2023b; Jang et al., 2023; Jerez-Bogota et al., 2023).

2) Increased levels of interleukin 6 (IL-6; by 60%) (Duarte et al., 2020; Wong et al., 2022), IL-8 (by 43%) (Becker et al., 2020; Duarte et al., 2020; Xu et al., 2022), tumor necrosis factoralpha (by 28%) (Duarte et al., 2020; Duarte and Kim, 2022; Xu et al., 2022; Duarte et al., 2023b; Jang et al., 2023). 3) Altered villus height (VH; reduced by 14%), crypt depth (CD; increased by 6%), and villus height-to-crypt depth ratio (reduced by 18%) (Liu et al., 2013; Kim et al., 2019; Li et al., 2019; Duarte et al., 2020; Sun et al., 2021; Duarte and Kim, 2022; Xu et al., 2022; Chang et al., 2023; Duarte et al., 2023b; Jang et al., 2023).

1.1.3.3. Conventional practices and other strategies

Antibiotics (e.g., chlortetracycline, tiamulin, tylosin, and carbadox) and pharmacological doses (2,000–3,000 mg/kg) of zinc oxide had/have been widely used in nursery diets to control PWD and to promote animal health and growth (Pluske et al., 2002; López-Gálvez et al., 2021; Xie et al., 2021). They have antimicrobial properties and increase nutrient availability by enhancing gut health and resource utilization, reducing gut infections, and modifying gut microbial composition and metabolism (Hung et al., 2020; Kim et al., 2022). Despite their effectiveness, public concerns about potential risks to human health, antibiotic resistance, and environmental impact have led to restrictions on the use of antimicrobial growth promoters (Table 1.1) and a reduction in the use of high-dose zinc oxide in feed (Bonetti et al., 2021; Monger et al., 2021; Rahman et al., 2022). These concerns align with the One Health approach, recognizing the interactions of humans, animals, and the environment, and may result in further restrictions or bans on conventional practices (Aslam et al., 2021; Stoica and Cox, 2021). Therefore, there is an urgent need for alternative practices, including health, management, and nutritional interventions, to promote animal health and welfare while further reducing the use of antibiotics in pig production and reducing reliance on high-dose of zinc oxide in animal feed. Advances in conventional practices are not limited to agents that modulate gut microbiota with antimicrobial activity, but also include strategies that improve growth performance through enhanced gut health (Rhouma et al., 2017; Canibe et al., 2022). Optimal alternative practices should meet the following criteria (Cheng et al., 2014): 1) no toxicity or side effects to animals, and minimal short-term residues; 2) ability to enhance disease resistance and improve growth and feed efficiency; 3) stability with ease of handling and no impact on palatability; 4) no negative environmental impact.

1.2. Organic acids

1.2.1. Acidification function

Organic acids have been employed as additives in animal feed and water primarily to inhibit the growth of undesirable microorganisms and to lower the pH of the feed (Tugnoli et al., 2020). Inorganic acids, such as hydrochloric acid (HCl), sulfuric acid (H₂SO₄), and phosphoric acid (H₃PO₄), are also used as acidifiers due to their low cost. However, they present safety concerns due to their strong corrosivity and have shown limited research and inconsistent results compared to organic acids (Kim et al., 2005; Che et al., 2012; Liu et al., 2018). Organic acidifiers are chemical compounds with carboxyl group (-COOH). Examples include benzoic acid, citric acid, fumaric acid, propionic acid, lactic acid, and formic acid (Papatsiros and Billinis, 2012). The effectiveness of each organic acid as an acidifier depends on its pKa (acid dissociation constant; Table 1.2), which varies due to differences in carbon chain length and saturation. The pKa influences how the acid interacts with the pH of gastrointestinal environment, affecting its antimicrobial and acidifying activity (Suiryanrayna and Ramana, 2015; Nguyen et al., 2020; Pearlin et al., 2020). In general, organic acids used as additives have a pKa in the range of 3-5 and can be selected based on their intended purpose (Dibner and Buttin, 2002; Tugnoli et al., 2020). Organic acids with relatively low pKa are more effective for lowering stomach pH, while organic acids with relatively high pKa are generally used for feed preservation.

In the early stages of a pig's life, especially during weaning, the gastrointestinal system is immature, making it difficult to maintain proper stomach acidity, and the pH can be further compromised (up to pH 5) by external factors such as feed (Heo et al., 2013; Park et al., 2020a; Song et al., 2022). It may have an adverse effect on the nutrient digestion and absorption as well as on the growth of pigs. Maintaining appropriate pH in the stomach not only acts as a chemical barrier, but also improves pepsin activity (most active around pH 3), which is related to protein digestibility (Kim et al., 2005; Suiryanrayna and Ramana, 2015). The increased pH level may also accelerate the gastric emptying rate, which may not allow feed to stay in the gastrointestinal tract long enough to be digested (Johnson, 2006). In this regard, lowering the gastric pH by supplementing organic acids during the weaning period can inhibit the invasion of external factors (e.g., pathogens) and increase pepsin activity, thus improving digestibility and performance.

Dietary inclusion of fumaric acid (0.7%) or citric acid (1%) has been reported to reduce the stomach pH of weanling pigs from 4.6 to 4.2 and 3.5, respectively (Scipioni et al., 1979; Suiryanrayna and Ramana, 2015). A meta-analysis indicated that dietary acid supplementation can significantly reduce dietary pH by more than 1 unit; however, the impact on gastric pH was less pronounced, changing from pH 3.73 to pH 3.66 (Tung and Pettigrew, 2006). In addition to lowering pH, several studies have demonstrated that adding organic acids enhances protein and mineral digestibility/utilization (Mroz et al., 2000; Sauer et al., 2009; Liu et al., 2018; Xu et al., 2018) as well as improves growth performance (Partanen and Mroz, 1999; Pettigrew, 2006; Wang et al., 2022) in pigs. This is supported by reports indicating that organic acid supplementation enhances enzyme secretion from the pancreas (Dibner and Buttin, 2002; Adil et al., 2010; Khan and Iqbal, 2016), and may reduce the gastric emptying rate (Van der Sluis, 2002; Nguyen et al., 2020). Comparative research has reported lactic acid to be more effective than other organic acids in improving growth performance in weaned pigs (Tsiloyiannis et al., 2001). However, improved feed efficiency and intestinal morphology have been observed in previous research without changes in intestinal pH (Lee et al., 2022). Several studies have also shown that supplementation with organic acids (e.g., formic acid and lactic acid) has antibacterial effects against pathogens, like ETEC, which helps alleviate PWD (Tsiloyiannis et al., 2001). The reduction of intestinal digesta pH by organic acids is correlated with reduced growth of coliform bacteria (Knarreborg et al., 2002), suggesting that their effects may be due to an antimicrobial activity in addition to stomach acidification (Cherrington et al., 1991; Risley et al., 1992).

Dissociated organic acids lower the pH in the gut, creating an unfavorable environment for the growth and survival of pathogens, especially acid-intolerant bacteria, thereby reducing their opportunity to proliferate (Canibe et al., 2001). It has been reported that lactic acid supplementation effectively lowers gastric pH and inhibits E. coli proliferation in the intestine (Thomlinson and Lawrence, 1981; Ø verland et al., 2007). Formic acid has been reported to have antimicrobial properties against a wide range of pathogens, including bacteria, fungi, and yeast (Partanen and Mroz, 1999; Suiryanrayna and Ramana, 2015). On the other hand, undissociated organic acids can penetrate the cell wall and dissociate, lowering the intracellular pH and disrupting the metabolic functions of the microorganism, such as proton pump activation and increased osmotic pressure, which are essential for homeostasis and survival of bacteria (Holyoak et al., 1996; Lambert and Stratford, 1999; Warnecke and Gill, 2005). Gram-negative bacteria are often more resistant to various hydrophobic and hydrophilic antibiotics than Gram-positive bacteria due to their distinct outer membrane barrier (Delcour, 2009; Zeinab et al., 2023; Kim et al., 2024). However, undissociated organic acids with lipophilicity may be more effective against Gram-negative bacteria through the mechanisms mentioned above (Suiryanrayna and Ramana, 2015). These internal and external pH stresses burden acid-vulnerable bacteria, while creating an environment favorable for bacteria adapted to relatively low pH (Gauthier, 2002; Mani-López et al., 2012).

The expected and possible effects of organic acids that result in improved animal productivity include: 1) increased pepsin activity, reduced digesta passage rate, and improved digestibility/utilization of nutrients through lowering gastrointestinal pH; 2) utilization as an energy source; and 3) reduced pathogenic bacteria growth and prevention of PWD (de Lange et al., 2010). However, these effects have been reported to vary depending on the buffering capacity of the diet (Blank et al., 1999), and inconsistent responses in animals have also been reported (Risley et al., 1991; Risley et al., 1993; Gottlob et al., 2006; Weber and Kerr, 2008). Meta-analysis of previous studies also found that the effect of organic acid supplementation on growth rate improvement decreases with animal age (Tung and Pettigrew, 2006; Wang et al., 2022). While researchers have explored various approaches to optimize the use of organic acids, including different forms and/or combinations (Pearlin et al., 2020; Wang et al., 2022), interactions with several factors (e.g., age and health of the animal, feed palatability, solubility/stability, buffering capacity from external factors, and safety) still remain critical considerations in the application (Ravindran and Kornegay, 1993; Heo et al., 2013; Tugnoli et al., 2020).

1.2.2. Biological activity on intestinal health

1.2.2.1. Short-chain fatty acids

In general, fatty acids with saturated short carbon chains (< C6) are classified as shortchain fatty acids (SCFA) and are produced primarily by microbial breakdown of carbohydrates, especially dietary fiber (i.e., indigestible polysaccharides), in the large intestine (Scheppach and Weiler, 2004; Zhang et al., 2022). The average production of SCFA in monogastric animals, particularly in humans, is 550 mmol per day (Bergman, 1990; Dalile et al., 2019) and their concentrations in the weaned pigs' colon are reported to range from a minimum of 58 to a maximum of 98 mmol per kg of dry matter, depending on dietary composition (Hedemann and Bach Knudsen, 2007; Rossi et al., 2010). Previous research observed increased SCFA levels in the colonic digesta of piglets fed a high-fiber diet supplemented with 4% wheat bran and 2% sugar beet pulp (Hermes et al., 2009). In the large intestine, particularly the colon, acetate, propionate, and butyrate are the predominant SCFA produced, although their presence has also been observed in the proximal and distal parts of the small intestine (Williams et al., 1997; Cong et al., 2022). The hindgut of weaned pigs can absorb SCFA, which provide a significant portion of the energy required by colonocytes, with the majority of the produced butyrate used for colonocyte metabolism (Jacobi and Odle, 2012; Liu et al., 2021). Butyric acid, one of the most studied among SCFA, has been reported to improve intestinal health by affecting the proliferation and apoptosis of enterocytes in both the large and small intestines (Sakata, 1987; Bartholome et al., 2004; Kien et al., 2007; Liu, 2015).

In addition to serving as an energy source, SCFA may also have beneficial effects on animal health by alleviating inflammation and enhancing intestinal integrity. SCFA have been shown to improve gut integrity, as indicated by improved intestinal barrier formation and protection. This has been demonstrated through analyses of intestinal histology and morphology, permeability (e.g., transepithelial electrical resistance, marker molecules, and fluorescein isothiocyanate-dextran), tight junction protein expression, reactive oxygen species, and immunofluorescence assays (Willemsen et al., 2003; Liu, 2015; Yan and Ajuwon, 2017; Bedford and Gong, 2018; Feng et al., 2018). These changes have been observed alongside antiinflammatory effects and improved immunity, as indicated by inflammatory and immune biomarkers (e.g., cytokines and immunoglobulins), which also contribute to improving intestinal integrity (Vinolo et al., 2011; Wen et al., 2012; Liu et al., 2021).

Improvements in the intestinal barrier and immune function contribute to enhanced intestinal integrity and are associated with the role of SCFA in regulating gene expression at the molecular level (Canani et al., 2011; Feng et al., 2018; Mann et al., 2024). For example, SCFA directly affect gene expression in epithelial or immune cells by inhibiting histone deacetylase or increasing histone acetylation (Figure 1.5) after entering the cells via passive diffusion and monocarboxylate transporters (Cuff et al., 2005; Xiong et al., 2019; Zhang et al., 2022). This causes changes in chromatin structure (i.e., relaxation), leading to alterations in transcription and variable responses depending on cell type, dosage, and exposure time (Yu et al., 2022). Moreover, it has been reported that SCFA affect cellular processes by acting as ligands for various receptors found in different cells, including G-protein-coupled receptors (GPCR), TLR, and peroxisome proliferator-activated receptors (PPAR) (Dalile et al., 2019; Nogal et al., 2021; Yu et al., 2022). Activation of these receptors triggers downstream signaling pathways, leading to cellular changes such as regulation of cytokine secretion, cell differentiation and recruitment, and alleviation of oxidative stress (Zhao et al., 2018; Siddiqui and Cresci, 2021; Strosznajder et al., 2021). GPR43, GPR41, and GPR109A are the most widely studied receptors activated by SCFA, also known as free fatty acid receptor (FFA/FFAR) 2, FFA/FFAR3, and hydroxycarboxylic acid receptor 2/nicotinic acid receptor 1, respectively (Tan et al., 2014; Siddiqui and Cresci, 2021). These receptors are found in diverse regions, including adipocytes, enterocytes, and immune cells, where GPR109A primarily binds to butyric acid, while both GPR43 and GPR41 are activated by various SCFA (Tan et al., 2014; Mann et al., 2024). The biological effects of organic acids discussed in the previous section, such as pH reduction and antimicrobial effects, were not covered here, but it has been reported that antibacterial ability is mainly exerted in the upper part of the gastrointestinal tract (Knarreborg et al., 2002).

1.2.2.2. Medium-chain fatty acids

Saturated fatty acids with medium-length carbon chains (C6-12) are classified as mediumchain fatty acids (MCFA) and are commonly found in dietary fat sources (e.g., coconut oil and milk) (Borrelli et al., 2021; Luo et al., 2022). MCFA have pKa values around 5 (i.e., they are weak acids), which means they dissociate at neutral pH (Bach and Babayan, 1982; Zentek et al., 2011). One study reported that a significant portion (around 80%) of MCFA in the upper part of the small intestine may have antibacterial activity (Dierick et al., 2002). However, the dissociation rate may vary depending on animal factors (e.g., age, health status, and feed intake) or external factors (e.g., buffering capacity) (Rossi et al., 2010; Zentek et al., 2011; Nhara et al., 2024). Previous research has observed that feeding MCFA increases nutrient (i.e., protein, fat, or fiber) digestibility, leading to improved growth performance (Hanczakowska et al., 2011; Hanczakowska et al., 2013). This section does not describe the details of biological activities, following the decrease in pH and antimicrobial activity mentioned in the previous section.

Natural MCFA include C6 (caproic/hexanoic acid), C8 (caprylic/octanoic acid), C10 (capric/decanoic acid), and C12 (lauric/dodecanoic acid), as fatty acids found in nature are made up of C2 units (acetyl-CoA) (Zentek et al., 2011; Hanczakowska, 2017). The common type of fat, triglyceride form, has also been investigated to verify the effects of MCFA as MCFA have unpleasant odor and are released from triglycerides in the digestive tract during digestion by lipase (Dierick et al., 2002; Decuypere and Dierick, 2003). MCFA are primarily absorbed by enterocytes, transported via the portal vein to the liver, and metabolized through processes such as beta-oxidation, lipogenesis, and ketogenesis. This transport process is more similar to that of SCFA
than to long-chain fatty acids, which are incorporated into chylomicrons (water-soluble lipoproteins) (Papamandjaris et al., 1998; Schönfeld and Wojtczak, 2016; Huang et al., 2021). This rapid absorption in the upper part of the intestine makes it difficult to expect the effects of MCFA in the lower part of the intestine (Zentek et al., 2011; Yang et al., 2024).

MCFA have been reported to have favorable effects on gut health, including serving as an energy source (Guillot et al., 1993; Liu, 2015), improving intestinal structure and barrier function, and enhancing immune response (Hanczakowska et al., 2011; Mart ínez-Vallesp ín et al., 2016; Lee and Kang, 2017), as well as reducing pathogen growth rate and diarrhea (Boyen et al., 2008; Lei et al., 2017). Positive changes in these health parameters may lead to improved performance in weaned pigs (Marounek et al., 2004; Hanczakowska et al., 2016; Zhang et al., 2019). The improved gut integrity induced by MCFA may result from modulation of transcription factors and metabolic pathways similar to SCFA, although this has not been studied in pigs as extensively as SCFA (Zentek et al., 2011). GPR84, expressed on the surface of various cells and primarily studied in immune cells, has been reported to be activated by MCFA, with C10-12 being the most effective ligands (Wang et al., 2006). Activation of GPR84 under inflammatory conditions induces an inflammatory response in macrophages, including increased phagocytosis and secretion of inflammatory mediators (Suzuki et al., 2013; Recio et al., 2018). GPR84 is associated with the M1 polarization of macrophages, implying that its activation by MCFA may promote cell-mediated immunity rather than anti-inflammatory effects by influencing the T helper 1 and T helper 2 balance (Wang et al., 2006; Wynn and Barron, 2010; Zhang et al., 2022). The expression of GPR84 can be increased by LPS (e.g., endotoxemia) and pro-inflammatory molecules (Bouchard et al., 2007; Nagasaki et al., 2012; Recio et al., 2018). However, contradictory reports suggest that C10 may have anti-inflammatory effects (Park et al., 2011; Huang et al., 2014), indicating that further

research is needed to clarify tissue-specific effects and the underlying mechanisms. Another receptor activated by MCFA is GPR40 (FFAR1), which is predominantly expressed in the brain and pancreatic β -cells. Activation of GPR40 leads to an increase in the secretion of pancreatic-derived hormones (i.e., insulin) (Briscoe et al., 2003; Itoh et al., 2003). Moreover, intracellular MCFA may modulate nutrient metabolism (e.g., glucose and lipid) by enhancing mitochondrial oxidative capacity and activating PPAR- γ (Ahmadian et al., 2013; Montgomery et al., 2019; Huang et al., 2021).

1.2.3. Application of organic fatty acid derivatives-monoglycerides

Despite the versatile biological activities of organic fatty acids, which affect gut health through intestinal structure/barrier, immunity, and metabolism, these compounds and their related products have limitations such as instability, unpleasant flavor, and corrosiveness (Lauridsen, 2020; Tugnoli et al., 2020; Yang et al., 2024). These issues lead to inconsistent results when those products are supplemented in animal feed (Walsh et al., 2007; Kil et al., 2011). In this context, monoglycerides have emerged as a promising and practical alternative for improving the health of weaned pigs. Monoglycerides offer several advantages, including enhanced stability and palatability compared to organic fatty acids, as well as antibacterial and antiviral effects (Thormar and Hilmarsson, 2007; Jackman et al., 2020).

Monoglycerides (MG; i.e., monoacylglycerols) are ester forms of organic fatty acids, consisting of one molecule of glycerol and one fatty acid, and their strong covalent bond contributes to their stability (Jackman et al., 2022). Considering production efficiency and sustainability, MG are typically synthesized rather than extracted from natural sources (Luo et al., 2022; Yang et al., 2024). The properties and names of MG are determined by the attached fatty acids (Damstrup et al., 2006; Rarokar et al., 2017). For example, different MG have different

melting points, which affect their primary form (e.g., monocaprin is a liquid, while monolaurin is powder) and their application (e.g., a mixture may be a liquid) (Jackman et al., 2020; Jackman et al., 2022). In addition to addressing the limitations of organic acids, such as unpleasant flavor and oxidation, a significant benefit of MG is that they protect the active substances (i.e., organic fatty acids) from early losses in the upper part of the gastrointestinal tract. These substances are then slowly released throughout the intestine by lipolytic enzymes (Sampugna et al., 1967; Namkung et al., 2011).

The beneficial effects of organic fatty acids on the immune system and gut health have already been discussed earlier (Hamer et al., 2008; Rossi et al., 2010; Liu, 2015; Lauridsen, 2020). In poultry, various biological activities of MG on gut health and productivity have been studied, including antimicrobial activities, intestinal integrity, and performance (Appleton et al., 2024). However, limited research has been conducted in pigs, especially weanling pigs, which are vulnerable to pathogen exposure. Interestingly, in some regions, MG may not require registration for inclusion in animal feed if they are categorized as feed materials (Jackman et al., 2020). In the U.S. food industry, MG are widely used in food processing and production and are classified as GRAS (Generally Recognized as Safe) due to their recognized safety (Zhao et al., 2020; Kong et al., 2021).

MG are amphipathic molecules with both hydrophilic (carboxyl group) and hydrophobic (carbon chain) regions. Their amphiphilic nature allows MG to form micelles that disrupt bacterial cell membranes, leading to increased permeability (Hyldgaard et al., 2012; Churchward et al., 2018). Moreover, MG have a higher pKa (around 14) compared to organic acids. The pKa value above the normal physiological pH range indicates that MG can act pH-independently (Churchward et al., 2018; Appleton et al., 2024; Yang et al., 2024). Effective antibacterial activity

is observed at concentrations above the critical micelle concentration (CMC). MG require lower concentrations to form micelles compared with MCFA, and the molecular length may also affect their activity (Yoon et al., 2015; Yoon et al., 2017; Jackman et al., 2020). Numerous *in vitro* studies have demonstrated antimicrobial activity against a wide range of bacteria (Hyldgaard et al., 2012; Churchward et al., 2018; Kovanda et al., 2019), and developing resistance to MG has been reported as difficult (Schlievert and Peterson, 2012; Borrelli et al., 2021). Generally, MG are more effective against Gram-positive bacteria than Gram-negative bacteria due to differences in cell membrane structure (Churchward et al., 2018). However, external factors, such as acidic pH and temperature, can increase the susceptibility of Gram-negative bacteria (e.g., *E. coli*) to MG (Bergsson et al., 2002; Thormar et al., 2006; Thormar and Hilmarsson, 2007). This is likely because these external factors attenuate the interference of LPS, allowing MG to induce membrane instability more efficiently (Bergsson et al., 2002; Thormar and Hilmarsson, 2007). In this context, combining MG with OA may have synergistic effects due to their distinct properties and modes of action.

SUMMARY

During the weaning period, piglets face significant challenges in maintaining intestinal health and homeostasis due to multiple stressors, making them particularly vulnerable to external factors. Effective management of pathogenic infections and overall health in weanling pigs is crucial not only for short-term and long-term productivity but also for animal welfare. Diarrhea caused by ETEC in post-weaning piglets is a common gastrointestinal disease that results in considerable economic losses in swine production. Antibiotics and high-dose zinc oxide have traditionally been used in swine feed to control diseases and enhance productivity. They have proven effective in promoting growth and mitigating economic losses from ETEC-induced diarrhea during the critical weaning period. However, public concerns regarding potential risks to

human health, antibiotic resistance, and environmental impact have led to restrictions on antimicrobial growth promoters and a reduction in the use of high-dose zinc oxide in feed. These concerns align with the One Health approach and may lead to further restrictions or bans on these conventional practices. The ongoing challenge has highlighted the need for innovative alternatives to support and sustain pig production. In this regard, MG have emerged as one of the promising options due to their various biological activities, including broad-spectrum antimicrobial effects. MG are relatively easy to use as feed additives since they allow active substances to be gradually released throughout the intestine compared with their acid form and salt form. However, there is limited research on the effects of MG on the growth and health of pigs, particularly in disease models such as ETEC F18 infection. Therefore, comprehensive investigations were conducted to explore the impact of MG supplementation as a promising dietary intervention on disease resistance and the overall health of weaned piglets using both *in vitro* cell culture models and *in vivo* ETEC challenge models.

LITERATURE CITED

- Adil, S., T. Banday, G. A. Bhat, M. S. Mir, and M. Rehman. 2010. Effect of dietary supplementation of organic acids on performance, intestinal histomorphology, and serum biochemistry of broiler chicken. Vet. Med. Int. 2010. doi:10.4061/2010/479485.
- Ahmadian, M., J. M. Suh, N. Hah, C. Liddle, A. R. Atkins, M. Downes, and R. M. Evans. 2013.
 Pparγ signaling and metabolism: The good, the bad and the future. Nat. Med. 19:557– 566. doi:10.1038/nm.3159. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/nm.3159
- Akira, S., and K. Takeda. 2004. Toll-like receptor signalling. Nat. Rev. Immunol. 4:499–511. doi:10.1038/nri1391.
- Akira, S., S. Uematsu, and O. Takeuchi. 2006. Pathogen recognition and innate immunity. Cell. 124:783–801. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2006.02.015.
- Alexander, C., and E. T. Rietschel. 2001. Bacterial lipopolysaccharides and innate immunity. J. Endotoxin Res. 7:167–202. doi:10.1179/096805101101532675.
- Almeida, M., G. Li, N. Macedo, and P. Pineyro. 2022. F18 Escherichia coli update. In: ISU James D. McKean Swine Disease Conference. p. 33–35.
- Amor, K., D. E. Heinrichs, E. Frirdich, K. Ziebell, R. P. Johnson, and C. Whitfield. 2000.
 Distribution of core oligosaccharide types in lipopolysaccharides from Escherichia coli.
 Infect. Immun. 68:1116–1124. doi:10.1128/IAI.68.3.1116-1124.2000.
- Andersen, A. D., M. S. Cilieborg, C. Lauridsen, and A. L. Mørkbak. 2017. Supplementation with Lactobacillus paracasei or Pediococcus pentosaceus does not prevent diarrhoea in neonatal pigs infected with Escherichia coli F18. Br. J. Nutr. 118:109–120. doi:10.1017/S000711451700160X.

- Appleton, S. R., A. Ballou, and K. L. Watkins. 2024. Use of Monoglycerides and Diglycerides to Mitigate Poultry Production Losses: A Review. Vet. Sci. 11. doi:10.3390/vetsci11030101.
- Aslam, B., M. Khurshid, M. I. Arshad, S. Muzammil, M. Rasool, N. Yasmeen, T. Shah, T. H. Chaudhry, M. H. Rasool, A. Shahid, X. Xueshan, and Z. Baloch. 2021. Antibiotic resistance: one health one world outlook. Front. Cell. Infect. Microbiol. 11:771510. doi:10.3389/fcimb.2021.771510.
- Avila-Calderón, E. D., M. del S. Ruiz-Palma, M. G. Aguilera-Arreola, N. Velázquez-Guadarrama, E. A. Ruiz, Z. Gomez-Lunar, S. Witonsky, and A. Contreras-Rodríguez.
 2021. Outer Membrane Vesicles of Gram-Negative Bacteria: An Outlook on Biogenesis. Front. Microbiol. 12. doi:10.3389/fmicb.2021.557902.
- Bach, A. C., and V. K. Babayan. 1982. Medium-chain triglycerides: An update. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 36:950–962. doi:10.1093/ajcn/36.5.950. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1093/ajcn/36.5.950
- Bartholome, A. L., D. M. Albin, D. H. Baker, J. J. Holst, K. A. Tappenden, and T. Jaksic. 2004.
 Supplementation of total parenteral nutrition with butyrate acutely increases structural aspects of intestinal adaptation after an 80% jejunoileal resection in neonatal piglets. J. Parenter. Enter. Nutr. 28:210–223. doi:10.1177/0148607104028004210.
- Becker, S. L., Q. Li, E. R. Burrough, D. Kenne, O. Sahin, S. A. Gould, and J. F. Patience. 2020.
 Effects of an F18 enterotoxigenic Escherichia coli challenge on growth performance, immunological status, and gastrointestinal structure of weaned pigs and the potential protective effect of direct-fed microbial blends. J. Anim. Sci. 98:1–10. doi:10.1093/jas/skaa113.

- Bedford, A., and J. Gong. 2018. Implications of butyrate and its derivatives for gut health and animal production. Anim. Nutr. 4:151–159. doi:10.1016/j.aninu.2017.08.010.
- Berberov, E. M., Y. Zhou, D. H. Francis, M. A. Scott, S. D. Kachman, and R. A. Moxley. 2004.
 Relative importance of heat-labile enterotoxin in the causation of severe diarrheal disease in the Gnotobiotic piglet model by a strain of enterotoxigenic Escherichia coli that produces multiple enterotoxins. Infect. Immun. 72:3914–3924.
 doi:10.1128/IAI.72.7.3914-3924.2004.
- Bergman, E. N. 1990. Energy contributions of volatile fatty acids from the gastrointestinal tract in various species. Physiol. Rev. 70:567–590.
- Bergsson, G., Ó. Steingrímsson, and H. Thormar. 2002. Bactericidal effects of fatty acids and monoglycerides on Helicobacter pylori. Int. J. Antimicrob. Agents. 20:258–262. doi:10.1016/S0924-8579(02)00205-4.
- Blank, R., R. Mosenthin, W. C. Sauer, and S. Huang. 1999. Effect of fumaric acid and dietary buffering capacity on ileal and fecal amino acid digestibilities in early-weaned pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 77:2974–2984.
- Blikslager, A. T., A. J. Moeser, J. L. Gookin, S. L. Jones, and J. Odle. 2007. Restoration of Barrier Function in Injured Intestinal Mucosa. Physiol. Rev. 87:545–564. doi:10.1152/physrev.00012.2006.
- Boeckman, J. X., S. Sprayberry, A. M. Korn, J. S. Suchodolski, C. Paulk, K. Genovese, R. R.
 Rech, P. R. Giaretta, A. K. Blick, T. Callaway, and J. J. Gill. 2022. Effect of chronic and acute enterotoxigenic E. coli challenge on growth performance, intestinal inflammation, microbiome, and metabolome of weaned piglets. Sci. Rep. 12:1–14. doi:10.1038/s41598-022-08446-z. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-022-08446-z

- Bonetti, A., B. Tugnoli, A. Piva, and E. Grilli. 2021. Towards zero zinc oxide: feeding strategies to manage post-weaning diarrhea in piglets. Animals. 11:642. doi:10.3390/ani11030642.
- Borrelli, L., L. Varriale, L. Dipineto, A. Pace, L. F. Menna, and A. Fioretti. 2021. Insect Derived Lauric Acid as Promising Alternative Strategy to Antibiotics in the Antimicrobial Resistance Scenario. Front. Microbiol. 12:1–7. doi:10.3389/fmicb.2021.620798.
- Bouchard, C., J. Pagé, A. Bédard, P. Tremblay, and L. Vallières. 2007. G protein-coupled receptor 84, a microglia-associated protein expressed in neuroinflammatory conditions.
 Glia. 55:790–800. doi:10.1002/glia.20506.
- Boyen, F., F. Haesebrouck, A. Vanparys, J. Volf, M. Mahu, F. Van Immerseel, I. Rychlik, J. Dewulf, R. Ducatelle, and F. Pasmans. 2008. Coated fatty acids alter virulence properties of Salmonella Typhimurium and decrease intestinal colonization of pigs. Vet. Microbiol. 132:319–327. doi:10.1016/j.vetmic.2008.05.008.
- Briscoe, C. P., M. Tadayyon, J. L. Andrews, W. G. Benson, J. K. Chambers, M. M. Eilert, C. Ellis, N. A. Elshourbagy, A. S. Goetz, D. T. Minnick, P. R. Murdock, H. R. Sauls, U. Shabon, L. D. Spinage, J. C. Strum, P. G. Szekeres, K. B. Tan, J. M. Way, D. M. Ignar, S. Wilson, and A. I. Muir. 2003. The orphan G protein-coupled receptor GPR40 is activated by medium and long chain fatty acids. J. Biol. Chem. 278:11303–11311. doi:10.1074/jbc.M211495200. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M211495200
- Butt, S., M. Saleh, and J. Gagnon. 2020. Impact of the Escherichia coli Heat-Stable Enterotoxin
 b (STb) on Gut Health and Function. Toxins (Basel). 12:1–12.
 doi:10.3390/toxins12120760.

- Campbell, J. M., J. D. Crenshaw, and J. Polo. 2013. The biological stress of early weaned piglets. J. Anim. Sci. Biotechnol. 4:19. doi:10.1186/2049-1891-4-19.
- Canani, R. B., M. Di Costanzo, L. Leone, G. Bedogni, P. Brambilla, S. Cianfarani, V. Nobili, A. Pietrobelli, and C. Agostoni. 2011. Epigenetic mechanisms elicited by nutrition in early life. Nutr. Res. Rev. 24:198–205. doi:10.1017/S0954422411000102.
- Canibe, N., O. Højberg, H. Kongsted, D. Vodolazska, C. Lauridsen, T. S. Nielsen, and A. A. Schönherz. 2022. Review on Preventive Measures to Reduce Post-Weaning Diarrhoea in Piglets. Animals. 12. doi:10.3390/ani12192585.
- Canibe, N., S. H. Steien, M. Ø verland, and B. B. Jensen. 2001. Effect of K-diformate in starter diets on acidity, microbiota, and the amount of organic acids in the digestive tract of piglets, and on gastric alterations. J. Anim. Sci. 79:2123–2133. doi:10.2527/2001.7982123x.
- Caprarulo, V., L. Turin, M. Hejna, S. Reggi, M. Dell'Anno, P. Riccaboni, P. Trevisi, D. Luise,
 A. Baldi, and L. Rossi. 2023. Protective effect of phytogenic plus short and mediumchain fatty acids-based additives in enterotoxigenic Escherichia coli challenged piglets.
 Vet. Res. Commun. 47:217–231. doi:10.1007/s11259-022-09945-0. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1007/s11259-022-09945-0
- Caroff, M., and A. Novikov. 2020. Lipopolysaccharides: structure, function and bacterial identifications. Oilseeds fats, Crop. Lipids. 27:31.
- Chang, S. Y., J. H. Lee, H. J. Oh, J. W. An, D. C. Song, H. A. Cho, S. H. Park, K. H. Jeon, S. Y. Cho, D. J. Kim, M. S. Kim, and J. H. Cho. 2023. Effect of different ratios of phytogenic feed additives on growth performance, nutrient digestibility, intestinal barrier integrity,

and immune response in weaned pigs challenged with a pathogenic Escherichia coli. J. Anim. Sci. 101:1–11. doi:10.1093/jas/skad148.

- Che, T. M., O. Adeola, M. J. Azain, S. D. Carter, G. L. Cromwell, G. M. Hill, D. C. Mahan, P. S. Miller, and J. E. Pettigrew. 2012. Effect of dietary acids on growth performance of nursery pigs: A cooperative study. J. Anim. Sci. 90:4408–4413. doi:10.2527/jas.2012-5110.
- Cheng, G., H. Hao, S. Xie, X. Wang, M. Dai, L. Huang, and Z. Yuan. 2014. Antibiotic alternatives: The substitution of antibiotics in animal husbandry? Front. Microbiol. 5:1– 15. doi:10.3389/fmicb.2014.00217.
- Cherrington, C. A., M. Hinton, G. C. Mead, and I. Chopra. 1991. Organic acids: Chemistry, antibacterial activity and practical applications. Adv. Microb. Physiol. 32:87–108. doi:10.1016/s0065-2911(08)60006-5.
- Churchward, C. P., R. G. Alany, and L. A. S. Snyder. 2018. Alternative antimicrobials: the properties of fatty acids and monoglycerides. Crit. Rev. Microbiol. 44:561–570. doi:10.1080/1040841X.2018.1467875. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1080/1040841X.2018.1467875
- Cong, J., P. Zhou, and R. Zhang. 2022. Intestinal Microbiota-Derived Short Chain Fatty Acids in Host Health and Disease. Nutrients. 14:1–15. doi:10.3390/nu14091977.
- Cox, E., M. Loos, A. Coddens, B. Devriendt, V. Melkebeek, D. Vanrompay, and B. M.Goddeeris. 2012. Post-weaning E. coli infections in pigs and importance of the immune system. In: Association Française de Médecine Vétérinaire Porcine.
- Cremonesi, P., F. Biscarini, B. Castiglioni, C. A. Sgoifo, R. Compiani, and P. Moroni. 2022. Gut microbiome modifications over time when removing in-feed antibiotics from the

prophylaxis of post-weaning diarrhea in piglets. PLoS One. 17:e0262199. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0262199.

- Cuff, M., J. Dyer, M. Jones, and S. Shirazi-Beechey. 2005. The human colonic monocarboxylate transporter isoform 1: Its potential importance to colonic tissue homeostasis. Gastroenterology. 128:676–686. doi:10.1053/j.gastro.2004.12.003.
- Dalile, B., L. Van Oudenhove, B. Vervliet, and K. Verbeke. 2019. The role of short-chain fatty acids in microbiota–gut–brain communication. Nat. Rev. Gastroenterol. Hepatol. 16:461–478.
- Damstrup, M. L., T. Jensen, F. V. Sparsø, S. Z. Kiil, A. D. Jensen, and X. Xu. 2006. Production of heat-sensitive monoacylglycerols by enzymatic glycerolysis in tert-pentanol: Process optimization by response surface methodology. JAOCS, J. Am. Oil Chem. Soc. 83:27– 33. doi:10.1007/s11746-006-1171-5.
- Debroy, C., P. M. Fratamico, and E. Roberts. 2018. Molecular serogrouping of Escherichia coli. Anim. Heal. Res. Rev. 19:1–16. doi:10.1017/S1466252317000093.
- DebRoy, C., E. Roberts, and P. M. Fratamico. 2011. Detection of O antigens in Escherichia coli. Anim. Health Res. Rev. 12:169–185. doi:10.1017/s1466252311000193.
- Decuypere, J. A., and N. A. Dierick. 2003. The combined use of triacylglycerols containing medium-chain fatty acids and exogenous lipolytic enzymes as an alternative to in-feed antibiotics in piglets: concept, possibilities and limitations. An overview. Nutr. Res. Rev. 16:193–210. doi:10.1079/nrr200369.
- Delcour, A. H. 2009. Outer membrane permeability and antibiotic resistance. Biochim. Biophys. Acta - Proteins Proteomics. 1794:808–816. doi:10.1016/j.bbapap.2008.11.005. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.bbapap.2008.11.005

- Dibner, J. J., and P. Buttin. 2002. Use of organic acids as a model to study the impact of gut microflora on nutrition and metabolism. J. Appl. Poult. Res. 11:453–463.
 doi:10.1093/japr/11.4.453. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/japr/11.4.453
- Dierick, N. ., J. . Decuypere, K. Molly, E. Van Beek, and E. Vanderbeke. 2002. The combined use of triacylglycerols (TAGs) containing medium chain fatty acids (MCFAs) and exogenous lipolytic enzymes as an alternative to nutritional antibiotics in piglet nutrition. Livest. Prod. Sci. 76:1–16. doi:10.1016/s0301-6226(01)00331-1.
- Duarte, M. E., Y. Garavito-Duarte, and S. W. Kim. 2023a. Impacts of F18+ Escherichia coli on Intestinal Health of Nursery Pigs and Dietary Interventions. Animals. 13:2791. doi:10.3390/ani13172791.
- Duarte, M. E., and S. W. Kim. 2022. Significance of Mucosa-Associated Microbiota and Its Impacts on Intestinal Health of Pigs Challenged with F18+ E. coli. Pathogens. 11. doi:10.3390/pathogens11050589.
- Duarte, M. E., C. H. Stahl, and S. W. Kim. 2023b. Intestinal Damages by F18+ Escherichia coli and Its Amelioration with an Antibacterial Bacitracin Fed to Nursery Pigs. Antioxidants. 12. doi:10.3390/antiox12051040.
- Duarte, M. E., J. Tyus, and S. W. Kim. 2020. Synbiotic Effects of Enzyme and Probiotics on Intestinal Health and Growth of Newly Weaned Pigs Challenged With Enterotoxigenic F18+ Escherichia coli. Front. Vet. Sci. 7:1–13. doi:10.3389/fvets.2020.00573.
- Dubreuil, J. . 1997. Escherichia coli STb enterotoxin. Microbiology. 143:1783–1795. doi:10.1080/0309877780020109.
- Dubreuil, J. D. 2017. Enterotoxigenic Escherichia coli targeting intestinal epithelial tight junctions: An effective way to alter the barrier integrity. Microb. Pathog. 113:129–134.

doi:10.1016/j.micpath.2017.10.037. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.micpath.2017.10.037

- Dubreuil, J. D. 2021. Pig vaccination strategies based on enterotoxigenic Escherichia coli toxins. Brazilian J. Microbiol. 52:2499–2509. doi:10.1007/s42770-021-00567-3. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1007/s42770-021-00567-3
- Fairbrother, J. M., É. Nadeau, and C. L. Gyles. 2005. Escherichia coli in postweaning diarrhea in pigs: an update on bacterial types, pathogenesis, and prevention strategies. Anim. Heal.
 Res. Rev. 6:17–39. doi:10.1079/ahr2005105. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16164007
- Farhana, A., and Y. S. Khan. 2023. Biochemistry, Lipopolysaccharide. In: StatPearls [Internet]. StatPearls Publishing. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK554414/
- Feng, Y., Y. Wang, P. Wang, Y. Huang, and F. Wang. 2018. Short-Chain Fatty Acids Manifest Stimulative and Protective Effects on Intestinal Barrier Function Through the Inhibition of NLRP3 Inflammasome and Autophagy. Cell. Physiol. Biochem. 49:190–205. doi:10.1159/000492853.
- Fleckenstein, J. M., P. R. Hardwidge, G. P. Munson, D. A. Rasko, H. Sommerfelt, and H.
 Steinsland. 2010. Molecular mechanisms of enterotoxigenic Escherichia coli infection.
 Microbes Infect. 12:89–98. doi:10.1016/j.micinf.2009.10.002. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.micinf.2009.10.002
- Fratamico, P. M., C. DebRoy, Y. Liu, D. S. Needleman, G. M. Baranzoni, and P. Feng. 2016. Advances in molecular serotyping and subtyping of Escherichia coli. Front. Microbiol. 7:1–8. doi:10.3389/fmicb.2016.00644.

- Frydendahl, K. 2002. Prevalence of serogroups and virulence genes in Escherichia coli associated with postweaning diarrhoea and edema disease in pigs and a comparison of diagnostic approaches. Vet. Microbiol. 85:169–182. doi:10.1016/S0378-1135(01)00504-1.
- Frydendahl, K., T. K. Jensen, J. S. Andersen, M. Fredholm, and G. Evans. 2003. Association between the porcine Escherichia coli F18 receptor genotype and phenotype and susceptibility to colonisation and postweaning diarrhoea caused by E. coli O138:F18. Vet. Microbiol. 93:39–51. doi:10.1016/S0378-1135(02)00348-6.
- Gauthier, R. 2002. Intestinal health, the key to productivity: The case of organic acids. IASA XXVII Conv. ANECA-WPDC. Puerto Vallarta, Mex. 1–14.
- Gebhardt, J. T., K. A. Thomson, J. C. Woodworth, S. S. Dritz, M. D. Tokach, J. M. Derouchey,
 R. D. Goodband, C. K. Jones, R. A. Cochrane, M. C. Niederwerder, S. Fernando, W.
 Abbas, and T. E. Burkey. 2020. Effect of dietary medium-chain fatty acids on nursery pig growth performance, fecal microbial composition, and mitigation properties against porcine epidemic diarrhea virus following storage. J. Anim. Sci. 98:1–11. doi:10.1093/jas/skz358.
- Gonzales, L., Z. B. Ali, E. Nygren, Z. Wang, S. Karlsson, B. Zhu, M. Quiding-Järbrink, and Å. Sjöling. 2013. Alkaline pH Is a Signal for Optimal Production and Secretion of the Heat Labile Toxin, LT in Enterotoxigenic Escherichia Coli (ETEC). PLoS One. 8:1–12. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0074069.
- Gottlob, R. O., J. M. Benz, C. N. Groesbeck, R. C. Sulabo, M. D. Tokach, J. L. Nelssen, R. D. Goodband, J. M. DeRouchey, and S. S. Dritz. 2006. Effects of dietary calcium formate

and malic acid on nursery pig growth performance. Kansas Agric. Exp. Stn. Res. Reports. 67–71.

- Guillot, E., P. Vaugelade, P. Lemarchali, and A. Re Rat. 1993. Intestinal absorption and liver uptake of medium-chain fatty acids in non-anaesthetized pigs. Br. J. Nutr. 69:431–442. doi:10.1079/bjn19930045.
- Hamer, H. M., D. Jonkers, K. Venema, S. Vanhoutvin, F. J. Troost, and R. J. Brummer. 2008.
 Review article: The role of butyrate on colonic function. Aliment. Pharmacol. Ther.
 27:104–119. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2036.2007.03562.x.
- Hanczakowska, E. 2017. The Use of Medium-Chain Fatty Acids in Piglet Feeding-A Review. Ann. Anim. Sci. 17:967–977. doi:10.1515/aoas-2016-0099.
- Hanczakowska, E., M. Świątkiewicz, M. Natonek-Wiśniewska, and K. Okoń. 2016. Medium chain fatty acids (MCFA) and/or probiotic Enterococcus faecium as a feed supplement for piglets. Livest. Sci. 192:1–7. doi:10.1016/j.livsci.2016.08.002.
- Hanczakowska, E., A. Szewczyk, and K. Okoñ. 2011. Effects of dietary caprylic and capric acids on piglet performance and mucosal epithelium structure of the ileum. J. Anim. Feed Sci. 20:556–565. doi:10.22358/jafs/66213/2011.
- Hanczakowska, E., A. Szewczyk, M. Świątkiewicz, and K. Okon. 2013. Short-and mediumchain fatty acids as a feed supplement for weaning and nursery pigs. Pol. J. Vet. Sci. 16:647–654. doi:10.2478/pjvs-2013-0092.
- Hartadi, E. B., M. H. Effendi, H. Plumeriastuti, E. D. Sofiana, F. M. Wibisono, and A. R.
 Hidayatullah. 2020. A review of enterotoxigenic Escherichia coli infection in piglets:
 Public health importance. Syst. Rev. Pharm. 11:687–698. doi:10.31838/srp.2020.9.100.

- Hayden, M. S., A. P. West, and S. Ghosh. 2006. NF-κB and the immune response. Oncogene. 25:6758–6780. doi:10.1038/sj.onc.1209943.
- He, Y., C. Jinno, K. Kim, Z. Wu, B. Tan, X. Li, R. Whelan, and Y. Liu. 2020a. Dietary Bacillus spp. enhanced growth and disease resistance of weaned pigs by modulating intestinal microbiota and systemic immunity. J. Anim. Sci. Biotechnol. 11:101. doi:10.1186/s40104-020-00498-3.
- He, Y., K. Kim, L. Kovanda, C. Jinno, M. Song, J. Chase, X. Li, B. Tan, and Y. Liu. 2020b.
 Bacillus subtilis: a potential growth promoter in weaned pigs in comparison to carbadox.
 J. Anim. Sci. 98:skaa290. doi:10.1093/jas/skaa290.
- Hedemann, M. S., and K. E. Bach Knudsen. 2007. Resistant starch for weaning pigs Effect on concentration of short chain fatty acids in digesta and intestinal morphology. Livest. Sci. 108:175–177. doi:10.1016/j.livsci.2007.01.045.
- Heo, J. M., J. C. Kim, J. Yoo, and J. R. Pluske. 2015. A between-experiment analysis of relationships linking dietary protein intake and post-weaning diarrhea in weanling pigs under conditions of experimental infection with an enterotoxigenic strain of Escherichia coli. Anim. Sci. J. 86:286–293. doi:10.1111/asj.12275.
- Heo, J. M., F. O. Opapeju, J. R. Pluske, J. C. Kim, D. J. Hampson, and C. M. Nyachoti. 2013.
 Gastrointestinal health and function in weaned pigs: a review of feeding strategies to control post-weaning diarrhoea without using in-feed antimicrobial compounds. J. Anim. Physiol. Anim. Nutr. (Berl). 97:207–237. doi:10.1111/j.1439-0396.2012.01284.x.
- Hermes, R. G., F. Molist, M. Ywazaki, M. Nofrarías, A. Gomez de Segura, J. Gasa, and J. F.
 Pérez. 2009. Effect of dietary level of protein and fiber on the productive performance and health status of piglets. J. Anim. Sci. 87:3569–3577. doi:10.2527/jas.2008-1241.

- Holyoak, C. D., M. Stratford, Z. Mcmullin, M. B. Cole, K. Crimmins, A. J. P. Brown, and P. J. Coote. 1996. Activity of the plasma membrane H+-ATPase and optimal glycolytic flux are required for rapid adaptation and growth of Saccharomyces cerevisiae in the presence of the weak-acid preservative sorbic acid. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 62:3158–3164. doi:10.1128/aem.62.9.3158-3164.1996.
- Hornbuckle, W. E., K. W. Simpson, and B. C. Tennant. 2008. Gastrointestinal function. In: Clinical Biochemistry of Domestic Animals. Academic Press. p. 413–457.
- Horstman, A. L., S. J. Bauman, and M. J. Kuehn. 2004. Lipopolysaccharide 3-Deoxy-D-mannooctulosonic Acid (Kdo) Core Determines Bacterial Association of Secreted Toxins. J. Biol. Chem. 279:8070–8075. doi:10.1074/jbc.M308633200. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M308633200
- Huang, L., L. Gao, and C. Chen. 2021. Role of Medium-Chain Fatty Acids in Healthy Metabolism: A Clinical Perspective. Trends Endocrinol. Metab. 32:351–366. doi:10.1016/j.tem.2021.03.002. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tem.2021.03.002
- Huang, W. C., T. H. Tsai, L. Te Chuang, Y. Y. Li, C. C. Zouboulis, and P. J. Tsai. 2014. Anti-bacterial and anti-inflammatory properties of capric acid against Propionibacterium acnes: A comparative study with lauric acid. J. Dermatol. Sci. 73:232–240. doi:10.1016/j.jdermsci.2013.10.010. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jdermsci.2013.10.010
- Hung, Y. T., Q. Hu, R. J. Faris, J. Guo, P. E. Urriola, G. C. Shurson, C. Chen, and M. Saquisalces. 2020. Analysis of gastrointestinal responses revealed both shared and specific

targets of zinc oxide and carbadox in weaned pigs. Antibiotics. 9:463. doi:10.3390/antibiotics9080463.

- Hyldgaard, M., D. S. Sutherland, M. Sundh, T. Mygind, and R. L. Meyer. 2012. Antimicrobial mechanism of monocaprylate. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 78:2957–2965. doi:10.1128/AEM.07224-11.
- Itoh, Y., Y. Kawamata, M. Harada, M. Kobayashi, R. Fujii, S. Fukusumi, K. Ogi, M. Hosoya, Y. Tanaka, H. Uejima, H. Tanaka, M. Maruyama, R. Satoh, S. Okubo, H. Kizawa, H. Komatsu, F. Matsumura, Y. Noguchi, T. Shinohara, S. Hinuma, Y. Fujisawa, and M. Fujino. 2003. Free fatty acids regulate insulin secretion from pancreatic β cells through GPR40. Nature. 422:173–176. doi:10.1038/nature01478.
- Jackman, J. A., R. D. Boyd, and C. C. Elrod. 2020. Medium-chain fatty acids and monoglycerides as feed additives for pig production: towards gut health improvement and feed pathogen mitigation. J. Anim. Sci. Biotechnol. 11:44. doi:10.1186/s40104-020-00446-1.
- Jackman, J. A., T. A. Lavergne, and C. C. Elrod. 2022. Antimicrobial monoglycerides for swine and poultry applications. Front. Anim. Sci. 3:1–9. doi:10.3389/fanim.2022.1019320.
- Jacobi, S. K., and J. Odle. 2012. Nutritional factors influencing intestinal health of the neonate. Adv. Nutr. 3:687–696. doi:10.3945/an.112.002683.
- Jang, K. B., V. H. C. Moita, N. Martinez, A. Sokale, and S. W. Kim. 2023. Efficacy of zinc glycinate reducing zinc oxide on intestinal health and growth of nursery pigs challenged with F18+Escherichia coli. J. Anim. Sci. 101:1–17. doi:10.1093/jas/skad035.
- Javed, A., M. D. Balhuizen, A. Pannekoek, F. J. Bikker, D. A. C. Heesterbeek, H. P. Haagsman,F. Broere, M. Weingarth, and E. J. A. Veldhuizen. 2023. Effects of Escherichia coli LPS

Structure on Antibacterial and Anti-Endotoxin Activities of Host Defense Peptides. Pharmaceuticals. 16:1–16. doi:10.3390/ph16101485.

- Jayaraman, B., and C. M. Nyachoti. 2017. Husbandry practices and gut health outcomes in weaned piglets: A review. Anim. Nutr. 3:205–211. doi:10.1016/j.aninu.2017.06.002. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.aninu.2017.06.002
- Jerez-Bogota, K., M. Jensen, O. Højberg, P. Cormican, P. G. Lawlor, G. E. Gardiner, and N. Canibe. 2023. Antibacterial plant combinations prevent postweaning diarrhea in organically raised piglets challenged with enterotoxigenic Escherichia coli F18. Front. Vet. Sci. 10. doi:10.3389/fvets.2023.1095160.
- Johnson, L. R. 2006. Physiology of the gastrointestinal tract. Elsevier.
- Kaper, J. B., J. P. Nataro, and H. L. T. Mobley. 2004. Pathogenic Escherichia coli. Nat. Rev. Microbiol. 2:123–140. doi:10.1038/nrmicro818.
- Khalil, I., R. Walker, C. K. Porter, F. Muhib, R. Chilengi, A. Cravioto, R. Guerrant, A. M.
 Svennerholm, F. Qadri, S. Baqar, M. Kosek, G. Kang, C. Lanata, G. Armah, T. Wierzba,
 M. Hasso-Agopsowicz, B. Giersing, and A. Louis Bourgeois. 2021. Enterotoxigenic
 Escherichia coli (ETEC) vaccines: Priority activities to enable product development,
 licensure, and global access. Vaccine. 39:4266–4277. doi:10.1016/j.vaccine.2021.04.018.
 Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2021.04.018
- Khan, M. M., O. Ernst, J. Sun, I. D. C. Fraser, R. K. Ernst, D. R. Goodlett, and A. Nita-Lazar.
 2018. Mass Spectrometry-based Structural Analysis and Systems Immunoproteomics
 Strategies for Deciphering the Host Response to Endotoxin. J. Mol. Biol. 430:2641–2660.
 doi:10.1016/j.jmb.2018.06.032. Available from:
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmb.2018.06.032

- Khan, S. H., and J. Iqbal. 2016. Recent advances in the role of organic acids in poultry nutrition.J. Appl. Anim. Res. 44:359–369. doi:10.1080/09712119.2015.1079527.
- Kien, C. L., R. Blauwiekel, J. Y. Bunn, T. L. Jetton, W. L. Frankel, and J. J. Holst. 2007. Cecal infusion of butyrate increases intestinal cell proliferation in piglets. J. Nutr. 137:916–922. doi:10.1093/jn/137.4.916. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1093/jn/137.4.916
- Kil, D. Y., W. B. Kwon, and B. G. Kim. 2011. Art culos originales Dietary acidifiers in weanling pig diets : a review. Anim. Sci. 24:231–247. Available from: http://www.scielo.org.co/scielo.php?script=sci_arttext&pid=S0120-06902011000300002
- Kim, K., Y. He, X. Xiong, A. Ehrlich, X. Li, H. Raybould, E. R. Atwill, E. A. Maga, J. Jørgensen, and Y. Liu. 2019. Dietary supplementation of Bacillus subtilis influenced intestinal health of weaned pigs experimentally infected with a pathogenic E. coli. J. Anim. Sci. Biotechnol. 10:52. doi:10.1186/s40104-019-0364-3.
- Kim, K., M. Song, Y. Liu, and P. Ji. 2022. Enterotoxigenic Escherichia coli infection of weaned pigs: Intestinal challenges and nutritional intervention to enhance disease resistance. Front. Immunol. 13:885253. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2022.885253.
- Kim, S. H., C. K. Hind, G. F. S. Fernandes, J. Wu, D. Semenya, M. Clifford, C. Marsh, S.
 Anselmi, A. J. Mason, K. D. Bruce, J. M. Sutton, and D. Castagnolo. 2024. Development of Novel Membrane Disrupting Lipoguanidine Compounds Sensitizing Gram-Negative Bacteria to Antibiotics. ACS Med. Chem. Lett. 15:239–249.
 doi:10.1021/acsmedchemlett.3c00460.
- Kim, Y. Y., D. Y. Kil, H. K. Oh, and I. K. Han. 2005. Acidifier as an alternative material to antibiotics in animal feed. Asian-Australasian J. Anim. Sci. 18:1048–1060. doi:10.5713/ajas.2005.1048.

- Klein, G., and S. Raina. 2019. Regulated assembly of LPS, its structural alterations and cellular response to LPS defects. Int. J. Mol. Sci. 20. doi:10.3390/ijms20020356.
- Knarreborg, A., N. Miquel, T. Granli, and B. B. Jensen. 2002. Establishment and application of an in vitro methodology to study the effects of organic acids on coliform and lactic acid bacteria in the proximal part of the gastrointestinal tract of piglets. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 99:131–140. doi:10.1016/S0377-8401(02)00069-X.
- Kong, L., Z. Wang, C. Xiao, Q. Zhu, and Z. Song. 2021. Glycerol Monolaurate Ameliorated Intestinal Barrier and Immunity in Broilers by Regulating Intestinal Inflammation, Antioxidant Balance, and Intestinal Microbiota. Front. Immunol. 12:1–14. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2021.713485.
- Kovanda, L., W. Zhang, X. Wei, J. Luo, X. Wu, E. R. Atwill, S. Vaessen, X. Li, and Y. Liu. 2019. In vitro antimicrobial activities of organic acids and their derivatives on several species of gram-negative and gram-positive bacteria. Molecules. 24:3770. doi:10.3390/molecules24203770.
- Kreuzer, S., M. Reissmann, and G. A. Brockmann. 2013. New fast and cost-effective gene test to get the ETEC F18 receptor status in pigs. Vet. Microbiol. 163:392–394.
 doi:10.1016/j.vetmic.2012.12.040. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.vetmic.2012.12.040
- Lallès, J.-P., P. Bosi, H. Smidt, and C. R. Stokes. 2007. Nutritional management of gut health in pigs around weaning. Proc. Nutr. Soc. 66:260–268. doi:10.1017/S0029665107005484.
- Lambert, R. J., and M. Stratford. 1999. Weak-acid preservatives: Modelling microbial inhibition and response. J. Appl. Microbiol. 86:157–164. doi:10.1046/j.1365-2672.1999.00646.x.

- Lancheros, J. P., C. D. Espinosa, and H. H. Stein. 2020. Effects of particle size reduction, pelleting, and extrusion on the nutritional value of ingredients and diets fed to pigs: A review. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 268:114603. doi:10.1016/j.anifeedsci.2020.114603.
 Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anifeedsci.2020.114603
- de Lange, C. F. M., J. Pluske, J. Gong, and C. M. Nyachoti. 2010. Strategic use of feed ingredients and feed additives to stimulate gut health and development in young pigs. Livest. Sci. 134:124–134. doi:10.1016/j.livsci.2010.06.117. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.livsci.2010.06.117
- Lauridsen, C. 2020. Effects of dietary fatty acids on gut health and function of pigs pre-and postweaning. J. Anim. Sci. 98:skaa086. doi:10.1093/JAS/SKAA086.
- Lee, J., J. W. Kim, H. Hall, and C. M. Nyachoti. 2022. Effect of dietary organic acids supplementation on growth performance, nutrient digestibility, and gut morphology in weaned pigs. Can. J. Anim. Sci. 102:255–265. doi:10.1139/cjas-2021-0080.
- Lee, S. I., and K. S. Kang. 2017. Function of capric acid in cyclophosphamide-induced intestinal inflammation, oxidative stress, and barrier function in pigs. Sci. Rep. 7:1–12. doi:10.1038/s41598-017-16561-5. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-16561-5
- Lei, X. J., J. W. Park, D. H. Baek, J. K. Kim, and I. H. Kim. 2017. Feeding the blend of organic acids and medium chain fatty acids reduces the diarrhea in piglets orally challenged with enterotoxigenic Escherichia coli K88. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 224:46–51. doi:10.1016/j.anifeedsci.2016.11.016. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.anifeedsci.2016.11.016

- Li, Q., E. R. Burrough, N. K. Gabler, C. L. Loving, O. Sahin, S. A. Gould, and J. F. Patience. 2019. A soluble and highly fermentable dietary fiber with carbohydrases improved gut barrier integrity markers and growth performance in F18 ETEC challenged pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 97:2139–2153. doi:10.1093/jas/skz093.
- Liu, L., Q. Li, Y. Yang, and A. Guo. 2021. Biological Function of Short-Chain Fatty Acids and Its Regulation on Intestinal Health of Poultry. Front. Vet. Sci. 8:1–13. doi:10.3389/fvets.2021.736739.
- Liu, Y. 2015. Fatty acids, inflammation and intestinal health in pigs. J. Anim. Sci. Biotechnol. 6:41. doi:10.1186/s40104-015-0040-1.
- Liu, Y., C. D. Espinosa, J. J. Abelilla, G. A. Casas, L. V. Lagos, S. A. Lee, W. B. Kwon, J. K. Mathai, D. M. D. L. Navarro, N. W. Jaworski, and H. H. Stein. 2018. Non-antibiotic feed additives in diets for pigs: a review. Anim. Nutr. 4:113–125. doi:10.1016/j.aninu.2018.01.007.
- Liu, Y., M. Song, T. M. Che, J. A. S. Almeida, J. J. Lee, D. Bravo, C. W. Maddox, and J. E. Pettigrew. 2013. Dietary plant extracts alleviate diarrhea and alter immune responses of weaned pigs experimentally infected with a pathogenic Escherichia coli. J. Anim. Sci. 91:5294–5306. doi:10.2527/jas.2012-6194.
- Liu, Y., M. Song, T. M. Che, J. J. Lee, D. Bravo, C. W. Maddox, and J. E. Pettigrew. 2014. Dietary plant extracts modulate gene expression profiles in ileal mucosa of weaned pigs after an Escherichia coli infection. J. Anim. Sci. 92:2050–2062. doi:10.2527/jas.2013-6422.
- Loos, M., A. Hellemans, and E. Cox. 2013. Optimization of a small intestinal segment perfusion model for heat-stable enterotoxin A induced secretion in pigs. Vet. Immunol.

Immunopathol. 152:82–86. doi:10.1016/j.vetimm.2012.09.014. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.vetimm.2012.09.014

- López-Gálvez, G., M. López-Alonso, A. Pechova, B. Mayo, N. Dierick, and J. Gropp. 2021.
 Alternatives to antibiotics and trace elements (copper and zinc) to improve gut health and zootechnical parameters in piglets: A review. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 271:114727.
 doi:10.1016/j.anifeedsci.2020.114727.
- Luo, X., W. Liu, M. Zhao, Y. Huang, and F. Feng. 2022. Glycerol monolaurate beyond an emulsifier: Synthesis, in vivo fate, food quality benefits and health efficacies. Trends Food Sci. Technol. 127:291–302. doi:10.1016/j.tifs.2022.05.017. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tifs.2022.05.017
- Luppi, A. 2017. Swine enteric colibacillosis: Diagnosis, therapy and antimicrobial resistance. Porc. Heal. Manag. 3:1–18. doi:10.1186/s40813-017-0063-4.
- Luppi, A., M. Gibellini, T. Gin, F. Vangroenweghe, V. Vandenbroucke, R. Bauerfeind, P. Bonilauri, G. Labarque, and Á. Hidalgo. 2016. Prevalence of virulence factors in enterotoxigenic Escherichia coli isolated from pigs with post-weaning diarrhoea in Europe. Porc. Heal. Manag. 2:1–6. doi:10.1186/s40813-016-0039-9. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/s40813-016-0039-9
- Mani-López, E., H. S. García, and A. López-Malo. 2012. Organic acids as antimicrobials to control Salmonella in meat and poultry products. Food Res. Int. 45:713–721. doi:10.1016/j.foodres.2011.04.043. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.foodres.2011.04.043

- Mann, E. R., Y. K. Lam, and H. H. Uhlig. 2024. Short-chain fatty acids: linking diet, the microbiome and immunity. Nat. Rev. Immunol. 24. doi:10.1038/s41577-024-01014-8. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/s41577-024-01014-8
- Mare, A. D., C. N. Ciurea, A. Man, B. Tudor, V. Moldovan, L. Decean, and F. Toma. 2021. Enteropathogenic Escherichia coli—A Summary of the Literature. Gastroenterol. Insights. 12:28–40. doi:10.3390/GASTROENT12010004.
- Marounek, M., E. Skřivanová, and V. Skřivanová. 2004. A note on the effect of caprylic acid and triacylglycerols of caprylic and capric acid on growth rate and shedding of coccidia oocysts in weaned piglets. J. Anim. Feed Sci. 13:269–274. doi:10.22358/jafs/67411/2004.
- Martínez-Vallespín, B., W. Vahjen, and J. Zentek. 2016. Effects of medium-chain fatty acids on the structure and immune response of IPEC-J2 cells. Cytotechnology. 68:1925–1936. doi:10.1007/s10616-016-0003-1.
- McLamb, B. L., A. J. Gibson, E. L. Overman, C. Stahl, and A. J. Moeser. 2013. Early Weaning Stress in Pigs Impairs Innate Mucosal Immune Responses to Enterotoxigenic E. coli Challenge and Exacerbates Intestinal Injury and Clinical Disease. PLoS One. 8:1–12. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0059838.
- Medland, J. E., C. S. Pohl, L. L. Edwards, S. Frandsen, K. Bagley, Y. Li, and A. J. Moeser.
 2016. Early life adversity in piglets induces long-term upregulation of the enteric cholinergic nervous system and heightened, sex-specific secretomotor neuron responses.
 Neurogastroenterol. Motil. 28:1317–1329. doi:10.1111/nmo.12828.
- Meijerink, E., S. Neuenschwander, R. Fries, A. Dinter, H. U. Bertschinger, G. Stranzinger, and
 P. Vögeli. 2000. A DNA polymorphism influencing α (1, 2) fucosyltransferase activity of
 the pig FUT1 enzyme determines susceptibility of small intestinal epithelium to

Escherichia coli F18 adhesion. Immunogenetics. 52:129–136. doi:10.1007/s002510000263.

- Miyamoto, T., S. Okano, and N. Kasai. 2009. Inactivation of Escherichia coli endotoxin by soft hydrothermal processing. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 75:5058–5063. doi:10.1128/AEM.00122-09.
- Moeser, A. J., C. S. Pohl, and M. Rajput. 2017. Weaning stress and gastrointestinal barrier development: implications for lifelong gut health in pigs. Anim. Nutr. 3:313–321. doi:10.1016/j.aninu.2017.06.003.
- Molteni, M., S. Gemma, and C. Rossetti. 2016. The Role of Toll-Like Receptor 4 in Infectious and Noninfectious Inflammation. Mediators Inflamm. 2016. doi:10.1155/2016/6978936.
- Monger, X. C., A. A. Gilbert, L. Saucier, and A. T. Vincent. 2021. Antibiotic resistance: from pig to meat. Antibiotics. 10:1209. doi:10.3390/antibiotics10101209.
- Montgomery, M. K., B. Osborne, A. E. Brandon, L. O'Reilly, C. E. Fiveash, S. H. J. Brown, B.
 P. Wilkins, A. Samsudeen, J. Yu, B. Devanapalli, A. Hertzog, A. A. Tolun, T. Kavanagh,
 A. A. Cooper, T. W. Mitchell, T. J. Biden, N. J. Smith, G. J. Cooney, and N. Turner.
 2019. Regulation of mitochondrial metabolism in murine skeletal muscle by the mediumchain fatty acid receptor Gpr84. FASEB J. 33:12264–12276. doi:10.1096/fj.201900234R.
- Mroz, Z., A. W. Jongbloed, K. H. Partanen, K. Vreman, P. A. Kemme, and J. Kogut. 2000. The effects of calcium benzoate in diets with or without organic acids on dietary buffering capacity/apparent digestibility, retention of nutrients, and manure characteristics in swine.
 J. Anim. Sci. 78:2622–2632. doi:10.2527/2000.78102622x.
- Mueller, M., and C. R. Tainter. 2023. Escherichia coli infection. In: StatPearls [Internet]. StatPearls Publishing.

- Mukiza, C. N., and D. J. Dubreuil. 2013. Escherichia coli heat-stable toxin b impairs intestinal epithelial barrier function by altering tight junction proteins. Infect. Immun. 81:2819–2827. doi:10.1128/IAI.00455-13.
- Nadeau, J. M. Fairbrother, J. Zentek, L. Bélanger, D. Tremblay, C. L. Tremblay, I. Röhe, W. Vahjen, M. Brunelle, K. Hellmann, D. Cvejić, B. Brunner, C. Schneider, K. Bauer, R. Wolf, and Hidalgo. 2017. Efficacy of a single oral dose of a live bivalent E. coli vaccine against post-weaning diarrhea due to F4 and F18-positive enterotoxigenic E. coli. Vet. J. 226:32–39. doi:10.1016/j.tvjl.2017.07.004.
- Nagasaki, H., T. Kondo, M. Fuchigami, H. Hashimoto, Y. Sugimura, N. Ozaki, H. Arima, A. Ota, Y. Oiso, and Y. Hamada. 2012. Inflammatory changes in adipose tissue enhance expression of GPR84, a medium-chain fatty acid receptor: TNFα enhances GPR84 expression in adipocytes. FEBS Lett. 586:368–372. doi:10.1016/j.febslet.2012.01.001.
- Nagy, B., T. A. Casey, S. C. Whipp, and H. W. Moon. 1992. Susceptibility of porcine intestine to pilus-mediated adhesion by some isolates of piliated enterotoxigenic Escherichia coli increases with age. Infect. Immun. 60:1285–1294. doi:10.1128/iai.60.4.1285-1294.1992.
- Namkung, H., H. Yu, J. Gong, and S. Leeson. 2011. Antimicrobial activity of butyrate glycerides toward Salmonella Typhimurium and Clostridium perfringens. Poult. Sci. 90:2217–2222. doi:10.3382/ps.2011-01498.
- Nash, A. A., R. G. Dalziel, and J. R. Fitzgerald. 2015. Mims' pathogenesis of infectious disease. Academic Press, London.
- Nassour, H., and J. D. Dubreuil. 2014. Escherichia coli STb enterotoxin dislodges claudin-1 from epithelial tight junctions. PLoS One. 9. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0113273.

- Navez, M., C. Antoine, F. Laforêt, E. Goya-Jorge, C. Douny, M. L. Scippo, M. Vermeersch, J. N. Duprez, G. Daube, J. Mainil, B. Taminiau, V. Delcenserie, and D. Thiry. 2023. In Vitro Effect on Piglet Gut Microbiota and In Vivo Assessment of Newly Isolated Bacteriophages against F18 Enterotoxigenic Escherichia coli (ETEC). Viruses. 15. doi:10.3390/v15051053.
- Neidhardt, F. C., J. L. Ingraham, K. B. Low, M. Schaechter, B. Magasanik, and H. E. Umbarger.
 1987. Escherichia coli and Salmonella typhimurium: cellular and molecular biology.
 American Society for Microbiology Washington, DC.
- Nguyen, D. H., W. J. Seok, and I. H. Kim. 2020. Organic acids mixture as a dietary additive for pigs—a review. Animals. 10:952. doi:10.3390/ani10060952.
- Nhara, R. B., U. Marume, and C. W. T. Nantapo. 2024. Potential of Organic Acids, Essential Oils and Their Blends in Pig Diets as Alternatives to Antibiotic Growth Promoters. Animals. 14. doi:10.3390/ani14050762.

Nogal, A., A. M. Valdes, and C. Menni. 2021. The role of short-chain fatty acids in the interplay between gut microbiota and diet in cardio-metabolic health. Gut Microbes. 13:1–24. doi:10.1080/19490976.2021.1897212. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1080/19490976.2021.1897212

- Ø verland, M., N. P. Kjos, M. Borg, and H. Sørum. 2007. Organic acids in diets for entire male pigs. Livest. Sci. 109:170–173. doi:10.1016/j.livsci.2007.02.002.
- Page, M. J., D. B. Kell, and E. Pretorius. 2022. The Role of Lipopolysaccharide-Induced Cell Signalling in Chronic Inflammation. Chronic Stress. 6. doi:10.1177/24705470221076390.
- Paiva, R., E. Burrough, P. Pineyro, and M. Almeida. 2023. Post-weaning diarrhea caused by hemolytic E. coli. National Hog Farmer. Available from:

https://www.nationalhogfarmer.com/livestock-management/post-weaning-diarrheacaused-by-hemolytic-e-coli-

- Pålsson-McDermott, E. M., and L. A. J. O'Neill. 2004. Signal transduction by the lipopolysaccharide receptor, Toll-like receptor-4. Immunology. 113:153–162. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2567.2004.01976.x.
- Papamandjaris, A. A., D. E. Macdougall, and P. J. H. Jones. 1998. Medium chain fatty acid metabolism and energy expenditure: Obesity treatment implications. Life Sci. 62:1203– 1215. doi:10.1016/S0024-3205(97)01143-0.
- Papatsiros, V. G., and C. Billinis. 2012. The prophylactic use of acidifiers as antibacterial agents in swine. Antimicrob. agents. 295:310.
- Park, E. J., S. A. Kim, Y. M. Choi, H. K. Kwon, W. Shim, G. Lee, and S. Choi. 2011. Capric acid inhibits NO production and STAT3 activation during LPS-induced osteoclastogenesis. PLoS One. 6:1–8. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0027739.
- Park, S., J. J. Lee, B. M. Yang, J. H. Cho, S. Kim, J. Kang, S. Oh, D. Park, R. Perez-maldonado, J.-Y. Cho, I.-H. Park, H. B. Kim, and M. Song. 2020a. Dietary protease improves growth performance, nutrient digestibility, and intestinal morphology of weaned pigs. J. Anim. Sci. Technol. 62:21–30. doi:10.5187/jast.2020.62.1.21.
- Park, S., J. W. Lee, A. J. Cowieson, G. Pappenberger, and T. A. Woyengo. 2020b. Soybean meal allergenic protein degradation and gut health of piglets fed protease-supplemented diets.
 J. Anim. Sci. 98:skaa308. doi:10.1093/jas/skaa308.
- Partanen, K. H., and Z. Mroz. 1999. Organic acids for performance enhancement in pig diets. Nutr. Res. Rev. 12:117–145. doi:10.1079/095442299108728884.

- Pearlin, B. V., S. Muthuvel, P. Govidasamy, M. Villavan, M. Alagawany, M. Ragab Farag, K.
 Dhama, and M. Gopi. 2020. Role of acidifiers in livestock nutrition and health: A review.
 J. Anim. Physiol. Anim. Nutr. (Berl). 104:558–569. doi:10.1111/jpn.13282.
- Pettigrew, J. E. 2006. Reduced use of antibiotic growth promoters in diets fed to weanling pigs: dietary tools, part 1. Anim. Biotechnol. 17:207–215. doi:10.1080/10495390600956946.
 Available from: http://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/10495390600956946
- Pluske, J. R., D. W. Pethick, D. E. Hopwood, and D. J. Hampson. 2002. Nutritional influences on some major enteric bacterial diseases of pig. Nutr. Res. Rev. 15:333–371. doi:10.1079/NRR200242.
- Pluske, J. R., D. L. Turpin, and J.-C. Kim. 2018. Gastrointestinal tract (gut) health in the young pig. Anim. Nutr. 4:187–196. doi:10.1016/j.aninu.2017.12.004.
- Pohl, C. S., J. E. Medland, E. Mackey, L. L. Edwards, K. D. Bagley, M. P. DeWilde, K. J. Williams, and A. J. Moeser. 2017. Early weaning stress induces chronic functional diarrhea, intestinal barrier defects, and increased mast cell activity in a porcine model of early life adversity. Neurogastroenterol. Motil. 29:1–13. doi:10.1111/nmo.13118.
- Rahman, M. R. T., I. Fliss, and E. Biron. 2022. Insights in the development and uses of alternatives to antibiotic growth promoters in poultry and swine production. Antibiotics. 11:766. doi:10.3390/antibiotics11060766.
- Rallabhandi, P., J. Bell, M. S. Boukhvalova, A. Medvedev, E. Lorenz, M. Arditi, V. G.
 Hemming, J. C. G. Blanco, D. M. Segal, and S. N. Vogel. 2006. Analysis of TLR4
 Polymorphic Variants: New Insights into TLR4/MD-2/CD14 Stoichiometry, Structure, and Signaling. J. Immunol. 177:322–332. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.177.1.322.

- Rarokar, N. R., S. Menghani, D. Kerzare, and P. B. Khedekar. 2017. Progress in Synthesis of Monoglycerides for Use in Food and Pharmaceuticals. J. Exp. Food Chem. 03:1–6. doi:10.4172/2472-0542.1000128.
- Ravindran, V., and E. T. Kornegay. 1993. Acidification of weaner pig diets: A review. J. Sci. Food Agric. 62:313–322. doi:10.1002/jsfa.2740620402.
- Read, L. T., R. W. Hahn, C. C. Thompson, D. L. Bauer, E. B. Norton, and J. D. Clements. 2014. Simultaneous exposure to Escherichia coli heat-labile and heat-stable enterotoxins increases fluid secretion and alters cyclic nucleotide and cytokine production by intestinal epithelial cells. Infect. Immun. 82:5308–5316. doi:10.1128/IAI.02496-14.
- Recio, C., D. Lucy, G. S. D. Purvis, P. Iveson, L. Zeboudj, A. J. Iqbal, D. Lin, C. O'Callaghan,
 L. Davison, E. Griesbach, A. J. Russell, G. M. Wynne, L. Dib, C. Monaco, and D. R.
 Greaves. 2018. Activation of the immune-metabolic receptor GPR84 enhances
 inflammation and phagocytosis in macrophages. Front. Immunol. 9.
 doi:10.3389/fimmu.2018.01419.
- Renz, H., P. Brandtzaeg, and M. Hornef. 2012. The impact of perinatal immune development on mucosal homeostasis and chronic inflammation. Nat. Rev. Immunol. 12:9–23. doi:10.1038/nri3112.
- Rhouma, M., J. M. Fairbrother, F. Beaudry, and A. Letellier. 2017. Post weaning diarrhea in pigs: Risk factors and non-colistin-based control strategies. Acta Vet. Scand. 59:1–19. doi:10.1186/s13028-017-0299-7.
- Risley, C. R., E. T. Kornegay, M. D. Lindemann, and S. M. Weakland. 1991. Effects of organic acids with and without a microbial culture on performance and gastrointestinal tract

measurements of weanling pigs. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 35:259–270. doi:10.1016/0377-8401(91)90132-C.

- Risley, C. R., E. T. Kornegay, M. D. Lindemann, C. M. Wood, and W. N. Eigel. 1992. Effect of feeding organic acids on selected intestinal content measurements at varying times postweaning in pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 70:196–206.
- Risley, C. R., E. T. Kornegay, M. D. Lindemann, C. M. Wood, and W. N. Eigel. 1993. Effect of feeding organic acids on gastrointestinal digesta measurements at various times postweaning in pigs challenged with enterotoxigenic Escherichia coli. Can. J. Anim. Sci. 73:931–940. doi:10.4141/cjas93-094.
- Rossi, R., G. Pastorelli, S. Cannata, and C. Corino. 2010. Recent advances in the use of fatty acids as supplements in pig diets: A review. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 162:1–11. doi:10.1016/j.anifeedsci.2010.08.013. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.anifeedsci.2010.08.013
- Sakata, T. 1987. Stimulatory effect of short-chain fatty acids on epithelial cell proliferation in the rat intestine: a possible explanation for trophic effects of fermentable fibre, gut microbes and luminal trophic factors. Br. J. Nutr. 58:95–103. doi:10.1079/bjn19870073.
- Sampugna, J., J. G. Quinn, R. E. Pitas, D. L. Carpenter, and R. G. Jensen. 1967. Digestion of butyrate glycerides by pancreatic lipase. Lipids. 2:397–402. doi:10.1007/BF02531853.
- Sauer, W., M. Cervantes, J. Yanez, B. Araiza, G. Murdoch, A. Morales, and R. T. Zijlstra. 2009. Effect of dietary inclusion of benzoic acid on mineral balance in growing pigs. Livest. Sci. 122:162–168. doi:10.1016/j.livsci.2008.08.008. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.livsci.2008.08.008

- Scheppach, W., and F. Weiler. 2004. The butyrate story: Old wine in new bottles? Curr. Opin. Clin. Nutr. Metab. Care. 7:563–567. doi:10.1097/00075197-200409000-00009.
- Schlievert, P. M., and M. L. Peterson. 2012. Glycerol monolaurate antibacterial activity in broth and biofilm cultures. PLoS One. 7. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0040350.
- Schönfeld, P., and L. Wojtczak. 2016. Short- and medium-chain fatty acids in energy metabolism: The cellular perspective. J. Lipid Res. 57:943–954. doi:10.1194/jlr.R067629.
- Scipioni, R., G. Zaghini, and B. Biavati. 1979. Researches on the use of acidified diets for early weaning of piglets. Zootech. Nutr Anim. 4:201–218.
- Siddiqui, M. T., and G. A. M. Cresci. 2021. The Immunomodulatory Functions of Butyrate. J. Inflamm. Res. 14:6025–6041. doi:10.2147/JIR.S300989.
- Van der Sluis, W. 2002. Water quality is important but often overestimated. World Poult. 18:26– 32.
- Smith, F., J. E. Clark, B. L. Overman, C. C. Tozel, J. H. Huang, J. E. F. Rivier, A. T. Blisklager, and A. J. Moeser. 2010. Early weaning stress impairs development of mucosal barrier function in the porcine intestine. Am. J. Physiol. Liver Physiol. 298:G352–G363. doi:10.1152/ajpgi.00081.2009.
- Song, M., B. Kim, J. H. Cho, H. Kyoung, S. Park, J. Y. Cho, K. Il Park, H. B. Kim, and J. J. Lee. 2022. Effects of dietary protease supplementation on growth rate, nutrient digestibility, and intestinal morphology of weaned pigs. J. Anim. Sci. Technol. 64:462–470. doi:10.5187/jast.2022.e28.
- Soriani, M., L. Bailey, and T. R. Hirst. 2002. Contribution of the ADP-ribosylating and receptorbinding properties of cholera-like enterotoxins in modulating cytokine secretion by

human intestinal epithelial cells. Microbiology. 148:667–676. doi:10.1099/00221287-148-3-667.

- Stoica, C., and G. Cox. 2021. Old problems and new solutions: Antibiotic alternatives in food animal production. Can. J. Microbiol. 67:427–444. doi:10.1139/cjm-2020-0601.
- Strosznajder, A. K., S. Wójtowicz, M. J. Jeżyna, G. Y. Sun, and J. B. Strosznajder. 2021. Recent Insights on the Role of PPAR-β/δ in Neuroinflammation and Neurodegeneration, and Its Potential Target for Therapy. NeuroMolecular Med. 23:86–98. doi:10.1007/s12017-020-08629-9. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1007/s12017-020-08629-9
- Suiryanrayna, M. V. A. N., and J. V. Ramana. 2015. A review of the effects of dietary organic acids fed to swine. J. Anim. Sci. Biotechnol. 6:1–11. doi:10.1186/s40104-015-0042-z. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/s40104-015-0042-z
- Sun, Y., M. E. Duarte, and S. W. Kim. 2021. Dietary inclusion of multispecies probiotics to reduce the severity of post-weaning diarrhea caused by Escherichia coli F18+ in pigs. Anim. Nutr. 7:326–333. doi:10.1016/j.aninu.2020.08.012. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aninu.2020.08.012
- Sun, Y., and S. W. Kim. 2017. Intestinal challenge with enterotoxigenic Escherichia coli in pigs, and nutritional intervention to prevent postweaning diarrhea. Anim. Nutr. 3:322–330. doi:10.1016/j.aninu.2017.10.001. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aninu.2017.10.001
- Suzuki, M., S. Takaishi, M. Nagasaki, Y. Onozawa, I. Iino, H. Maeda, T. Komai, and T. Oda.
 2013. Medium-chain fatty acid-sensing receptor, GPR84, is a proinflammatory receptor.
 J. Biol. Chem. 288:10684–10691. doi:10.1074/jbc.M112.420042.

- Svennerholm, A.-M., and A. Lundgren. 2023. Developments in oral enterotoxigenic Escherichia coli vaccines. Curr. Opin. Immunol. 84:102372. doi:10.1016/j.coi.2023.102372. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.coi.2023.102372
- Szabó, C., J. Kachungwa Lugata, and A. D. S. V. Ortega. 2023. Gut Health and Influencing Factors in Pigs. Animals. 13:1–28. doi:10.3390/ani13081350.
- Tan, J., C. McKenzie, M. Potamitis, A. N. Thorburn, C. R. Mackay, and L. Macia. 2014. The Role of Short-Chain Fatty Acids in Health and Disease. 1st ed. Elsevier Inc. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-800100-4.00003-9
- Tang, X., K. Xiong, R. Fang, and M. Li. 2022. Weaning stress and intestinal health of piglets: a review. Front. Immunol. 13:1042778. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2022.1042778.
- Thomlinson, J. R., and T. L. J. Lawrence. 1981. Dietary manipulation of gastric pH in the prophylaxis of enteric disease in weaned pigs: some field observations. Vet. Rec. 109:120–122.
- Thormar, H., and H. Hilmarsson. 2007. The role of microbicidal lipids in host defense against pathogens and their potential as therapeutic agents. Chem. Phys. Lipids. 150:1–11. doi:10.1016/j.chemphyslip.2007.06.220.
- Thormar, H., H. Hilmarsson, and G. Bergsson. 2006. Stable concentrated emulsions of the 1monoglyceride of capric acid (monocaprin) with microbicidal activities against the foodborne bacteria Campylobacter jejuni, Salmonella spp., and Escherichia coli. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 72:522–526. doi:10.1128/AEM.72.1.522-526.2006.
- Tsiloyiannis, V. K., S. C. Kyriakis, J. Vlemmas, and K. Sarris. 2001. The effect of organic acids on the control of porcine post-weaning diarrhoea. Res. Vet. Sci. 70:287–293. doi:10.1053/rvsc.2001.0476.
- Tugnoli, B., G. Giovagnoni, A. Piva, and E. Grilli. 2020. From acidifiers to intestinal health enhancers: how organic acids can improve growth efficiency of pigs. Animals. 10:134. doi:10.3390/ani10010134.
- Tung, C. M., and J. E. Pettigrew. 2006. Critical review of acidifiers. Anim. Sci. 5–169.
- Turner, S. M., A. Scott-Tucker, L. M. Cooper, and I. R. Henderson. 2006. Weapons of mass destruction: Virulence factors of the global killer enterotoxigenic Escherichia coli. FEMS Microbiol. Lett. 263:10–20. doi:10.1111/j.1574-6968.2006.00401.x.
- Tuttle, A. R., N. D. Trahan, and M. S. Son. 2021. Growth and Maintenance of Escherichia coli Laboratory Strains. Curr. Protoc. 1:e20. doi:10.1002/cpz1.20.
- Vaandrager, A. B., A. G. M. Bot, and H. R. De Jonge. 1997. Guanosine 3',5'-cyclic monophosphate-dependent protein kinase ii mediates heat-stable enterotoxin-provoked chloride secretion in rat intestine. Gastroenterology. 112:437–443. doi:10.1053/gast.1997.v112.pm9024297.
- Vaandrager, A. B., A. G. M. Bot, P. Ruth, A. Pfeifer, F. Hofmann, and H. R. De Jonge. 2000. Differential role of cyclic GMP-dependent protein kinase II in ion transport in murine small intestine and colon. Gastroenterology. 118:108–114. doi:10.1016/S0016-5085(00)70419-7.
- Vancamelbeke, M., and S. Vermeire. 2017. The intestinal barrier: a fundamental role in health and disease. Expert Rev. Gastroenterol. Hepatol. 11:821–834. doi:10.1080/17474124.2017.1343143.
- Vinolo, M. A. R., H. G. Rodrigues, E. Hatanaka, F. T. Sato, S. C. Sampaio, and R. Curi. 2011. Suppressive effect of short-chain fatty acids on production of proinflammatory mediators

by neutrophils. J. Nutr. Biochem. 22:849–855. doi:10.1016/j.jnutbio.2010.07.009. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jnutbio.2010.07.009

- Walsh, M. C., D. M. Sholly, R. B. Hinson, K. L. Saddoris, A. L. Sutton, J. S. Radcliffe, R. Odgaard, J. Murphy, and B. T. Richert. 2007. Effects of water and diet acidification with and without antibiotics on weanling pig growth and microbial shedding. J. Anim. Sci. 85:1799–1808. doi:10.2527/jas.2006-049.
- Wang, H., W. Long, D. Chadwick, X. Zhang, S. Zhang, X. Piao, and Y. Hou. 2022. Dietary acidifiers as an alternative to antibiotics for promoting pig growth performance: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 289:115320. doi:10.1016/j.anifeedsci.2022.115320. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anifeedsci.2022.115320
- Wang, H., Z. Zhong, Y. Luo, E. Cox, and B. Devriendt. 2019. Heat-stable enterotoxins of enterotoxigenic escherichia coli and their impact on host immunity. Toxins (Basel). 11:1– 12. doi:10.3390/toxins11010024.
- Wang, J., X. Wu, N. Simonavicius, H. Tian, and L. Ling. 2006. Medium-chain fatty acids as ligands for orphan G protein-coupled receptor GPR84. J. Biol. Chem. 281:34457–34464. doi:10.1074/jbc.M608019200.
- Warnecke, T., and R. T. Gill. 2005. Organic acid toxicity, tolerance, and production in Escherichia coli biorefining applications. Microb. Cell Fact. 4:1–8. doi:10.1186/1475-2859-4-25.
- Weber, T. E., and B. J. Kerr. 2008. Effect of sodium butyrate on growth performance and response to lipopolysaccharide in weanling pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 86:442–450. doi:10.2527/jas.2007-0499.

- Wen, Z.-S., J.-J. Lu, and X.-T. Zou. 2012. Effects of sodium butyrate on the intestinal morphology and DNA-binding activity of intestinal nuclear factor-κB in weanling pigs. J Anim Vet Adv. 11:814–821.
- Whipp, S. C., E. Kokue, R. W. Morgan, R. Rose, and H. W. Moon. 1987. Functional significance of histologic alterations induced by Escherichia coli pig-specific, mousenegative, heat-stable enterotoxin (ST b). Vet. Res. Commun. 11:41–55.
- Whipp, S. C., H. W. Moon, L. J. Kemeny, and R. A. Argenzio. 1985. Effect of virus-induced destruction of villous epithelium on intestinal secretion induced by heat-stable
 Escherichia coli enterotoxins and prostaglandin E1 in swine. Am. J. Vet. Res. 46:637–642. Available from: http://europepmc.org/abstract/MED/2986497
- Whipp, S. C., S. L. Moseley, and H. W. Moon. 1986. Microscopic alterations in jejunal epithelium of 3-week-old pigs induced by pig-specific, mouse-negative, heat-stable Escherichia coli enterotoxin. Am. J. Vet. Res. 47:615–618. Available from: http://europepmc.org/abstract/MED/3516028
- Willemsen, L. E. M., M. A. Koetsier, S. J. H. Van Deventer, and E. A. F. Van Tol. 2003. Short chain fatty acids stimulate epithelial mucin 2 expression through differential effects on prostaglandin E1 and E2 production by intestinal myofibroblasts. Gut. 52:1442–1447. doi:10.1136/gut.52.10.1442.
- Williams, B. A., M. W. Bosch, J. Houdijk, and Y. Van de Camp. 1997. Differences in potential fermentative capabilities of four sections of porcine digestive tract. In: Book of abstracts 48th Annual Meeting of the EAAP, Vienna. p. 133.
- Wong, B. T., S. Park, L. Kovanda, Y. He, K. Kim, S. Xu, C. Lingga, M. Hejna, E. Wall, R.Sripathy, X. Li, and Y. Liu. 2022. Dietary supplementation of botanical blends enhanced

performance and disease resistance of weaned pigs experimentally infected with enterotoxigenic Escherichia coli F18. J. Anim. Sci. 100:skac353. doi:10.1093/jas/skac353.

- Wynn, T. A., and L. Barron. 2010. Macrophages: master regulators of inflammation and fibrosis. In: Seminars in liver disease. Vol. 30. © Thieme Medical Publishers. p. 245–257.
- Xie, C., Y. Zhang, K. Niu, X. Liang, H. Wang, J. Shan, and X. Wu. 2021. Enteromorpha polysaccharide-zinc replacing prophylactic antibiotics contributes to improving gut health of weaned piglets. Anim. Nutr. 7:641–649. doi:10.1016/j.aninu.2021.01.008.
- Xiong, X., B. Tan, M. Song, P. Ji, K. Kim, Y. Yin, and Y. Liu. 2019. Nutritional intervention for the intestinal development and health of weaned pigs. Front. Vet. Sci. 6:46. doi:10.3389/fvets.2019.00046.
- Xu, C., F. Fu, Y. She, D. Yang, K. Peng, Y. Lin, and C. B. Xu. 2023. Development of a new candidate vaccine against piglet diarrhea caused by Escherichia coli. Open Life Sci. 18. doi:10.1515/biol-2022-0804.
- Xu, X., M. E. Duarte, and S. W. Kim. 2022. Postbiotic effects of Lactobacillus fermentate on intestinal health, mucosa-associated microbiota, and growth efficiency of nursery pigs challenged with F18+Escherichia coli. J. Anim. Sci. 100:1–14. doi:10.1093/jas/skac210.
- Xu, Y. T., L. Liu, S. F. Long, L. Pan, and X. S. Piao. 2018. Effect of organic acids and essential oils on performance, intestinal health and digestive enzyme activities of weaned pigs.
 Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 235:110–119. doi:10.1016/j.anifeedsci.2017.10.012.
- Yan, H., and K. M. Ajuwon. 2017. Butyrate modifies intestinal barrier function in IPEC-J2 cells through a selective upregulation of tight junction proteins and activation of the Akt signaling pathway. PLoS One. 12:1–20. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0179586.

- Yang, M., J. Zhang, H. Yan, Y. Pan, J. Zhou, H. Zhong, J. Wang, H. Cai, F. Feng, and M. Zhao.
 2024. A comprehensive review of medium chain monoglycerides on metabolic pathways, nutritional and functional properties, nanotechnology formulations and applications in food system. Crit. Rev. Food Sci. Nutr. 0:1–22. doi:10.1080/10408398.2024.2353403.
 Available from: https://doi.org/10.1080/10408398.2024.2353403
- Yoon, B. K., J. A. Jackman, M. C. Kim, and N. J. Cho. 2015. Spectrum of Membrane Morphological Responses to Antibacterial Fatty Acids and Related Surfactants. Langmuir. 31:10223–10232. doi:10.1021/acs.langmuir.5b02088.
- Yoon, B. K., J. A. Jackman, M. C. Kim, T. N. Sut, and N. J. Cho. 2017. Correlating Membrane Morphological Responses with Micellar Aggregation Behavior of Capric Acid and Monocaprin. Langmuir. 33:2750–2759. doi:10.1021/acs.langmuir.6b03944.
- Yu, D., G. Banting, and N. F. Neumann. 2021. A review of the taxonomy, genetics, and biology of the genus escherichia and the type species escherichia coli. Can. J. Microbiol. 67:553– 571. doi:10.1139/cjm-2020-0508.
- Yu, H., S. Bai, Y. Hao, and Y. Guan. 2022. Fatty acids role in multiple sclerosis as "metabokines." J. Neuroinflammation. 19:1–21. doi:10.1186/s12974-022-02502-1. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1186/s12974-022-02502-1
- Yu, L., L. Wang, and S. Chen. 2010. Endogenous toll-like receptor ligands and their biological significance. J. Cell. Mol. Med. 14:2592–2603. doi:10.1111/j.1582-4934.2010.01127.x.
- Zeinab, B., J. Buthaina, and K. Rafik. 2023. Resistance of Gram-Negative Bacteria to Current Antibacterial Agents and Approaches to Resolve It. Molecules. 25:1–23.

- Zentek, J., S. Buchheit-Renko, F. Ferrara, W. Vahjen, A. G. Van Kessel, and R. Pieper. 2011. Nutritional and physiological role of medium-chain triglycerides and medium-chain fatty acids in piglets. Anim. Heal. Res. Rev. 12:83–93. doi:10.1017/S1466252311000089.
- Zhang, J. Y., D. H. Baek, and I. H. Kim. 2019. Effect of dietary supplemental medium chain fatty acids instead of antibiotics on the growth performance, digestibility and blood profiles in growing pigs. J. Anim. Physiol. Anim. Nutr. (Berl). 103:1946–1951. doi:10.1111/jpn.13175.
- Zhang, Q., L. hai Chen, H. Yang, Y. chen Fang, S. wei Wang, M. Wang, Q. ting Yuan, W. Wu, Y. ming Zhang, Z. ju Liu, F. jun Nan, and X. Xie. 2022. GPR84 signaling promotes intestinal mucosal inflammation via enhancing NLRP3 inflammasome activation in macrophages. Acta Pharmacol. Sin. 43:2042–2054. doi:10.1038/s41401-021-00825-y.
- Zhang, W., M. Zhao, L. Ruesch, A. Omot, and D. Francis. 2007. Prevalence of virulence genes in Escherichia coli strains recently isolated from young pigs with diarrhea in the US. Vet. Microbiol. 123:145–152. doi:10.1016/j.vetmic.2007.02.018.
- Zhang, Y., P. Tan, Y. Zhao, and X. Ma. 2022. Enterotoxigenic Escherichia coli: intestinal pathogenesis mechanisms and colonization resistance by gut microbiota. Gut Microbes. 14. doi:10.1080/19490976.2022.2055943.
- Zhang, Z., H. Zhang, T. Chen, L. Shi, D. Wang, and D. Tang. 2022. Regulatory role of shortchain fatty acids in inflammatory bowel disease. Cell Commun. Signal. 20:1–10. doi:10.1186/s12964-022-00869-5. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1186/s12964-022-00869-5
- Zhao, M., Z. Jiang, H. Cai, Y. Li, Q. Mo, L. Deng, H. Zhong, T. Liu, H. Zhang, J. X. Kang, andF. Fenga. 2020. Modulation of the gut microbiota during high-dose glycerol monolaurate-

mediated amelioration of obesity in mice fed a high-fat diet. MBio. 11.

doi:10.1128/mBio.00190-20.

Zhao, Y., F. Chen, W. Wu, M. Sun, A. J. Bilotta, S. Yao, Y. Xiao, X. Huang, T. D. Eaves-Pyles, G. Golovko, Y. Fofanov, W. D'Souza, Q. Zhao, Z. Liu, and Y. Cong. 2018. GPR43 mediates microbiota metabolite SCFA regulation of antimicrobial peptide expression in intestinal epithelial cells via activation of mTOR and STAT3. Mucosal Immunol. 11:752–762. doi:10.1038/mi.2017.118. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/mi.2017.118

TABLES AND FIGURES

Table 1.1. Regulations regarding the use of antibiotics as growth promoters in different countries

(adapted from Rahman et al., 2022)

Country	Year	Action				
Australia	2017	Antibiotics used in human medicine are not licensed as growth promoters. However, five antibiotics (olaquindox, avilamycin, bambermycin, monensin, and salinomycin) not currently used in human medicine are used as growth promoters in poultry, pigs, cattle, and sheep [23].				
Canada	2020	Growth promotion claims on medically important antimicrobials (MIAs) (Category I, II, and III antimicrobials) will no longer be permitted. Ionophore and coccidiostat products will be unaffected, as they are not considered MIAs [24,25].				
China	2020	All antibiotic growth promoters except herbal medicine have been banned [26].				
European Union	2006 2022	Illegal across the EU The EU will ban the importation of meat and dairy produced using antibiotic growth promoters. However, fluoroquinolones continue to be licensed in the UK and in many EU countries [27].				
New Zealand	2017	No banning claim found. The Ministry of Health and the Ministry for Primary Industries (MPI) stated in 2017: "If antibiotics used in food-producing animals, MPI must also be satisfied that the antibiotic will not leave residues above the maximum residue level in food from the treated animals". Compared to EU countries, New Zealand uses more cephalosporins and macrolides, but less quinolones [28].				
Sweden	1986	First country to ban the use of antibiotics as growth promoters [29].				
USA	2017	Medically important antimicrobials are banned. However, bacitracin and carbadox, which are classified as medically important by the World Health Organization, are still used as growth promoters in pigs [30].				

Category	Name	Molecular Formula	рКа	Physical Form	Odor and Taste	Solubility	Chemical Safety
Short chain	Formic	CH ₂ O ₂	3.75	Colorless liquid	Pungent odor	Miscible in water, ether, acetone, ethyl acetate, methanol, ethanol	Severe skin burns and eye damage
	Acetic	C2H4O2	4.74	Colorless liquid	Pungent vinegar- like odor Sour and burning taste	Miscible in water, alcohol, glycerol, ether, carbon tetrachloride	Flammable liquid and vapor, severe skin burns and eve damage
	Propionic	$C_3H_6O_2$	4.88	Colorless liquid oily	Very pungent rancid odor	Miscible in water, soluble in alcohol, ether, chloroform	Severe skin burns and eye damage
	Butyric	C4H8O2	4.82	Colorless liquid oily	Rancid unpleasant odor, acrid taste, with a sweetish after taste	Miscible in water, alcohol, ether	Severe skin burns and eye damage
Medium chain	Caproic (or hexanoic)	C ₆ H ₁₂ O ₂	5.09	Colorless to light- yellow liquid oily	Characteristic goat- like odor	Soluble in ethanol and ether	Toxic in contact with skin, severe skin burns and eye damage
	Caprylic (or octanoic)	C8H16O2	4.89	Colorless to light- yellow liquid oily	Characteristic goat- like odor	Miscible in ethanol, chloroform, acetonitrile Soluble in alcohol, chloroform, ether, carbon disulfide petroleum ether and glacial acetic acid	Severe skin burns and eye damage; harmful to aquatic life with long lasting effects

Table 1.2. List of the most common acids and their properties (adapted from Tugnoli et al., 2020)

Category	Name	Molecular Formula	рКа	Physical Form	Odor and Taste	Solubility	Chemical Safety
	Capric (or decanoic)	C10H20O2	4.90	White crystalline powder	Characteristic goat- like odor	Soluble in ethanol, alcohol, ether, chloroform, benzene and carbon disulfide	Skin and eye irritation; harmful to aquatic life with long lasting effects
	Lauric (or dodecanoic)	C12H24O2	5.30	White flakes	Bay-like odor	Miscible with benzene Very soluble in methanol and ethanol Soluble in acetone	Skin irritation, serious eye damage and irritation
Others	Sorbic	C ₆ H ₈ O ₂	4.76	White crystalline powder or granules	Odorless Acrid and sour taste	Very soluble in ether. Soluble in ethanol	Skin and eye irritation. May cause respiratory irritation
	Benzoic	C7H6O2	4.19	Colorless crystalline powder	Pungent odor Bitter taste	Soluble in alcohol, ether, and benzene	Skin irritation, eye damage; damage to organs through prolonged or repeated exposure
	Lactic	C3H6O3	3.86	Colorless to yellow viscous liquid or crystals	Odorless Acrid taste	Soluble in water, ethanol and diethyl ether	Skin irritation, serious eye damage



Figure 1.1. Impact of early weaning on the developmental trajectory of gastrointestinal (GI) barrier function (adapted from Moeser et al., 2017)



Figure 1.2. Number of diagnostic accessions at the Iowa State University Veterinary Diagnostic Laboratory resulting in each specific disease diagnosis from samples collected from pigs with post-weaning diarrhea from 2010 to 2022 (adapted from Paiva et al., 2023)



Figure 1.3. Frequency of *Escherichia coli* F18 and F4 fimbrial gene detection in cases where genotyping was performed at the Iowa State University Veterinary Diagnostic Laboratory from 2010 to 2022 (adapted from Paiva et al., 2023)



Figure 1.4. Summarised downstream effects of LPS signalling. LPS influences a range of cell

types and physiological processes (adapted from Page et al., 2022)



Figure 1.5. Proposed mechanisms of action on the beneficial effects of butyric acid (adapted

from Xiong et al., 2019)

CHAPTER 2

IN VITRO INVESTIGATION OF MONOGLYCERIDES AND ZINC GLYCINATE: ANTI-INFLAMMATORY AND EPITHELIAL BARRIER FUNCTION

ABSTRACT

The objectives of this study were to investigate the in vitro immune-modulatory effects of monoglycerides and zinc glycinate with porcine alveolar macrophages (PAM) and their impact on epithelial barrier integrity using the intestinal porcine enterocyte cell line (IPEC-J2). A cell viability assay was performed for each compound to determine the appropriate dose range for each cell. In Exp. 1, IPEC-J2 cells (5×10^5 cells/mL) were seeded and treated with each compound (monoglycerides: 0, 25, 100, 250, 500, and 1,000 µg/mL; zinc glycinate: 0, 2, 5, 12.5, 25, and 50 µg/mL). Transepithelial electrical resistance (TEER) was measured by Ohm's law method at 0 h (before treatment) and at 24, 48, and 72 h post-treatment. In Exp. 2, PAM were collected from six clinically healthy piglets and seeded at 10⁶ cells/mL. After incubation, the cells were treated with each compound and/or lipopolysaccharide (LPS). The experimental design was a 2×6 factorial arrangement with 2 doses of LPS (0 or $1 \mu g/mL$) and 6 doses of each compound (monoglycerides: 0, 50, 100, 250, 500, and 1,000 µg/mL; zinc glycinate: 0, 25, 50, 100, 250, and 500 µg/mL). Cell supernatants were collected to analyze the concentrations of tumor necrosis factor-alpha (TNF- α) and interleukin-1 beta (IL-1ß) by enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay kits. Data were analyzed by ANOVA using PROC MIXED of SAS with a randomized complete block design. IPEC-J2 cells treated with 250 or 1,000 μ g/mL of monoglycerides had increased (P < 0.05) TEER values at 48 and 72 h post-treatment, while 5 μ g/mL of zinc glycinate showed increased (P < 0.0001)

TEER values at 72 h post-treatment, compared with control. LPS challenge increased (P < 0.05) the production of TNF- α and IL-1 β from PAM. In the non-challenge group, 50 or 100 µg/mL of monoglycerides stimulated (P < 0.05) TNF- α and IL-1 β production from PAMs. Treatment with 25 or 100 µg/mL of zinc glycinate also enhanced (P < 0.05) TNF- α production from PAM. In LPS-treated PAM, 1,000 µg/mL of monoglycerides increased (P < 0.05) IL-1 β production, while zinc glycinate suppressed (P < 0.0001) the secretion of TNF- α and IL-1 β at the doses of 100, 250, and 500 µg/mL. In conclusion, the results of this *in vitro* study indicate that monoglycerides positively affect the barrier function of the epithelium, while zinc glycinate may have strong immune regulatory benefits. Future *in vivo* animal studies will be required to verify their impacts on animal gut health, systemic immunity, and growth performance.

Key words: alveolar macrophage, immunomodulation, IPEC-J2 cells, monoglycerides, transepithelial electrical resistance, zinc glycinate

INTRODUCTION

Gastrointestinal barrier dysfunction is considered a primary factor in the development of various gastrointestinal diseases, causing inflammatory responses that disrupt host homeostasis and affect animal health and productivity (Pluske et al., 2018a; Pluske et al., 2018b). In this regard, weanling piglets become more vulnerable to environmental factors such as pathogens and toxins due to multifactorial stressors associated with weaning, combined with the immaturity of intestinal barrier elements (Moeser et al., 2017; Xiong et al., 2019; Tang et al., 2022). Pathogenic *Escherichia coli* infection is one of the major causes of diarrhea post-weaning, further compromising the intestinal system (He et al., 2020; Almeida et al., 2022). Restrictions on conventional practices and public concerns aligned with One Health have spurred research to identify alternatives that improve intestinal health and immunity in weaned pigs, aiming to prevent losses caused by enteric disease and maximize productivity (Liu et al., 2018; Patience and Ramirez, 2022; Rahman et al., 2022).

Recent studies have highlighted the potential and utilization of nutritional interventions that have demonstrated beneficial effects on modulating immune function and intestinal barrier function. Monoglycerides, fatty acid derivatives, are considered practical applications that overcome the limitations of fatty acids, such as unpleasant odors, and enhance their effectiveness by improving stability (Bedford and Gong, 2018; Jackman et al., 2020). It is well known that the length of fatty acids affects their biological activities, including immunomodulation and maintenance of intestinal integrity (Tugnoli et al., 2020; Zhang et al., 2021; Yan et al., 2023; Cundra et al., 2024). Similarly, zinc glycinate represents a sustainable approach that can reduce reliance on inorganic forms of zinc, such as zinc oxide, without compromising biological efficacy. As an organic form of zinc, it increases bioavailability (Nitrayova et al., 2012; Pearce et al., 2015).

Improved absorption and utilization of zinc not only reduces the amount needed to achieve the desired effects on animal health, but also mitigates potential risks associated with excessive zinc oxide use (Liu et al., 2016; Behjatian Esfahani et al., 2021). In addition, unlike other forms of zinc, glycine and zinc form stable chelates, enabling efficient binding and minimizing unnecessary reactions of zinc glycinate with other molecules (Kulkarni et al., 2011; Sun et al., 2020).

However, despite the potential of monoglyceride blends and zinc glycinate as practical practices, there is limited research regarding their effects on intestinal integrity and immune responses, which are crucial for protecting the host from external factors. Understanding the interactions between these practical practices and the intestinal barrier is essential for effective application, and a foundation can be established through *in vitro* experiments before proceeding to *in vivo* studies. Therefore, the objectives of this study were 1) to determine the effects of monoglycerides and zinc glycinate on epithelial barrier function by measuring transepithelial electrical resistance (TEER) with intestinal porcine enterocyte cell line (IPEC-J2); and 2) to investigate the *in vitro* anti-inflammatory effects of monoglycerides and zinc glycinate on lipopolysaccharide (LPS) treated porcine alveolar macrophages (PAM).

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Two experiments were conducted to achieve the objectives of this study. The monoglyceride blend of butyric, caprylic, and capric acids (BalanGut LS L) and zinc glycinate used in this study were obtained from BASF SE (Ludwigshafen, Germany). To prepare cell culture treatment, monoglyceride blend was first dissolved in dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO) and was further diluted with sterile Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium (DMEM/F12) or Roswell Park Memorial Institute (RPMI)-1640 medium for culturing IPEC-J2 cells or PAM, respectively. Culture media contained heat-inactivated fetal bovine serum (HyClone Laboratories, Inc., Logan, UT) and

antibiotics (Penicillin-Streptomycin; Mediatech, Inc., Manassas, VA). The final concentration of DMSO in monoglyceride blend treatment did not exceed 0.05%. Zinc glycinate is in solid form and was dissolved directly into cell culture medium in each experiment. The procedures of this study were adapted from previous research (Liu et al., 2012; Hejna et al., 2021).

Cell viability assay

Cell viability assays were performed in two experiments to determine the impacts of monoglycerides and zinc glycinate on the cell viability of IPEC-J2 cells and PAM by a Vybrant MTT Cell Proliferation Assay Kit (Invitrogen Corporation, Carlsbad, CA). MTT, a 3-(4,5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2,5-diphenyltetrazolium bromide, measures the metabolic activity of cells via mitochondrial enzymes which catalyze a color change reaction (Mosmann, 1983). Briefly, cells in 96-well plates were treated with different treatments as described in each experiment, then incubated at 37°C and 5% CO₂ for 24 h. After the incubation, all media was removed and fresh culture medium and MTT solution were added to each well. After 4 h of incubation at 37°C, all cell medium was removed from each well, and then DMSO was added and thoroughly mixed. The color change reaction was quantified by optical density (OD) measured at 540 nm with a reference wavelength of 630 nm (Synergy HTX Multi-Mode Microplate Reader, BioTek, Winooski, VT) after 10 min of incubation. The average OD of the untreated control group was calculated and set to 100%. The relative viability was calculated using the following Eq. [1]:

Cell viability,
$$\% = (OD_{treated cells}/mean OD_{untreated control}) \times 100$$
 [1]

The percentage of live cells obtained for each treatment represents both viability and proliferation.

Experiment 1. Epithelial Barrier Function with IPEC-J2 Cells

IPEC-J2 cells were purchased from Leibniz Institute DSMZ-German Collection of Microorganisms and Cell Cultures GmbH (Braunschweig, Germany) and cultured with DMEM/F12 growth media. The final cell concentration was adjusted to 5×10^5 cells/mL (Geens and Niewold, 2011). Then 0.5 mL of IPEC-J2 cell suspension was seeded in each well of 12-well plates on 1.12 cm^2 Corning polycarbonate transwell tissue culture treated inserts (0.4 µm pores; Corning Inc., Corning, NY). Plates were then incubated at 37°C in a humidified 5% CO₂ incubator for adherence. Culture media was changed every other day and cells were cultured for a total of 4 to 5 days until confluence was reached and the TEER values were close to 1,000 Ω cm². After that, all cells were treated with 0.6 mL new media containing different doses of monoglycerides and zinc glycinate in the apical chamber of the transwell inserts. The experimental design for each tested compound was 4 (different time points) \times 6 (6 different levels of tested compound) factorial arrangement in a randomized complete block design with 6 replicates in duplicate wells. The tested doses for monoglycerides were: 0, 25, 100, 250, 500, and 1,000 µg/mL. The tested doses for zinc glycinate were: 0, 2, 5, 12.5, 25, and 50 µg/mL. These doses were selected for cell culture treatments based on preliminary cytotoxicity assays using IPEC-J2 cells. TEER of IPEC-J2 cells were measured (Ωcm^2) at 0 h (before treatment) and at 24, 48, and 72 h post-treatment using a Millicell ERS-2 voltohmmeter (MilliporeSigma, St. Louis, MO). Wells in duplicate containing transwell inserts and culture medium with no cells were used as blank measurements at each time point. Culture plates were allowed to reach room temperature before measurements in order to attain stable TEER readings. Electrodes were rinsed with 70% ethanol, 0.1 M NaCl solution, and finally pre-warmed medium between readings of wells containing different treatments. The resistance of each monolayer was calculated (Eq. 2) and was inversely proportional to the area of the membrane (Eq. 3), based on methodology by Srinivasan et al. (2015):

 $\mathbf{R}_{\text{monolayer}}, \, \Omega = \mathbf{R}_{\text{sample}} - \mathbf{R}_{\text{blank}}$ [2]

$$\Gamma EER_{reported}, \ \Omega cm^2 = R_{monolayer}, \ \Omega \times monolayer \ area, \ cm^2$$
[3]

Experiment 2. Anti-inflammatory Effects with Porcine Alveolar Macrophages

The protocol for this study was reviewed and approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee at the University of California, Davis (IACUC# 21875). PAM were collected from six clinically healthy piglets at 7 wk of age. Before euthanization, pigs were anesthetized with 1 mL mixture of 100 mg telazol, 50 mg ketamine, and 50 mg xylazine (2:1:1) by intramuscular injection. After anesthesia, pigs were euthanized by intracardiac injection with 78 mg Fatal-Plus solution (sodium pentobarbital, MWI Animal Health, Visalia, CA) per 1 kg of body weight. PAM were collected by bronchoalveolar lavage according to the procedures as described in previous research (Liu et al., 2012). Nonviable cells were distinguished by trypan blue (Sigma-Aldrich Co., St. Louis, MO) staining method, while live cells that excluded the dye were counted using a hemocytometer (Fisher Scientific, Inc., Pittsburgh, PA). The final cell concentration was adjusted to 10⁶ cells/mL. The viability of the cells was greater than 97%. In this paper, we use the term "porcine alveolar macrophages" because the majority of bronchoalveolar lavage fluid cells are macrophages (Dickie et al., 2009).

PAM were cultured in 24- or 96-well cluster plates at a density of 10^5 cells/mL. All plates were incubated overnight at 37°C in a humidified 5% CO₂ incubator to allow macrophages to adhere to the bottom. The nonadherent cells were washed away with pre-warmed RPMI-1640 medium. Adhered macrophages were treated in duplicate with fresh pre-warmed RPMI-1640 containing different treatments. Monoglycerides and zinc glycinate were tested with the same experimental design as a 2 (without or with 1 µg of LPS/mL) × 6 (6 different levels of tested compound) factorial arrangement in a randomized complete block design. The tested doses for monoglycerides were: 0, 50, 100, 250, 500, and 1,000 μ g/mL. The tested doses for zinc glycinate were: 0, 25, 50, 100, 250, and 500 μ g/mL. These doses were selected for cell culture treatments based on preliminary cytotoxicity assays using PAM. After 24 h more of incubation, the supernatants in duplicates were collected, pooled, and stored at -80° C. Supernatants were analyzed for the concentrations of tumor necrosis factor-alpha (TNF- α) and interleukin-1 beta (IL-1 β) by commercial enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay kits (R&D Systems, Inc., Minneapolis, MN).

Statistical Analysis

All data generated from different assays were analyzed by ANOVA using the MIXED procedure (SAS 9.4, SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC) with different statistical models. The statistical model of the PAM assays included LPS challenge, doses of treatment, and their interaction as fixed effects and block as a random effect. In the TEER assays, a pool of duplicate wells was considered an experimental unit and the statistical model included the effects of dose as a fixed effect and plate as a random effect. Data are presented as least-squares means and standard error of the means. Probability values of < 0.05 were considered to be significant.

RESULTS

Transepithelial Electrical Resistance of IPEC-J2 Cells

Cell viability was not affected by monoglycerides with the dose up to 1,000 µg/mL. Zinc glycinate exhibited (P < 0.05) cytotoxic effects on IPEC-J2 cells when the dose was increased to 50 µg/mL. Compared with the control, 250 and 1,000 µg/mL monoglycerides increased (P < 0.05) TEER values in IPEC-J2 cells at 48 and 72 h post-treatment (Figure 2.1a). Cells treated with 5 µg/mL zinc glycinate had increased (P < 0.0001) TEER values at 72 h post-treatment

compared with control (Figure 2.1b). However, cells treated with the highest dose (50 μ g/mL) of zinc glycinate had the lowest (*P* < 0.05) TEER values at 24, 48, and 72 h post-treatment.

Pro-inflammatory Cytokines Secretion in Porcine Alveolar Macrophages

The lowest cell viability of PAM for both treatments was around 86%, indicating no cytotoxic effects from supplementing monoglycerides up to 1,000 µg/mL and zinc glycinate up to 500 µg/mL. The LPS challenge increased (P < 0.05) cell viability of PAM compared with the non-challenged group in both tested compounds. The levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines secreted by PAM in the absence or presence of LPS are shown in Figure 2.2. Treatment with LPS stimulated (P < 0.05) TNF- α and IL-1 β production from PAM. In the non-challenge groups, supplementing with 50 or 100 µg/mL of monoglycerides increased (P < 0.05) TNF- α and IL-1 β production from PAM. In the non-challenge groups, supplementing of TNF- α from PAM, but not for IL-1 β . In the LPS challenge groups, no difference was observed in TNF- α production when PAM were treated with monoglycerides at any dose, however, 1,000 µg/mL of monoglycerides increased (P < 0.05) IL-1 β production. Zinc glycinate suppressed (P < 0.0001) the secretion of TNF- α and IL-1 β at the doses of 100, 250, and 500 µg/mL from LPS-treated PAM.

DISCUSSION

The gastrointestinal barrier, comprising both physical and immunological factors, plays an important role in protecting the host from external pro-inflammatory agents (Wong et al., 2022; Wang et al., 2023). To develop effective management strategies for weaned piglets, which are susceptible to enteric diseases such as enterotoxigenic *Escherichia coli* due to intestinal barrier dysfunction, it is essential to understand the interactions among the components of the intestinal barrier. The present *in vitro* study investigated the potential of a monoglyceride blend and zinc

glycinate to enhance epithelial barrier integrity and regulate inflammatory responses, which are critical for preventing inflammatory diseases and improving intestinal health and productivity in animals. The results of this study provide a foundational understanding that can be extended to *in vivo* research.

IPEC-J2 cells, derived from the jejunum of a neonatal piglet, have been used to assess the influence of test compounds on parameters related to epithelial homeostasis, as they effectively mimic the barrier function of the porcine intestinal epithelium (Vergauwen, 2015; Marks et al., 2022). To evaluate the effect of monoglycerides and zinc glycinate on the barrier integrity of IPEC-J2 cells, the TEER value of the polarized IPEC-J2 cell monolayer was measured. TEER measurements have been widely used to monitor changes in the integrity of epithelial monolayer at various time points without undesirable interference with the cells (Srinivasan et al., 2015). Epithelial cells treated with monoglycerides up to 1,000 µg/mL developed stronger barrier function in vitro. This observation may be partially explained by the beneficial effects of fatty acids on cell metabolism, including serving as an energy source for enterocytes, which helps maintain intestinal integrity (Xiong et al., 2019; Jia et al., 2020; Lauridsen, 2020). Similar to our results, previous studies have reported improved intestinal development, as indicated by intestinal morphology and tight junction protein expression in starter phase chickens supplemented with monoglycerides (Kumar et al., 2021; Liu et al., 2023). Zinc glycinate also shows potential for improving epithelial barrier function over time, as indicated by the improved TEER when cells were treated with 5 µg/mL of zinc glycinate. However, at higher concentration, zinc glycinate may begin to exert detrimental effects, such as stress, potentially leading to decreased permeability. This aligns with the decreased cell viability observed in the MTT results at the highest concentration of zinc glycinate. Zinc is known to play a crucial role in various biological processes

related to the immune system, enzyme activity, and intestinal integrity (Bonetti et al., 2021). However, it may have toxic effects at excessively high concentrations (Brink et al., 1956; Burrough et al., 2019). Our observations may be attributed to the high bioavailability of zinc glycinate and suggest the possibility of different thresholds for adverse effects across various cell types.

Appropriate immune responses to external factors are important to maintain intestinal homeostasis, but excessive inflammatory responses may lead to leaky gut and additional exposure to pro-inflammatory factors (Lambert, 2009; Liu, 2015). Macrophages play an important role in mediating inflammatory responses, and PAM cell model has been used to investigate cytokine secretion by macrophages induced by LPS (Liu et al., 2012; Hejna et al., 2021). Low doses of monoglycerides and zinc glycinate increased pro-inflammatory cytokine production from nonchallenged macrophages, which indicates that both products may stimulate the activation of innate immune responses under normal conditions. While monoglycerides had limited anti-inflammatory effects, zinc glycinate exhibited strong anti-inflammatory benefits when macrophages were challenged with LPS, consistent with the beneficial effects of zinc on intestinal homeostasis, including immune-modulatory effects mentioned above (Bonetti et al., 2021). Consistent with our findings, Kloubert et al. (2018) observed an improvement in innate immune cell function, as indicated by phagocytosis and oxidative burst, with zinc supplementation. In addition, Roselli et al. (2003) also reported zinc supplementation reduced pro-inflammatory cytokine secretion induced by enterotoxigenic Escherichia coli. Meanwhile, results obtained with monoglyceride blend in the current study are in line with the report of Sivinski et al. (2020), who reported that monoglyceride increased nuclear factor kappa-light-chain-enhancer of activated B cells (NF-κB) activation in macrophages in the absence of LPS challenge, but decreased NF-kB activation in a dose-dependent manner under LPS. Further studies are needed to elucidate the immunomodulatory effects of monoglycerides and their complex dose-response relationship in a weaned pig model.

In conclusion, the current *in vitro* cell culture assays suggest that monoglycerides target epithelial cells and enhance barrier function, while confirming the anti-inflammatory benefits of zinc glycinate. Future research is needed to explore the potential of monoglycerides and zinc glycinate as practical practices for improving intestinal homeostasis in animal studies and to focus on their modes of action. Additionally, the present study also indicates that epithelial cells are more sensitive to zinc glycinate than immune cells. Further investigation into the cytotoxic tolerance difference between these cell types would be valuable.

LITERATURE CITED

- Almeida, M., G. Li, N. Macedo, and P. Pineyro. 2022. F18 Escherichia coli update. Proc. ISU James D. McKean Swine Disease Conference. p. 33–35.
- Bedford, A., and J. Gong. 2018. Implications of butyrate and its derivatives for gut health and animal production. Anim. Nutr. 4:151–159. doi:10.1016/j.aninu.2017.08.010.
- Behjatian Esfahani, M., H. Moravej, M. Ghaffarzadeh, and G. A. Nehzati Paghaleh. 2021.
 Comparison the Zn-threonine, Zn-methionine, and Zn oxide on performance, egg quality,
 Zn bioavailability, and Zn content in egg and excreta of laying hens. Biol. Trace Elem.
 Res. 199:292–304. doi:10.1007/s12011-020-02141-8.
- Bonetti, A., B. Tugnoli, A. Piva, and E. Grilli. 2021. Towards zero zinc oxide: feeding strategies to manage post-weaning diarrhea in piglets. Animals. 11:642. doi:10.3390/ani11030642.
- Brink, M. F., D. E. Becker, S. W. Terrill, and A. H. Jensen. 1956. Zinc toxicity in the weanling pig. J. Anim. Sci. 18:836–842. doi:10.2527/jas1959.182836x.
- Burrough, E. R., C. De Mille, and N. K. Gabler. 2019. Zinc overload in weaned pigs: tissue accumulation, pathology, and growth impacts. J. Vet. Diagnostic Investig. 31:537–545. doi:10.1177/1040638719852144.
- Cundra, L. B., M. Vallabhaneni, K. Houston, M. Saadeh, A. Vargas, S. M. D'souza, and D. A. Johnson. 2024. Nutritional effects on mucosal integrity and immune function. Explor. Immunol. 4:90–105. doi:10.37349/ei.2024.00130.
- Dickie, R., D. R. Tasat, E. F. Alanis, V. Delfosse, and A. Tsuda. 2009. Age-dependent changes in porcine alveolar macrophage function during the postnatal period of alveolarization.
 Dev. Comp. Immunol. 33:145–151. doi:10.1016/j.dci.2008.07.016.

- Geens, M. M., and T. A. Niewold. 2011. Optimizing culture conditions of a porcine epithelial cell line IPEC-J2 through a histological and physiological characterization. Cytotechnology. 63:415–423. doi:10.1007/s10616-011-9362-9.
- He, Y., K. Kim, L. Kovanda, C. Jinno, M. Song, J. Chase, X. Li, B. Tan, and Y. Liu. 2020.Bacillus subtilis: a potential growth promoter in weaned pigs in comparison to carbadox.J. Anim. Sci. 98:skaa290. doi:10.1093/jas/skaa290.
- Hejna, M., L. Kovanda, L. Rossi, and Y. Liu. 2021. Mint oils: in vitro ability to perform antiinflammatory, antioxidant, and antimicrobial activities and to enhance intestinal barrier integrity. Antioxidants. 10:1004. doi:10.3390/antiox10071004.
- Jackman, J. A., R. D. Boyd, and C. C. Elrod. 2020. Medium-chain fatty acids and monoglycerides as feed additives for pig production: towards gut health improvement and feed pathogen mitigation. J. Anim. Sci. Biotechnol. 11:44. doi:10.1186/s40104-020-00446-1.
- Jia, M., Y. Zhang, Y. Gao, and X. Ma. 2020. Effects of medium chain fatty acids on intestinal health of monogastric animals. Curr. Protein Pept. Sci. 21:777–784. doi:10.2174/1389203721666191231145901.
- Kloubert, V., K. Blaabjerg, T. S. Dalgaard, H. D. Poulsen, L. Rink, and I. Wessels. 2018.
 Influence of zinc supplementation on immune parameters in weaned pigs. J. Trace Elem.
 Med. Biol. 49:231–240. doi:10.1016/j.jtemb.2018.01.006.
- Kulkarni, R. C., H. P. Shrivastava, A. B. Mandal, C. Deo, K. Y. Deshpande, R. Singh, and S. K.
 Bhanja. 2011. Assessment of growth performance, immune response and mineral retention in colour broilers as influenced by dietary iron. Anim. Nutr. Feed Technol. 11:81–90.

- Kumar, A., S. K. Kheravii, L. Li, and S. B. Wu. 2021. Monoglyceride blend reduces mortality, improves nutrient digestibility, and intestinal health in broilers subjected to clinical necrotic enteritis challenge. Animals. 11:1432. doi:10.3390/ani11051432.
- Lambert, G. P. 2009. Stress-induced gastrointestinal barrier dysfunction and its inflammatory effects. J. Anim. Sci. 87:E101–E108. doi:10.2527/jas.2008-1339.
- Lauridsen, C. 2020. Effects of dietary fatty acids on gut health and function of pigs pre-and postweaning. J. Anim. Sci. 98:skaa086. doi:10.1093/JAS/SKAA086.
- Liu, B., P. Xiong, N. Chen, J. He, G. Lin, Y. Xue, W. Li, and D. Yu. 2016. Effects of replacing of inorganic trace minerals by organically bound trace minerals on growth performance, tissue mineral status, and fecal mineral excretion in commercial grower-finisher pigs.
 Biol. Trace Elem. Res. 173:316–324. doi:10.1007/s12011-016-0658-7.
- Liu, T., S. Ruan, Q. Mo, M. Zhao, J. Wang, Z. Ye, L. Chen, and F. Feng. 2023. Evaluation of dynamic effects of dietary medium-chain monoglycerides on performance, intestinal development and gut microbiota of broilers in large-scale production. Anim. Nutr. 14:269–280. doi:10.1016/j.aninu.2023.05.003.
- Liu, Y. 2015. Fatty acids, inflammation and intestinal health in pigs. J. Anim. Sci. Biotechnol. 6:41. doi:10.1186/s40104-015-0040-1.
- Liu, Y., C. D. Espinosa, J. J. Abelilla, G. A. Casas, L. V. Lagos, S. A. Lee, W. B. Kwon, J. K. Mathai, D. M. D. L. Navarro, N. W. Jaworski, and H. H. Stein. 2018. Non-antibiotic feed additives in diets for pigs: a review. Anim. Nutr. 4:113–125. doi:10.1016/j.aninu.2018.01.007.

- Liu, Y., M. Song, T. M. Che, D. Bravo, and J. E. Pettigrew. 2012. Anti-inflammatory effects of several plant extracts on porcine alveolar macrophages in vitro. J. Anim. Sci. 90:2774– 2783. doi:10.2527/jas.2011-4304.
- Marks, H., Ł. Grześkowiak, B. Martinez-Vallespin, H. Dietz, and J. Zentek. 2022. Porcine and chicken intestinal epithelial cell models for screening phytogenic feed additives—
 chances and limitations in use as alternatives to feeding trials. Microorganisms. 10:629. doi:10.3390/microorganisms10030629.
- Moeser, A. J., C. S. Pohl, and M. Rajput. 2017. Weaning stress and gastrointestinal barrier development: implications for lifelong gut health in pigs. Anim. Nutr. 3:313–321. doi:10.1016/j.aninu.2017.06.003.
- Mosmann, T. 1983. Rapid colorimetric assay for cellular growth and survival: application to proliferation and cytotoxicity assays. J. Immunol. Methods. 65:55–63. doi:10.1016/0022-1759(83)90303-4.
- Nitrayova, S., W. Windisch, E. von Heimendahl, A. Müller, and J. Bartelt. 2012. Bioavailability of zinc from different sources in pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 90:185–187. doi:10.2527/jas.53895.
- Patience, J. F., and A. Ramirez. 2022. Invited review: strategic adoption of antibiotic-free pork production: the importance of a holistic approach. Transl. Anim. Sci. 6:1–44. doi:10.1093/tas/txac063.
- Pearce, S. C., M. V. Sanz Fernandez, J. Torrison, M. E. Wilson, L. H. Baumgard, and N. K. Gabler. 2015. Dietary organic zinc attenuates heat stress–induced changes in pig intestinal integrity and metabolism. J. Anim. Sci. 93:4702–4713. doi:10.2527/jas.2015-9018.

- Pluske, J. R., J. C. Kim, and J. L. Black. 2018a. Manipulating the immune system for pigs to optimise performance. Anim. Prod. Sci. 58:666–680. doi:10.1071/AN17598.
- Pluske, J. R., D. L. Turpin, and J.-C. Kim. 2018b. Gastrointestinal tract (gut) health in the young pig. Anim. Nutr. 4:187–196. doi:10.1016/j.aninu.2017.12.004.
- Rahman, M. R. T., I. Fliss, and E. Biron. 2022. Insights in the development and uses of alternatives to antibiotic growth promoters in poultry and swine production. Antibiotics. 11:766. doi:10.3390/antibiotics11060766.
- Roselli, M., A. Finamore, I. Garaguso, M. S. Britti, and E. Mengheri. 2003. Zinc oxide protects cultured enterocytes from the damage induced by Escherichia coli. J. Nutr. 133:4077– 4082. doi:10.1093/jn/133.12.4077.
- Sivinski, S. E., L. K. Mamedova, R. A. Rusk, C. C. Elrod, T. H. Swartz, J. M. McGill, and B. J. Bradford. 2020. Development of an in vitro macrophage screening system on the immunomodulating effects of feed components. J. Anim. Sci. Biotechnol. 11:89. doi:10.1186/s40104-020-00497-4.
- Srinivasan, B., A. R. Kolli, M. B. Esch, H. E. Abaci, M. L. Shuler, and J. J. Hickman. 2015. TEER measurement techniques for in vitro barrier model systems. J. Lab. Autom. 20:107–126. doi:10.1177/2211068214561025.
- Sun, W., G. Wang, X. Pei, L. Liu, Z. Xiao, W. Tao, M. U. Yaqoob, M. Wang, M. Huai, L. Li, and W. Pelletier. 2020. Effects of replacing inorganic with respective complexed glycinate minerals on apparent mineral bioavailability and deposition rate in tissues of broiler breeders. Biol. Trace Elem. Res. 198:654–660. doi:10.1007/s12011-020-02102-1.
- Tang, X., K. Xiong, R. Fang, and M. Li. 2022. Weaning stress and intestinal health of piglets: a review. Front. Immunol. 13:1042778. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2022.1042778.

- Tugnoli, B., G. Giovagnoni, A. Piva, and E. Grilli. 2020. From acidifiers to intestinal health enhancers: how organic acids can improve growth efficiency of pigs. Animals. 10:134. doi:10.3390/ani10010134.
- Vergauwen, H. 2015. The IPEC-J2 cell line. In: K. Verhoeckx, P. Cotter, I. Lopez-Exposito, C. Kleiveland, T. Lea, A. Mackie, and H. Wichers, editors, The impact of food bioactives on health: in vitro and ex vivo models. Springer, Cham, Switzerland. p. 125–134.
- Wang, L., C. Wang, Y. Peng, Y. Zhang, Yuxin Liu, Yan Liu, and Y. Yin. 2023. Research progress on anti-stress nutrition strategies in swine. Anim. Nutr. 13:342–360. doi:10.1016/j.aninu.2023.03.006.
- Wong, B. T., S. Park, L. Kovanda, Y. He, K. Kim, S. Xu, C. Lingga, M. Hejna, E. Wall, R. Sripathy, X. Li, and Y. Liu. 2022. Dietary supplementation of botanical blends enhanced performance and disease resistance of weaned pigs experimentally infected with enterotoxigenic Escherichia coli F18. J. Anim. Sci. 100:skac353. doi:10.1093/jas/skac353.
- Xiong, X., B. Tan, M. Song, P. Ji, K. Kim, Y. Yin, and Y. Liu. 2019. Nutritional intervention for the intestinal development and health of weaned pigs. Front. Vet. Sci. 6:46. doi:10.3389/fvets.2019.00046.
- Yan, D., S. Ye, Y. He, S. Wang, Y. Xiao, X. Xiang, M. Deng, W. Luo, X. Chen, and X. Wang.
 2023. Fatty acids and lipid mediators in inflammatory bowel disease: from mechanism to treatment. Front. Immunol. 14:1286667. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2023.1286667.
- Zhang, M., Y. Wang, X. Zhao, C. Liu, B. Wang, and J. Zhou. 2021. Mechanistic basis and preliminary practice of butyric acid and butyrate sodium to mitigate gut inflammatory diseases: a comprehensive review. Nutr. Res. 95:1–18. doi:10.1016/j.nutres.2021.08.007.

TABLES AND FIGURES



Figure 2.1. Effects of monoglycerides (**a**) and zinc-glycinate (**b**) on the transepithelial electrical resistance (TEER) of IPEC-J2 cells (0 to 72 h). The tested doses were 0, 25, 100, 250, 500, and 1,000 μ g/mL for monoglycerides and 0, 2, 5, 12.5, 25, and 50 μ g/mL for zinc-glycinate. The results were means of values from 6 observations. ^{a,b,c}Means without a common superscript are different (*P* < 0.05).



Figure 2.2. Monoglycerides (**a** and **b**) and zinc-glycinate (**c** and **d**) influenced the production of tumor necrosis factor-alpha (TNF- α ; **a** and **c**) and Interleukin-1 beta (IL-1 β ; **b** and **d**) from porcine alveolar macrophages (PAM) in the absence or presence of lipopolysaccharide (LPS). PAM were incubated with various concentrations (monoglycerides = 0, 50, 100, 250, 500, and 1,000

 μ g/mL; zinc-glycinate = 0, 25, 50, 100, 250, and 500 μ g/mL) of each compound in the presence or absence of LPS (0 or 1 μ g/mL) for 24 h. The results were means of values from 6 observations. ^{a,b,c}Means without a common superscript are different (*P* < 0.05).
CHAPTER 3

EFFECTS OF MONOGLYCERIDE BLEND ON SYSTEMIC AND INTESTINAL IMMUNE RESPONSES, AND GUT HEALTH OF WEANED PIGS EXPERIMENTALLY INFECTED WITH A PATHOGENIC *ESCHERICHIA COLI*

ABSTRACT

Monoglycerides have emerged as a promising alternative to conventional practices due to their biological activities, including antimicrobial properties. However, few studies have assessed the efficacy of monoglyceride blend on weaned pigs and their impacts on performance, immune response, and gut health using a disease challenge model. Therefore, this study aimed to investigate the effects of dietary monoglycerides of short- and medium-chain fatty acids on the immunity and gut health of weaned pigs experimentally infected with an enterotoxigenic Escherichia coli F18. Pigs supplemented with high-dose zinc oxide (ZNO; 3,000 mg/kg) had greater (P < 0.05) growth performance than control, monoglycerides, and antibiotic supplemented groups; however, no difference was observed in average daily feed intake between ZNO and monoglycerides groups during the post-challenge period. Pigs in ZNO and antibiotic groups had lower (P < 0.05) severity of diarrhea than control, but the severity of diarrhea was not different between antibiotic and monoglycerides groups. Pigs fed with monoglycerides or ZNO had lower (P < 0.05) serum haptoglobin on d 2 or 5 post-inoculation than control. Pigs in ZNO had greater (P < 0.05) goblet cell numbers per villus, villus area and height, and villus height:crypt depth ratio (VH:CD) in duodenum on d 5 post-inoculation than pigs in other treatments. Pigs supplemented with monoglycerides, ZNO, or antibiotic had reduced (P < 0.05) ileal crypt depth compared with control

on d 5 post-inoculation, contributing to the increase (P = 0.06) in VH:CD. Consistently, pigs in ZNO expressed the lowest (P < 0.05) *TNFa*, *IL6*, *IL10*, *IL12*, *IL1A*, *IL1B*, and *PTGS2* in ileal mucosa on d 5 post-inoculation, and no difference was observed in the expression of those genes between ZNO and monoglycerides. Supplementation of ZNO and antibiotic had significant impacts on metabolic pathways in the serum compared with control, particularly on carbohydrate and amino acids metabolism, while limited impacts on serum metabolites were observed in monoglycerides group when compared with control. The results suggest that supplementation of diarrhea and mitigating intestinal and systemic inflammation, although the effectiveness may not be comparable to high-dose zinc oxide.

Keywords: Diarrhea, Enterotoxigenic *Escherichia coli*, Gut health, Monoglycerides, Systemic immunity, Weaned pigs

INTRODUCTION

Weaning piglets, the process of separating them from their mother, exposes them to nutritional, physiological, and environmental challenges (Weary et al., 2008; Heo et al., 2013; Pluske, 2016). These weaning stressors impair intestinal barrier function and induce intestinal and systemic inflammation, in addition to the typically occurring decrease in feed intake (Campbell et al., 2013; Xiong et al., 2019). The compromised intestinal barrier increases the risk of external factors (e.g., toxins, antigens, and pathogens) entering the body, making piglets vulnerable to enteric diseases (Smith et al., 2010; Tang et al., 2022). Post-weaning diarrhea, caused by the infection of enterotoxigenic Escherichia coli (ETEC) F18, is one of the common problems in young pigs (Nagy and Fekete, 1999; Nagy and Fekete, 2005). This disease is characterized by watery diarrhea and deterioration of intestinal health, causing tremendous economic losses in swine production due to growth lag, morbidity, cost of medication, and mortality (Zhang et al., 2007; Nadeau et al., 2017; Cremonesi et al., 2022; Kim et al., 2022b). In-feed antibiotics or pharmacological doses of zinc oxide (2,000-3,000 mg/kg) have been widely applied to nursery diets for controlling post-weaning diarrhea and promoting animal health and growth (De Briyne et al., 2014; López-Gálvez et al., 2021; Xie et al., 2021). However, along with the increased public health concern regarding antimicrobial resistance (McEwen, 2006; EFSA Panel on Additives and Products or Substances used in Animal Feed (FEEDAP), 2014; Kraemer et al., 2019; Aslam et al., 2021; Lallès and Montoya, 2021; Monger et al., 2021), the use of antibiotics for growth promoting purposes in animal production has been restricted since 2017 in the United States (Food and Drug Administration, 2013). Furthermore, considering sustainable animal agriculture, it is noteworthy that Europe not only banned the use of pharmacological doses of zinc oxide but also limited dietary zinc oxide supplementation to 150 mg/kg (European Commission, 2003; European Commission,

2016; Bonetti et al., 2021). Hence, alternative practices, including animal management and nutrition interventions, are needed to promote animal health and welfare, as increased morbidity and economic losses due to the constraints of conventional practices are inevitable.

Numerous nutritional interventions (e.g., exogenous enzymes, bioactive compounds derived from animals or plants, microbiome modulators) have been investigated and adopted in the swine industry to address the emergence of the post-antibiotic era (Kil and Stein, 2010; Liu et al., 2018). One promising alternative is a group of products based on organic acids, specifically short-chain fatty acids (SCFA; less than 6 carbons) or medium-chain fatty acids (MCFA; 6-12 carbons). Research has shown that SCFA and MCFA have strong antibacterial activity (Van Immerseel et al., 2004; Mathis et al., 2005; Kovanda et al., 2019). In addition, they also exhibit various biological activities in pigs (Decuypere and Dierick, 2003; Nguyen et al., 2020; Tugnoli et al., 2020), including beneficial effects on growth performance, intestinal physiology, and immunity, making them more than just an energy source. However, the effectiveness of supplementing organic fatty acids is often hindered by limiting factors such as unpalatable flavor and losses prior to reaching the lower gastrointestinal tract (Oprean et al., 2011; Pituch et al., 2013). In this respect, monoglycerides, composed of fatty acid esterified to glycerol, may address the limitations due to the two criteria: (1) they are relatively easy to handle; and (2) they allow active substances to be gradually released throughout the intestine (Bedford and Gong, 2018). Moreover, in vitro antimicrobial activity against a wide range of pathogenic bacteria was observed in glycerol esters derived from SCFA and MCFA (Namkung et al., 2011; Hyldgaard et al., 2012; Churchward et al., 2018; Kovanda et al., 2019; Wang et al., 2020). There is growing interest in monoglycerides as antibacterial lipids in nutrition and health. Their physiological activities have been extensively studied in poultry (Jahanian and Golshadi, 2015; Arabshahi et al., 2021; Kumar et al., 2021),

however, limited research has been reported on the efficacy of monoglycerides in weaned pigs using disease models. Therefore, the objective of this study was to investigate the influence of dietary supplementation of a monoglyceride blend on growth performance, intestinal health, and systemic immunity of weaned pigs experimentally infected with ETEC F18.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Animals, housing, experimental design, and diet

Sixty weaned pigs with 28 barrows and 32 gilts (average body weight $[BW] = 6.49 \pm 0.74$ kg; around 21 to 24 d old) were obtained from the Swine Teaching and Research Center at the University of California, Davis. The sows and piglets used in this experiment did not receive *Escherichia coli* vaccines, antibiotic injections, or antibiotics in creep feed. Before weaning, feces were collected from sows and all their piglets destined for this study to verify the absence of β -hemolytic *Escherichia coli*. The ETEC F18 receptor status was also tested by polymerase chain reaction (PCR)-restriction fragment length polymorphism (Kreuzer et al., 2013), and piglets susceptible to ETEC F18 were selected for this study. After weaning, all pigs were randomly assigned to one of the four dietary treatments (15 replicates/treatment) in a randomized complete block design with BW within sex and litter as the block and pig as the experimental unit. Pigs were housed in individual pens (0.61 m × 1.22 m) for 28 days, including 7 days before and 21 days after the first ETEC challenge. All piglets had free access to feed and water. The light was on at 07:30 h and off at 19:30 h daily in the environmental control unit.

The four dietary treatments included: 1) a corn-soybean meal-based basal diet (control); 2) the basal diet with 0.3% monoglyceride blend (BalanGut[™] LS L; BASF SE, Ludwigshafen, Germany) of butyric, caprylic, and capric acids; 3) the basal diet with 3,000 mg/kg of zinc oxide (ZNO); 4) the basal diet with 50 mg/kg of carbadox (antibiotic). A 2-phase feeding program was

used with the first two weeks as phase 1 and the last two weeks as phase 2 (Table 3.1). Spray-dried plasma, antibiotics, and high levels of zinc oxide exceeding recommendation and normal practice were not included in basal diet. All diets were formulated to meet pig nutritional requirements (NRC, 2012) and provided as mash form throughout the experiment.

After 7 days of adaptation, all pigs were orally inoculated with 3 mL of ETEC F18 for three consecutive days from d 0 post-inoculation (PI). The ETEC F18 was originally isolated from a field disease outbreak by the University of Montreal (isolate number: ECL22131). The ETEC F18 expresses heat-labile toxin and heat-stable toxins a and b. The inoculums were prepared at 10¹⁰ colony-forming units per 3 mL dose in phosphate buffered saline. This dose caused mild diarrhea in the current study, consistent with our previously published research (Liu et al., 2013; Kim et al., 2019a; He et al., 2022).

Clinical observations and sample collections

The procedures of this experiment were adapted from previous research (Liu et al., 2013; Kim et al., 2019b; He et al., 2020; Wong et al., 2022). Clinical observations (fecal score and alertness score) were recorded twice daily throughout the study. The fecal score of each pig was assessed each day visually by two independent evaluators, with the score ranging from 1 to 5 (1 = normal feces, 2 = moist feces, 3 = mild diarrhea, 4 = severe diarrhea, and 5 = watery diarrhea). The frequency of diarrhea was calculated as the percentage of the pig days with fecal score of 3 or greater, as well as calculated as the percentage of the pig days with fecal score of 4 or greater. Alertness was scored from 1 to 3 (1 = normal, 2 = slightly depressed or listless, and 3 = severely depressed or recumbent). Scores for alertness did not exceed two throughout the experiment (data not shown). Pigs were weighed on weaning day (d -7; initial BW), d 0 (before the first inoculation), 5, 14, and 21 PI. Feed intake was recorded throughout the study. Average daily gain (ADG), average daily feed intake (ADFI), and feed efficiency (gain:feed ratio) were calculated for each period. Fecal samples were collected from the rectum of all pigs throughout the experiment using a cotton swab on d -7, 2, 5, 7, 10, 14, and 21 PI to test β -hemolytic coliforms and the percentage of β -hemolytic coliforms to total coliforms (Liu et al., 2013; Kim et al., 2019b; He et al., 2020; Wong et al., 2022). Blood samples were collected from the jugular vein of all pigs before ETEC challenge (d 0), and on d 2, 5, 14, and 21 PI to collect serum samples, which were stored at -80 °C until further analysis.

Twenty-four pigs (6 pigs/treatment, 3 barrows and 3 gilts) were euthanized on d 5 PI near the peak of ETEC infection, and the remaining pigs were euthanized at the end of the experiment (d 21 PI). Before euthanization, pigs were anesthetized with 1 mL mixture of 100 mg telazol, 50 mg ketamine, and 50 mg xylazine (2:1:1) by intramuscular injection. After anesthesia, intracardiac injection with 78 mg Fatal-Plus solution (sodium pentobarbital, MWI Animal Health, Visalia, CA, USA) per 1 kg of BW was used to euthanize each pig. Intestinal mucosa samples were collected from jejunum and ileum, snap-frozen in liquid nitrogen, and then stored at -80 °C for gene expression analysis. Three 4-cm segments from the duodenum, the middle of the jejunum, and the ileum (10 cm close to the ileocecal junction) were collected and fixed in 10% neutral buffered formalin for intestinal morphology analysis.

Detection of β-hemolytic coliforms

Briefly, fecal samples were plated on Columbia Blood Agar with 5% sheep blood (Biological Media Service, School of Veterinary Medicine, University of California, Davis) to identify hemolytic coliforms, which can lyse red blood cells surrounding the colony. Fecal samples were also plated on MacConkey agar to enumerate total coliforms. Hemolytic colonies from the blood agar were sub-cultured on MacConkey agar (Biological Media Service, School of Veterinary Medicine, University of California, Davis) to confirm that they were lactose-fermenting bacteria and flat pink colonies. All plates were incubated at 37 °C for 24 h in an air incubator. Populations of both total coliforms and β -hemolytic coliforms on blood agar were visually scored from 0 to 8 (0 = no bacterial growth, 8 = very heavy bacterial growth). The ratio of scores of β -hemolytic coliforms to total coliforms was calculated.

Measurements of serum cytokine and acute phase proteins

Serum samples were analyzed for tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF- α ; R&D Systems Inc., Minneapolis, MN, USA), C-reactive protein (CRP; R&D Systems Inc., Minneapolis, MN, USA), and haptoglobin (Aviva Systems Biology, San Diego, CA, USA) using porcine-specific enzymelinked immunosorbent assay kits following the manufacturer's procedures. All samples, including standards, were analyzed in duplicate. The intensity of the color was measured at 450 nm with the correction wavelength set at 530 nm using a plate reader (BioTek Instruments, Inc., Winooski, VT, USA). The intra-assay coefficients of variation for TNF- α , CRP, and haptoglobin were less than 7%. The inter-assay coefficients of variation for TNF- α , CRP, and haptoglobin were less than 10%.

Intestinal morphology

Fixed intestinal tissues were embedded in paraffin, sectioned at 5 μ m, and stained with hematoxylin and eosin. The slides were photographed by an Olympus BX51 microscope at 10× magnification, and all measurements were conducted in the image processing and analysis software (Image J, NIH). Ten straight and integrated villi and their associated crypts and surrounding areas were selected to analyze villus height (VH), area, and width; crypt depth (CD)

and width; and goblet cell number per villus as described in previous studies (Park et al., 2020b; Wong et al., 2022).

Immunohistochemistry

The immunohistochemistry procedures were based on previous research (Janjatović et al., 2008; Liu et al., 2013). Briefly, the embedded ileal tissues were sectioned at 5 µm and placed on the microslides. The slides were incubated with 5 µg/mL porcine neutrophil-specific antibody PM1 (BMA Biomedicals, Augst, Switzerland) or 0.4 µg/mL porcine macrophage-specific antibody MAC387 (Thermo Scientific, MA, USA). Antibody binding was visualized by using the avidin-biotin complex, and the diaminobenzidine chromogen (Vector Laboratories, Inc., CA, USA). Hematoxylin was applied as a counter stain. Slides incubated without the primary antibodies but with PBS were used as negative controls. Images were captured by an Olympus BX51 microscope at 10× magnification, and all measurements were analyzed by Image J software. Eight straight and integrated ileal villi were selected for measurement. The unit was the number of cells per square millimeter.

Intestinal barrier and innate immunity

Jejunal and ileal mucosa samples were analyzed for gene expression by quantitative realtime PCR (qRT-PCR). Briefly, approximately 100 mg of mucosa sample was homogenized using TRIzol reagent (Invitrogen; Thermo Fisher Scientific, Inc., Waltham, MA, USA). Then, total ribonucleic acid (RNA) was extracted following RNA extraction procedural guidelines provided by the reagent manufacturer. The quality and quantity of RNA were evaluated using a Thermo Scientific NanoDrop 2000 Spectrophotometer (Thermo Scientific, Inc., Waltham, MA, USA). The complementary DNA (cDNA) was produced from 1 µg of total RNA per sample using the High-Capacity cDNA Reverse Transcription Kit (Applied Biosystems; Thermo Fisher Scientific, Inc., Waltham, MA, USA) in a total volume of 20 μ L. The mRNA expression of Mucin 2 (*MUC2*), Claudin-1 (*CLDN1*), Zonula occludens-1 (*ZO-1*), and Occludin (*OCLN*) in jejunal mucosa and the mRNA expression of Tumor necrosis factor-alpha (*TNFa*), Interleukin 6 (*IL6*), Interleukin 7 (*IL7*), Interleukin 10 (*IL10*), Interleukin 12 (*IL12*), Interleukin-1 alpha (*IL1A*), Interleukin-1 beta (*IL1B*), *MUC2*, and Prostaglandin-endoperoxide synthase 2 (*PTGS2*) in ileal mucosa was analyzed. Data normalization was accomplished using 18S ribosomal RNA as a housekeeping gene. Primers were designed based on published literature and commercially synthesized by Integrated DNA Technologies, Coralville, IA, USA. All primers were verified prior to qRT-PCR (Table 3.2). The qRT-PCR reaction conditions followed the published research (Liu et al., 2014). The 2^{- $\Delta \Delta CT$} method was used to analyze the relative expression of genes compared to control (Livak and Schmittgen, 2001).

Untargeted metabolomics analysis

The untargeted metabolomics analysis was performed by the NIH West Coast Metabolomics Center at the University of California, Davis, using gas chromatography (Agilent 6890 gas chromatograph controlled using Leco ChromaTOF software version 2.32, Agilent, Santa Clara, CA, USA) coupled with time-of-flight mass spectrometry (GC/TOF-MS) (Leco Pegasus IV time-of-flight mass spectrometer controlled using Leco ChromaTOF software version 2.32, Leco, St. Joseph, MI, USA). Metabolite extraction was performed following procedures previously described by Fiehn et al. (2008). Briefly, frozen serum samples (approximately 30 μ L) were homogenized using a Retsch ball mill (Retsch, Newtown, PA, USA) for 30 s at 25 times/s. After homogenization, a prechilled (-20 °C) extraction solution (isopropanol/acetonitrile/water at the volume ratio 3:3:2, degassed with liquid nitrogen) was added at a volume of 1 mL/20 mg of sample. Samples were then vortexed and shaken for metabolite extraction. After centrifugation at

12,800 × g for 2 min, the supernatant was collected and divided into two equal aliquots and concentrated at room temperature for 4 h in a cold-trap vacuum concentrator (Labconco Centrivap, Kansas City, MO, USA). To separate complex lipids and waxes, the residue was re-suspended in 500 µL of 50% aqueous acetonitrile and centrifuged at 12,800 × g for 2 min. The resultant supernatant was collected and concentrated in the vacuum concentrator. Dried sample extracts were derivatized and mixed with internal retention index markers (fatty acid methyl esters with the chain length of C8 to C30). The samples were injected for GC/TOF analysis, and all samples were analyzed in a single batch. Data acquisition by mass spectrometry and mass calibration using FC43 (perfluorotributylamine) before starting analysis sequences. Metabolite identifications were performed based on the two parameters: 1) Retention index window ± 2,000 U (around ± 2 sec retention time deviation), and 2) Mass spectral similarity plus additional confidence criteria as detailed below. A detailed methodology for data acquisition and metabolite identification was described in a previously published article by Fiehn et al. (2008).

Statistical analysis

The normality of data was verified and outliers were identified using the UNIVARIATE procedure (SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC, USA). Outliers were identified and removed as values that deviated from the treatment mean by more than 3 times the interquartile range. All data except frequency of diarrhea and metabolomics were analyzed by ANOVA using the PROC MIXED of SAS (SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC, USA) in a randomized complete block design with the pig as the experimental unit. The statistical model included diet as the main effect and block as a random effect. Treatment means were separated by using the LSMEANS statement and the PDIFF option of PROC MIXED. The Chi-square test was used for analyzing the frequency of diarrhea. Statistical significance and tendency were considered at P < 0.05 and $0.05 \le P < 0.10$, respectively.

The metabolomics data were analyzed using different modules of a web-based platform, MetaboAnalyst 5.0 (https://www.metaboanalyst.ca) (Pang et al., 2021). Data were filtered for peaks with detection rates less than 30% of missing abundances and normalized using logarithmic transformation and auto-scaling. Mass univariate analysis was performed using one-way ANOVA followed by Fisher's least significant difference test (adjusted $P \le 0.05$). Fold change analysis and *t*-tests were also conducted to determine the fold change and significance of each identified metabolite. Statistical significance was declared at a false discovery rate (FDR, Benjamini and Hochberg correction; q) < 0.2 and fold change > 2.0. Partial least squares discriminant analysis (PLS-DA) was carried out to further identify discriminative variables (metabolites) among the treatment groups. Pathway analysis and metabolite set enrichment analysis were performed on identified metabolites that had a Variable Importance in Projection (VIP) score > 1. The pathway with a *P*-value less than 0.05, as well as an impact value greater than 0.1, was defined as a significant impact pathway.

RESULTS

Growth performance, diarrhea, β-hemolytic coliforms

There were no significant differences in the initial (d -7) and d 0 BW of pigs among dietary treatments (Table 3.3). In comparison to control and antibiotic groups, supplementation of monoglycerides did not affect BW, ADG, and ADFI throughout the experiment. Pigs supplemented with ZNO had greater (P < 0.05) BW on d 5, 14, and 21 PI, increased (P < 0.05) ADG from d 0 to 5 PI, d 0 to 14 PI, and d 0 to 21 PI, and enhanced (P < 0.05) ADFI from d 0 to 14 PI and d 0 to 21 PI than the other treatments. However, the ADFI from d 0 to 21 PI was not different between ZNO and monoglycerides groups. Pigs supplemented with ZNO had greater (P < 0.01) gain:feed ratio from d 0 to 5 PI compared with the other treatments, but the difference did

not persist throughout the post-challenge period. The gain:feed ratio on d 0 to 21 PI was lower (P < 0.05) in monoglycerides than in control and antibiotic groups, but did not differ from ZNO group.

Pigs in the ZNO group had the lowest (P < 0.05) fecal score from d 1 to 10 PI among dietary treatments (Figure 3.1). The incidence of diarrhea was 32.09% in control, 30.41% in monoglycerides, 4.01% in ZNO, and 22.53% in antibiotic, while the severity of diarrhea was 19.26% in control, 16.22% in monoglycerides, 0.31% in ZNO, and 12.35% in antibiotic, respectively (Figure 3.2). The incidence of diarrhea (fecal score \geq 3) was lower (P < 0.05) in ZNO and antibiotic groups compared to control and monoglycerides groups. The severity of diarrhea (fecal score \geq 4) in ZNO and antibiotic groups was also lower (P < 0.05) than that in control, but there was no difference observed in the severity of diarrhea between monoglycerides and antibiotic groups. The ZNO group had the lowest incidence and severity of diarrhea throughout the experimental period.

No β -hemolytic coliforms were identified in fecal samples of pigs in all groups prior to ETEC inoculation. Beta-hemolytic coliforms were identified in all pigs' feces on d 2 PI. Pigs in ZNO group had lower (*P* < 0.05) percentage of β -hemolytic coliforms in feces on d 5 PI than pigs in control, while no difference was observed among monoglycerides, ZNO, and antibiotic groups (Figure 3.3). No difference was observed in the percentage of β -hemolytic coliforms in feces among all dietary treatments on d 7, 10, 14, and 21 PI.

Systemic immunity

No difference was observed in serum TNF- α concentrations among all treatments at d 0 before ETEC inoculation, and at d 2, 5, and 21 PI (Table 3.4). Dietary supplements tended (*P* = 0.07) to impact serum TNF- α on d 14 PI, pigs fed with ZNO had the lowest TNF- α and pigs fed with control had the highest level of TNF- α among all treatments. Pigs in monoglycerides group

had lower (P < 0.05) serum CRP than pigs in the antibiotic group on d 0 before ETEC inoculation. Supplementation of ZNO reduced (P < 0.10 and P < 0.05) serum CRP on d 14 and 21 PI, tended (P = 0.06) to reduce serum haptoglobin on d 0, and reduced (P < 0.05) serum haptoglobin on d 2 and 5 PI. Pigs fed with monoglycerides also had lower (P < 0.05) serum haptoglobin on d 5 PI, compared with control pigs.

Intestinal morphology

On d 5 PI, pigs in ZNO had more (P < 0.05) goblet cell numbers per villus, greater (P < 0.05) villus area and VH, and higher (P < 0.05) VH:CD in duodenum than pigs in other treatments (Table 3.5; Figure 3.4). Supplementation of monoglycerides, ZNO, or antibiotic reduced (P < 0.05) ileal CD compared with control. Consistently, pigs in ZNO group tended (P = 0.06) to have the biggest VH:CD in the ileum, followed by pigs in monoglycerides and antibiotic groups. On d 21 PI, pigs supplemented with ZNO tended (P = 0.07) to have more goblet cells per villus, and had the largest (P < 0.05) villus area and highest (P < 0.05) VH in the duodenum, when compared with other treatments.

Immunohistochemistry

Supplementation of ZNO or antibiotic reduced (P < 0.05) neutrophil counts in ileal villi on d 5 PI compared with control (Table 3.6). However, no significant differences in neutrophil counts were observed among monoglycerides, ZNO, and antibiotic groups. Pigs supplemented with ZNO had the lowest (P < 0.05) number of macrophages in ileal villi among all treatments on d 5 PI. Pigs fed with antibiotic also had significantly lower (P < 0.05) recruitment of macrophages in ileal villi than control group, but comparable to that in pigs fed with monoglycerides.

Intestinal barrier and innate immunity

No differences were observed in the mRNA expression of *MUC2*, *CLDN1*, *ZO-1*, and *OCLN* in jejunal mucosa of weaned pigs among different treatments on d 5 and 21 PI (Figure 3.5). On d 5 PI, pigs fed with ZNO had lower (P < 0.05) mRNA expression of *TNFa*, *IL6*, *IL10*, *IL12*, *IL1A*, *IL1B*, and *PTGS2* in ileal mucosa, compared with other treatments (Figure 3.6). However, no difference in the expression of listed genes was observed between pigs supplemented with monoglycerides or ZNO. Pigs supplemented with monoglycerides expressed the lowest (P < 0.05) *PTGS2* in ileal mucosa compared with other treatments on d 21 PI.

Metabolite profiles in serum

A total of 483 (165 identified and 318 unidentified) metabolites were detected in serum samples. Based on statistical threshold and VIP scores, pantothenic acid and fructose were up-regulated by ZNO, compared with the pigs in control group on d 5 PI (Table 3.7). Supplementation of monoglycerides changed the relative abundances of 14 metabolites (7 up-regulated and 7 down-regulated) compared with ZNO, and upregulated lactose and cellobiose compared with antibiotic on d 5 PI. On d 14 PI, supplementation of ZNO changed abundances of 10 metabolites (7 up-regulated and 3 down-regulated) compared with control. Supplementation of monoglycerides up-regulated 2 metabolites (hippuric acid and indole-3-propionic acid) and down-regulated 8 metabolites (including glutaric acid, serotonin, mannose, etc.) compared with pigs in the ZNO. Pigs fed with antibiotic had greater abundances of hippuric acid and indole-3-propionic acid, but had lower thymine, pantothenic acid, glycerol, and piperidone compared with the pigs in the ZNO group. Limited differential metabolites were identified when comparing control vs. monoglycerides, and control vs. antibiotic throughout the experiment (data not shown).

Based on the identified metabolites and VIP scores, a PLS-DA score with 95% confidence ranges (shaded areas) showed a clear separation between control and ZNO, between monoglycerides and ZNO, between monoglycerides and antibiotic, and between ZNO and antibiotic groups on d 5 PI (Figure 3.7A) and/or d 14 PI (Figure 3.7B). To further explore the metabolic profile differences among dietary treatments, PLS-DA was performed for the following comparisons: (1) control vs. ZNO, (2) monoglycerides vs. ZNO, (3) monoglycerides vs. antibiotic, and (4) ZNO vs. antibiotic on d 5 and 14 PI. The score plot again distinguished control from ZNO (Figure 3.8A and B), monoglycerides from ZNO (Figure 3.8C and D), monoglycerides from antibiotic (Figure 3.9A and B), and ZNO from antibiotic (Figure 3.9C and D).

Pathway analysis and metabolite set enrichment analysis were performed on the identified metabolites in serum with VIP > 1 (Table 3.8). On d 5 PI, taurine and hypotaurine metabolism and phenylalanine metabolism were the most affected metabolic pathways in a comparison of control vs. monoglycerides (Figure 3.10A and B). Arginine biosynthesis, beta-alanine metabolism, arginine and proline metabolism, pyruvate metabolism, citrate cycle (TCA cycle), glyoxylate and dicarboxylate metabolism, and glycolysis/gluconeogenesis were the most affected metabolic pathways when comparing control with ZNO (Figure 3.11A and B). Citrate cycle, taurine and hypotaurine metabolism, and beta-alanine metabolism were the most affected metabolic pathways when monoglyceride blend was compared with ZNO (Figure 3.12A and B). Taurine and hypotaurine metabolism, nicotinate and nicotinamide metabolism, and beta-alanine metabolism were the most affected metabolic pathways in a comparison of monoglycerides vs. antibiotic (Figure 3.13A and B). Beta-alanine metabolism and citrate cycle were the most affected metabolic pathways when comparing ZNO with antibiotic (Figure 3.14A and B). On d 14 PI, glyoxylate and dicarboxylate metabolism and taurine and hypotaurine metabolism were the most affected metabolic pathways in a comparison of control vs. monoglycerides (Figure 3.10C and D). Alanine, aspartate and glutamate metabolism, citrate cycle, glyoxylate and dicarboxylate metabolism, and

pyrimidine metabolism were the most affected metabolic pathways when comparing control with ZNO (Figure 3.11C and D). Citrate cycle, glyoxylate and dicarboxylate metabolism, alanine, aspartate and glutamate metabolism, and pyrimidine metabolism were the most affected metabolic pathways when monoglyceride blend was compared with ZNO (Figure 3.12C and D), while citrate cycle was the most affected metabolic pathway in comparison of monoglycerides vs. antibiotic (Figure 3.13C and D). Alanine, aspartate and glutamate metabolism, glyoxylate and dicarboxylate metabolism, citrate cycle, D-glutamine and D-glutamate metabolism, pyrimidine metabolism, arginine biosynthesis, and beta-alanine metabolism were the most affected metabolic pathways when comparing ZNO with antibiotic (Figure 3.14C and D).

DISCUSSION

The present study investigated the potential of a monoglyceride blend containing butyric, caprylic, and capric acids in mitigating the adverse effects of ETEC F18 infection on systemic and intestinal immune responses, as well as intestinal health in weaning pigs. Additionally, the study identified metabolic changes resulting from monoglycerides supplementation, shedding light on potential mechanisms underlying the observed physiological responses.

Post-weaning diarrhea, a prevalent gastrointestinal disease occurring shortly after weaning, is often attributed to the adhesion and proliferation of ETEC F18 or F4 in the small intestine. Clinical signs typically include watery diarrhea, dirty appearance, stunted growth, dehydration, and lethargy (Fairbrother et al., 2005; He et al., 2020). In this study, successful ETEC F18 infection was confirmed through fecal shedding of β -hemolytic coliforms and the manifestation of typical infection symptoms, including growth retardation and severe diarrhea. These observations are consistent with our previous research (Kim et al., 2019b; Wong et al., 2022). The observed pattern of gradual recovery after the peak of infection (d 3 to 5 PI) also aligns with our previous studies using the same ETEC F18 strain (Liu et al., 2013; Kim et al., 2022a; Wong et al., 2022). The results of fecal score and the frequency of diarrhea indicated that supplementation of high-dose zinc oxide or antibiotics significantly reduces both the incidence and severity of diarrhea in weaned pigs infected with ETEC F18. However, the impact of dietary monoglycerides on diarrhea was limited.

ETEC toxins can disrupt the regulation of intestinal ion transporters, leading to fluid and electrolyte imbalances (Kaper et al., 2004; Mirhoseini et al., 2018). Although the percentage of β -hemolytic coliforms in feces was similar across treatments post-infection, supplementation of high-dose zinc oxide notably reduced the β -hemolytic coliforms on d 5 PI, which may be attributed to zinc oxide's antimicrobial properties and its ability to support intestinal barrier function and epithelial tissue regeneration (Pearce et al., 2015; Liu et al., 2018; Bonetti et al., 2021). Similarly, both monoglycerides and antibiotics showed comparable reductions in ETEC shedding, likely due to their antibacterial activity (Bedford and Gong, 2018; Rahman et al., 2022). This reduction corresponded with a decreased incidence of diarrhea across all supplemented groups.

It is well known that ETEC infection can disrupt essential intestinal functions, such as nutrient transport, epithelial barrier integrity, and immune function (Kim et al., 2022b; Duarte et al., 2023). All of these result in reduced digestive and absorptive capacity, and increased resource expenditure for maintaining intestinal homeostasis, ultimately leading to compromised performance in infected animals (He et al., 2020; Sheikh et al., 2022; Daneshmand et al., 2023). The beneficial effects of high-dose zinc oxide on intestinal morphology were significant, and supplementation with monoglycerides improved CD and VH:CD in the ileum of ETEC-infected pigs on d 5 PI, comparable to high-dose zinc oxide. However, there were limited changes in intestinal morphology on d 21 PI, likely due to the pigs' recovery from ETEC infection. Consistent

with our observations, previous studies have reported the positive effects of pharmacological doses of zinc oxide in managing post-weaning diarrhea caused by ETEC and have summarized its beneficial effects on growth performance, gastrointestinal tract health, and immunity (Bonetti et al., 2021). Although the exact modes of action of carbadox are unclear, the observed changes in serum inflammatory markers and ileal morphology may be due to their ability to compete for sites important for nutrient absorption and ETEC colonization, thereby reducing resource costs and improving nutrient availability. Intestinal morphology results are also consistent with findings reported by Hung et al. (2020), who observed that carbadox in the diet decreased CD and increased VH:CD in the small intestine of weaned pigs.

In addition to changes in intestinal morphology, high-dose zinc oxide and carbadox supplementation showed a mitigating effect on the recruitment of neutrophils and macrophages in the ileal villi. Supplementation with high-dose zinc oxide also reduced the relative gene expression of inflammatory cytokines (*TNFa*, *IL6*, *IL10*, *IL12*, *IL1A*, *IL1B*, and *PTGS2*) in ileal mucosa, indicating a moderating effect on the intestinal immune response. Although monoglycerides supplementation partially attenuated intestinal inflammation, its efficacy was not comparable to that of high-dose zinc oxide. The observed changes in the supplementation of monoglycerides suggest reduced intestinal epithelial cell renewal and attenuated inflammatory responses, indicating reduced energy and nutritional costs similar to conventional practices (Hung et al., 2020). These findings also suggest that supplementing monoglycerides may overcome primary obstacles associated with the use of organic acids as feed additives, including undesirable losses in the upper intestine and unfavorable taste and aroma. The antibacterial effects of organic acids and their monoglycerides against *Escherichia coli* have been verified through numerous *in vitro* studies (Thormar et al., 2006; Hyldgaard et al., 2012; Kovanda et al., 2019; Wang et al., 2020).

The biological activity of butyric acid, which constitutes a major portion of our glyceride blend (~60%), has been well documented, including its modulation of various cellular responses via histone deacetylase inhibition and G protein-coupled receptor activation in various cell types (Hamer et al., 2008; Pituch et al., 2013; Bedford and Gong, 2018; Salvi and Cowles, 2021), further supporting our findings.

Moreover, local inflammation can influence systemic immunity, and immune activation by external factors can exacerbate the performance status during the weaning period due to metabolic changes (Klasing, 1988; Spurlock, 1997; Park et al., 2020a). For instance, ETEC infection activates immune cells and increases the secretion of pro-inflammatory cytokines (Schilling et al., 2001; Liu et al., 2013; Wong et al., 2022), leading to alterations in the absorption and utilization of nutrients or energy, including anorexia, decreased gut motility, and increased hepatic acute-phase protein synthesis (Klasing, 1988; Elsasser et al., 2008; Davis, 2022). Supplementation with high-dose zinc oxide was associated with a significant reduction in inflammatory biomarkers throughout the experiment, and an anti-inflammatory effect of monoglycerides was also observed during peak infection. This finding is supported by observations reported by Tian et al., (2022), where inclusion of glycerol butyrate in pig diet reduced pro-inflammatory factors (*TNFa*, *IL6*, and, *IL1B*) in jejunum and ileum to ETEC infection by inhibiting the NF- κ B/MAPK pathway.

Given the biological effects of high-dose zinc oxide discussed earlier and the observed changes in diarrhea, intestinal morphology, and intestinal and serum inflammatory markers, it is not surprising that the pigs fed with high-dose zinc oxide had the greatest growth performance throughout the experimental period among all treatments. On the other hand, carbadox supplementation reduced feed intake compared to high-dose zinc oxide, but feed efficiency was higher than that of monoglycerides throughout the post-challenge period. These results reflect the multifactorial nature of animal growth and suggest that high-dose zinc oxide and antibiotics are likely to exert their beneficial effects through different mechanisms (Hung et al., 2020). In the present study, the monoglyceride blend had limited effects on the growth performance of weaned pigs infected with ETEC F18. This finding aligns with other research showing that dietary supplementation of SCFA or MCFA monoglycerides did not affect the performance of weaned pigs (Cui et al., 2020; Thomas et al., 2020; Li et al., 2022; Li et al., 2023). Recent studies in poultry also confirmed that dietary supplementation of monoglyceride blend (butyric, caprylic, and capric acids) did not affect the growth performance of early growth stage in broilers infected with necrotic enteritis (Gharib-Naseri et al., 2021; Kumar et al., 2021). In this study, supplementation of monoglyceride blend reduced gain:feed ratio of ETEC-infected pigs. However, it is noteworthy that this change was the result of increased feed intake. The observed improvement in feed intake in pigs fed with monoglycerides is further supported by the previously discussed antiinflammatory effects of monoglycerides. Weaning stress is associated with reduced nutrient and energy intake, which may not recover even two weeks after weaning (Bruininx et al., 2001; Dong and Pluske, 2007). Thus, the potential impacts of the monoglyceride blend on the feed intake of newly weaned pigs need to be further investigated in a performance trial with a larger number of animals.

The physiological changes caused by external factors, such as nutritional interventions or disease, can be comprehensively evaluated through a metabolomics analysis, providing valuable insights into the underlying mechanisms (Martínez-Reyes and Chandel, 2020; Kim et al., 2024). In this study, pigs supplemented with high-dose zinc oxide exhibited significant alterations in serum metabolites primarily associated with carbohydrate and amino acid metabolism, compared to pigs in the control and monoglycerides groups. These changes are consistent with the

mechanistic measurement results discussed earlier, and are also in line with the inferred effects suggested by other research related to nutrient and energy availability (Hung et al., 2020). For example, the citrate cycle is a major metabolic pathway regulated to meet diverse cellular metabolic needs, including playing an important role in energy production and providing intermediates required for biosynthesis (Fernie et al., 2004). Recent studies have shown that these intermediates are also involved in cell signaling and have diverse functions, such as the regulation of chromatin modification and DNA methylation, as well as immunomodulation (Williams and O'Neill, 2018; Martínez-Reyes and Chandel, 2020).

Interestingly, monoglycerides supplementation had limited effects on serum metabolites compared to the control; however, significant pathway alterations were observed in serum metabolites when pigs were supplemented with monoglycerides. Specifically, taurine and hypotaurine metabolism was one of the metabolic pathways significantly affected by the supplementation of monoglycerides during the peak of ETEC infection in pigs. Taurine and hypotaurine are known to play crucial roles in cellular homeostasis and antioxidant responses (Aruoma et al., 1988; Mizota et al., 2021). Similar to high-dose zinc oxide, carbadox supplementation had impacts on carbohydrate and amino acid metabolism in serum metabolites compared to control or monoglycerides. These changes include alterations in the citrate cycle and beta-alanine metabolism. Beta-alanine is a naturally occurring amino acid involved in the synthesis of carnosine, which exhibits beneficial biological activity, including antioxidant and antiinflammatory properties (Culbertson et al., 2010; Jukić et al., 2021; Chen et al., 2023). Additionally, it has been reported that Mas-related G protein-coupled receptors, specifically responsive to beta-alanine, may have beneficial effects on immune stress and homeostasis (Shinohara et al., 2004; Zhang et al., 2021).

In conclusion, the findings of this study suggest that supplementation of monoglyceride blend including C4, C8, and C10 saturated fatty acids may enhance disease resistance by mitigating intestinal and systemic inflammation in weaned pigs challenged with enterotoxigenic *Escherichia coli* F18. Although the effects on performance and disease resistance were not comparable to that of high-dose zinc oxide, the efficacy was similar to the supplementation of carbadox. Additional research is needed to further evaluate the effects of monoglycerides supplementation on growth performance of weaned pigs under various external challenges in commercial conditions. Another area of research may be to explore combinations of monoglycerides with other acids, such as formic acid, as a potential alternative to conventional practices.

LITERATURE CITED

- Arabshahi, H. A., H. A. Ghasemi, I. Hajkhodadadi, and A. H. K. Farahani. 2021. Effects of multicarbohydrase and butyrate glycerides on productive performance, nutrient digestibility, gut morphology, and ileal microbiota in late-phase laying hens fed corn-or wheat-based diets. Poult. Sci. 100:101066. doi:10.1016/j.psj.2021.101066. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psj.2021.101066
- Aruoma, O. I., B. Halliwell, B. M. Hoey, and J. Butler. 1988. The antioxidant action of taurine, hypotaurine and their metabolic precursors. Biochem. J. 256:251–255. doi:10.1042/bj2560251.
- Aslam, B., M. Khurshid, M. I. Arshad, S. Muzammil, M. Rasool, N. Yasmeen, T. Shah, T. H. Chaudhry, M. H. Rasool, A. Shahid, X. Xueshan, and Z. Baloch. 2021. Antibiotic resistance: one health one world outlook. Front. Cell. Infect. Microbiol. 11:771510. doi:10.3389/fcimb.2021.771510.
- Bedford, A., and J. Gong. 2018. Implications of butyrate and its derivatives for gut health and animal production. Anim. Nutr. 4:151–159. doi:10.1016/j.aninu.2017.08.010.
- Bonetti, A., B. Tugnoli, A. Piva, and E. Grilli. 2021. Towards zero zinc oxide: feeding strategies to manage post-weaning diarrhea in piglets. Animals. 11:642. doi:10.3390/ani11030642.
- De Briyne, N., J. Atkinson, S. P. Borriello, and L. Pokludová. 2014. Antibiotics used most commonly to treat animals in Europe. Vet. Rec. 175:325. doi:10.1136/vr.102462.
- Bruininx, E. M. A. M., C. M. C. van der Peet-Schwering, and J. W. Schrama. 2001. Individual feed intake of group-housed weaned pigs and health status. In: The weaner pig: nutrition and management. Proceedings of a British Society of Animal Science Occasional

Meeting, University of Nottingham, UK, September 2000. CABI Publishing, Wallingford UK. p. 113–122.

Campbell, J. M., J. D. Crenshaw, and J. Polo. 2013. The biological stress of early weaned piglets. J. Anim. Sci. Biotechnol. 4:19. doi:10.1186/2049-1891-4-19.

Chen, L., Y. Zhong, X. Ouyang, C. Wang, L. Yin, J. Huang, Y. Li, Q. Wang, J. Xie, P. Huang, H. Yang, and Y. Yin. 2023. Effects of β-alanine on intestinal development and immune performance of weaned piglets. Anim. Nutr. 12:398–408.
doi:10.1016/j.aninu.2022.10.008. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aninu.2022.10.008

- Churchward, C. P., R. G. Alany, and L. A. S. Snyder. 2018. Alternative antimicrobials: the properties of fatty acids and monoglycerides. Crit. Rev. Microbiol. 44:561–570. doi:10.1080/1040841X.2018.1467875. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1080/1040841X.2018.1467875
- Cremonesi, P., F. Biscarini, B. Castiglioni, C. A. Sgoifo, R. Compiani, and P. Moroni. 2022. Gut microbiome modifications over time when removing in-feed antibiotics from the prophylaxis of post-weaning diarrhea in piglets. PLoS One. 17:e0262199. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0262199.
- Cui, Z., X. Wang, Z. Hou, S. Liao, M. Qi, A. Zha, Z. Yang, G. Zuo, P. Liao, Y. Chen, and B. Tan. 2020. Low-protein diet supplemented with medium-chain fatty acid glycerides improves the growth performance and intestinal function in post-weaning piglets. Animals. 10:1852. doi:10.3390/ani10101852.

- Culbertson, J. Y., R. B. Kreider, M. Greenwood, and M. Cooke. 2010. Effects of Beta-alanine on muscle carnosine and exercise performance: A review of the current literature. Nutrients. 2:75–98. doi:10.3390/nu2010075.
- Daneshmand, A., N. K. Sharma, S. K. Kheravii, L. Hall, and S. B. Wu. 2023. Buffered formic acid and a monoglyceride blend improve performance and modulate gut bacteria and immunity gene expression in broilers under necrotic enteritis challenge. Poult. Sci. 102:102978. doi:10.1016/j.psj.2023.102978.
- Davis, E. 2022. Immunometabolism and inflammation: a perspective on animal productivity. Anim. Front. 12:5–7. doi:10.1093/af/vfac060.
- Decuypere, J. A., and N. A. Dierick. 2003. The combined use of triacylglycerols containing medium-chain fatty acids and exogenous lipolytic enzymes as an alternative to in-feed antibiotics in piglets: concept, possibilities and limitations. An overview. Nutr. Res. Rev. 16:193–210. doi:10.1079/nrr200369.
- Dong, G. Z., and J. R. Pluske. 2007. The low feed intake in newly-weaned pigs: Problems and possible solutions. Asian-Australasian J. Anim. Sci. 20:440–452. doi:10.5713/ajas.2007.440.
- Duarte, M. E., Y. Garavito-Duarte, and S. W. Kim. 2023. Impacts of F18+ Escherichia coli on Intestinal Health of Nursery Pigs and Dietary Interventions. Animals. 13:2791. doi:10.3390/ani13172791.
- EFSA Panel on Additives and Products or Substances used in Animal Feed (FEEDAP). 2014. Scientific Opinion on the potential reduction of the currently authorised maximum zinc content in complete feed. EFSA J. 12:3668. doi:10.2903/j.efsa.2014.3668.

- Elsasser, T. H., T. J. Caperna, C. J. Li, S. Kahl, and J. L. Sartin. 2008. Critical control points in the impact of the proinflammatory immune response on growth and metabolism. J. Anim. Sci. 86:E105-125. doi:10.2527/jas.2007-0634.
- European Commission. 2003. Commission Regulation (EC) No 1334/2003 of 25 July 2003 amending the conditions for authorisation of a number of additives in feedingstuffs belonging to the group of trace elements. Off. J. Eur. Union. L 187:11.
- European Commission. 2016. Commission Implementing Regulation (EU) 2016/1095 of 6 July 2016 concerning the authorization of Zinc acetate dihydrate, Zinc chloride anhydrous, Zinc oxide, Zinc sulphate heptahydrate, Zinc sulphate monohydrate, Zinc chelate of amino acids hydrate, Zinc . Off. J. Eur. Union. L 182:7–27. Available from: https://eurlex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:32016R1095&from=EN
- Fairbrother, J. M., É. Nadeau, and C. L. Gyles. 2005. Escherichia coli in postweaning diarrhea in pigs: an update on bacterial types, pathogenesis, and prevention strategies. Anim. Heal.
 Res. Rev. 6:17–39. doi:10.1079/ahr2005105. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16164007
- Fernie, A. R., F. Carrari, and L. J. Sweetlove. 2004. Respiratory metabolism: Glycolysis, the TCA cycle and mitochondrial electron transport. Curr. Opin. Plant Biol. 7:254–261. doi:10.1016/j.pbi.2004.03.007.
- Fiehn, O., G. Wohlgemuth, M. Scholz, T. Kind, D. Y. Lee, Y. Lu, S. Moon, and B. Nikolau. 2008. Quality control for plant metabolomics: Reporting MSI-compliant studies. Plant J. 53:691–704. doi:10.1111/j.1365-313X.2007.03387.x.
- Food and Drug Administration. 2013. New animal drugs and new animal drug combination products administered in or on medicated feed or drinking water of food-producing

animals: recommendations for drug sponsors for voluntarily aligning product use conditions with GFI #209. Available from: https://www.fda.gov/regulatoryinformation/search-fda-guidance-documents/cvm-gfi-213-new-animal-drugs-and-newanimal-drug-combination-products-administered-or-medicated-feed

- Gharib-Naseri, K., S. K. Kheravii, L. Li, and S. B. Wu. 2021. Buffered formic acid and a monoglyceride blend coordinately alleviate subclinical necrotic enteritis impact in broiler chickens. Poult. Sci. 100:101214. doi:10.1016/j.psj.2021.101214. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psj.2021.101214
- Hamer, H. M., D. Jonkers, K. Venema, S. Vanhoutvin, F. J. Troost, and R. J. Brummer. 2008.
 Review article: The role of butyrate on colonic function. Aliment. Pharmacol. Ther.
 27:104–119. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2036.2007.03562.x.
- He, Y., C. Jinno, K. Kim, Z. Wu, B. Tan, X. Li, R. Whelan, and Y. Liu. 2020. Dietary Bacillus spp. enhanced growth and disease resistance of weaned pigs by modulating intestinal microbiota and systemic immunity. J. Anim. Sci. Biotechnol. 11:101. doi:10.1186/s40104-020-00498-3.
- He, Y., C. Jinno, C. Li, S. L. Johnston, H. Xue, Y. Liu, and P. Ji. 2022. Effects of a blend of essential oils, medium-chain fatty acids, and a toxin-adsorbing mineral on diarrhea and gut microbiome of weanling pigs experimentally infected with a pathogenic Escherichia coli. J. Anim. Sci. 100:skab365. doi:10.1093/jas/skab365.
- Heo, J. M., F. O. Opapeju, J. R. Pluske, J. C. Kim, D. J. Hampson, and C. M. Nyachoti. 2013.
 Gastrointestinal health and function in weaned pigs: a review of feeding strategies to control post-weaning diarrhoea without using in-feed antimicrobial compounds. J. Anim. Physiol. Anim. Nutr. (Berl). 97:207–237. doi:10.1111/j.1439-0396.2012.01284.x.

- Hung, Y. T., Q. Hu, R. J. Faris, J. Guo, P. E. Urriola, G. C. Shurson, C. Chen, and M. Saquisalces. 2020. Analysis of gastrointestinal responses revealed both shared and specific targets of zinc oxide and carbadox in weaned pigs. Antibiotics. 9:463. doi:10.3390/antibiotics9080463.
- Hyldgaard, M., D. S. Sutherland, M. Sundh, T. Mygind, and R. L. Meyer. 2012. Antimicrobial mechanism of monocaprylate. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 78:2957–2965. doi:10.1128/AEM.07224-11.
- Van Immerseel, F., J. De Buck, F. Boyen, L. Bohez, F. Pasmans, J. Volf, M. Sevcik, I. Rychlik, F. Haesebrouck, and R. Ducatelle. 2004. Medium-chain fatty acids decrease colonization and invasion through hilA suppression shortly after infection of chickens with Salmonella enterica serovar Enteritidis. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 70:3582–3587. doi:10.1128/AEM.70.6.3582–3587.2004.
- Jahanian, R., and M. Golshadi. 2015. Effect of dietary supplementation of butyric acid glycerides on performance, immunological responses, ileal microflora, and nutrient digestibility in laying hens fed different basal diets. Livest. Sci. 178:228–236. doi:10.1016/j.livsci.2015.05.038. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.livsci.2015.05.038
- Janjatović, A. K., G. Lacković, F. Božić, M. Popović, and I. Valpotić. 2008. Levamisole synergizes proliferation of intestinal IgA+ cells in weaned pigs immunized with vaccine candidate F4ac+ nonenterotoxigenic Escherichia coli strain. J. Vet. Pharmacol. Ther. 31:328–333. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2885.2008.00961.x.
- Jukić, I., N. Kolobarić, A. Stupin, A. Matić, N. Kozina, Z. Mihaljević, M. Mihalj, P. Šušnjara,M. Stupin, Ž. B. Ćurić, K. Selthofer-Relatić, A. Kibel, A. Lukinac, L. Kolar, G. Kralik,

Z. Kralik, A. Széchenyi, M. Jozanović, O. Galović, M. Medvidović-Kosanović, and I.
Drenjančević. 2021. Carnosine, small but mighty—prospect of use as functional ingredient for functional food formulation. Antioxidants. 10:1037.
doi:10.3390/antiox10071037.

- Kaper, J. B., J. P. Nataro, and H. L. T. Mobley. 2004. Pathogenic Escherichia coli. Nat. Rev. Microbiol. 2:123–140. doi:10.1038/nrmicro818.
- Kil, D. Y., and H. H. Stein. 2010. Board invited review: management and feeding strategies to ameliorate the impact of removing antibiotic growth promoters from diets fed to weanling pigs. Can. J. Anim. Sci. 90:447–460. doi:10.4141/CJAS10028. Available from: http://www.scopus.com/inward/record.url?eid=2-s2.0-78650252634&partnerID=40&md5=69f0e9c7fd9f3b35196315b270945b57
- Kim, K., A. Ehrlich, V. Perng, J. A. Chase, H. Raybould, X. Li, E. R. Atwill, R. Whelan, A. Sokale, and Y. Liu. 2019a. Algae-derived β-glucan enhanced gut health and immune responses of weaned pigs experimentally infected with a pathogenic E. coli. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 248:114–125. doi:10.1016/j.anifeedsci.2018.12.004.
- Kim, K., Y. He, C. Jinno, L. Kovanda, X. Li, D. Bravo, E. Cox, and Y. Liu. 2022a.
 Supplementation of oligosaccharide-based polymer enhanced growth and disease resistance of weaned pigs by modulating intestinal integrity and systemic immunity. J. Anim. Sci. Biotechnol. 13:10. doi:10.1186/s40104-021-00655-2.
- Kim, K., Y. He, X. Xiong, A. Ehrlich, X. Li, H. Raybould, E. R. Atwill, E. A. Maga, J. Jørgensen, and Y. Liu. 2019b. Dietary supplementation of Bacillus subtilis influenced intestinal health of weaned pigs experimentally infected with a pathogenic E. coli. J. Anim. Sci. Biotechnol. 10:52. doi:10.1186/s40104-019-0364-3.

- Kim, K., C. Jinno, X. Li, D. Bravo, E. Cox, P. Ji, and Y. Liu. 2024. Impact of an oligosaccharide-based polymer on the metabolic profiles and microbial ecology of weanling pigs experimentally infected with a pathogenic E. coli. J. Anim. Sci. Biotechnol. 15:1. doi:10.1186/s40104-023-00956-8. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1186/s40104-023-00956-8
- Kim, K., M. Song, Y. Liu, and P. Ji. 2022b. Enterotoxigenic Escherichia coli infection of weaned pigs: Intestinal challenges and nutritional intervention to enhance disease resistance. Front. Immunol. 13:885253. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2022.885253.
- Klasing, K. C. 1988. Nutritional aspects of leukocytic cytokines. J. Nutr. 118:1436–1446. doi:10.1093/jn/118.12.1436. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1093/jn/118.12.1436
- Kovanda, L., W. Zhang, X. Wei, J. Luo, X. Wu, E. R. Atwill, S. Vaessen, X. Li, and Y. Liu. 2019. In vitro antimicrobial activities of organic acids and their derivatives on several species of gram-negative and gram-positive bacteria. Molecules. 24:3770. doi:10.3390/molecules24203770.
- Kraemer, S. A., A. Ramachandran, and G. G. Perron. 2019. Antibiotic pollution in the environment: From microbial ecology to public policy. Microorganisms. 7:180. doi:10.3390/microorganisms7060180.

Kreuzer, S., M. Reissmann, and G. A. Brockmann. 2013. New fast and cost-effective gene test to get the ETEC F18 receptor status in pigs. Vet. Microbiol. 163:392–394.
doi:10.1016/j.vetmic.2012.12.040. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.vetmic.2012.12.040

- Kumar, A., S. K. Kheravii, L. Li, and S. B. Wu. 2021. Monoglyceride blend reduces mortality, improves nutrient digestibility, and intestinal health in broilers subjected to clinical necrotic enteritis challenge. Animals. 11:1432. doi:10.3390/ani11051432.
- Lallès, J. P., and C. A. Montoya. 2021. Dietary alternatives to in-feed antibiotics, gut barrier function and inflammation in piglets post-weaning: Where are we now? Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 274:114836. doi:10.1016/j.anifeedsci.2021.114836.
- Li, H., Y. Zhang, J. Xie, C. Wang, D. Yi, T. Wu, L. Wang, D. Zhao, and Y. Hou. 2023. Dietary supplementation with mono-lactate glyceride enhances intestinal function of weaned piglets. Animals. 13:1303.
- Li, L., H. Wang, N. Zhang, T. Zhang, and Y. Ma. 2022. Effects of α-glycerol monolaurate on intestinal morphology, nutrient digestibility, serum profiles, and gut microbiota in weaned piglets. J. Anim. Sci. 100:1–10. doi:10.1093/jas/skac046.
- Liu, Y., C. D. Espinosa, J. J. Abelilla, G. A. Casas, L. V. Lagos, S. A. Lee, W. B. Kwon, J. K. Mathai, D. M. D. L. Navarro, N. W. Jaworski, and H. H. Stein. 2018. Non-antibiotic feed additives in diets for pigs: a review. Anim. Nutr. 4:113–125. doi:10.1016/j.aninu.2018.01.007.
- Liu, Y., M. Song, T. M. Che, J. A. S. Almeida, J. J. Lee, D. Bravo, C. W. Maddox, and J. E. Pettigrew. 2013. Dietary plant extracts alleviate diarrhea and alter immune responses of weaned pigs experimentally infected with a pathogenic Escherichia coli. J. Anim. Sci. 91:5294–5306. doi:10.2527/jas.2012-6194.
- Liu, Y., M. Song, T. M. Che, J. J. Lee, D. Bravo, C. W. Maddox, and J. E. Pettigrew. 2014. Dietary plant extracts modulate gene expression profiles in ileal mucosa of weaned pigs

after an Escherichia coli infection. J. Anim. Sci. 92:2050–2062. doi:10.2527/jas.2013-6422.

- Livak, K. J., and T. D. Schmittgen. 2001. Analysis of relative gene expression data using realtime quantitative PCR and the 2-ΔΔCT method. Methods. 25:402–408. doi:10.1006/meth.2001.1262.
- López-Gálvez, G., M. López-Alonso, A. Pechova, B. Mayo, N. Dierick, and J. Gropp. 2021.
 Alternatives to antibiotics and trace elements (copper and zinc) to improve gut health and zootechnical parameters in piglets: A review. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 271:114727.
 doi:10.1016/j.anifeedsci.2020.114727.
- Martínez-Reyes, I., and N. S. Chandel. 2020. Mitochondrial TCA cycle metabolites control physiology and disease. Nat. Commun. 11:102. doi:10.1038/s41467-019-13668-3. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/s41467-019-13668-3
- Mathis, G. F., J. T. P. Van Dam, A. C. Fernández, and C. L. Hofacre. 2005. Effect of an organic acids and medium-chain fatty acids containing product in feed on the course of artificial Necrotic Enteritis infection in broiler chickens. Proc. 372–374. Available from: https://www.cabdirect.org/cabdirect/abstract/20073279567
- McEwen, S. A. 2006. Antibiotic use in animal agriculture: what have we learned and where are we going? Anim. Biotechnol. 17:239–250. doi:10.1080/10495390600957233.

Mirhoseini, A., J. Amani, and S. Nazarian. 2018. Review on pathogenicity mechanism of enterotoxigenic Escherichia coli and vaccines against it. Microb. Pathog. 117:162–169. doi:10.1016/j.micpath.2018.02.032. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.micpath.2018.02.032

- Mizota, T., T. Hishiki, M. Shinoda, Y. Naito, K. Hirukawa, Y. Masugi, O. Itano, H. Obara, M. Kitago, H. Yagi, Y. Abe, K. Matsubara, M. Suematsu, and Y. Kitagawa. 2021. The hypotaurine-taurine pathway as an antioxidative mechanism in patients with acute liver failure. J. Clin. Biochem. Nutr. 21–50. doi:10.3164/JCBN.21-50.
- Monger, X. C., A. A. Gilbert, L. Saucier, and A. T. Vincent. 2021. Antibiotic resistance: from pig to meat. Antibiotics. 10:1209. doi:10.3390/antibiotics10101209.
- Nadeau, J. M. Fairbrother, J. Zentek, L. Bélanger, D. Tremblay, C. L. Tremblay, I. Röhe, W. Vahjen, M. Brunelle, K. Hellmann, D. Cvejić, B. Brunner, C. Schneider, K. Bauer, R. Wolf, and Hidalgo. 2017. Efficacy of a single oral dose of a live bivalent E. coli vaccine against post-weaning diarrhea due to F4 and F18-positive enterotoxigenic E. coli. Vet. J. 226:32–39. doi:10.1016/j.tvjl.2017.07.004.
- Nagy, B., and P. Z. Fekete. 1999. Enterotoxigenic Escherichia coli (ETEC) in farm animals. Vet. Res. 30:259–284. doi:10.1016/S0928-4249(99)80020-0.
- Nagy, B., and P. Z. Fekete. 2005. Enterotoxigenic Escherichia coli in veterinary medicine. Int. J. Med. Microbiol. 295:443–454. doi:10.1016/j.ijmm.2005.07.003.
- Namkung, H., H. Yu, J. Gong, and S. Leeson. 2011. Antimicrobial activity of butyrate glycerides toward Salmonella Typhimurium and Clostridium perfringens. Poult. Sci. 90:2217–2222. doi:10.3382/ps.2011-01498.
- National Research Council (NRC). 2012. Nutrient Requirements of Swine: Eleventh Revised Edition. National Academies Press, Washington, D.C. Available from: http://www.nap.edu/catalog/13298
- Nguyen, D. H., W. J. Seok, and I. H. Kim. 2020. Organic acids mixture as a dietary additive for pigs—a review. Animals. 10:952. doi:10.3390/ani10060952.

- Oprean, L., R. Iancu, R. Stan, and C. Trașcă. 2011. Comparison between Types of Feeding on Goat Milk Composition. Anim. Sci. Biotechnol. 44:76–79.
- Pang, Z., J. Chong, G. Zhou, D. A. De Lima Morais, L. Chang, M. Barrette, C. Gauthier, P. É. Jacques, S. Li, and J. Xia. 2021. MetaboAnalyst 5.0: narrowing the gap between raw spectra and functional insights. Nucleic Acids Res. 49:W388–W396. doi:10.1093/nar/gkab382.
- Park, S., J. J. Lee, B. M. Yang, J. H. Cho, S. Kim, J. Kang, S. Oh, D. Park, R. Perez-maldonado, J.-Y. Cho, I.-H. Park, H. B. Kim, and M. Song. 2020a. Dietary protease improves growth performance, nutrient digestibility, and intestinal morphology of weaned pigs. J. Anim. Sci. Technol. 62:21–30. doi:10.5187/jast.2020.62.1.21.
- Park, S., J. W. Lee, A. J. Cowieson, G. Pappenberger, and T. A. Woyengo. 2020b. Soybean meal allergenic protein degradation and gut health of piglets fed protease-supplemented diets.
 J. Anim. Sci. 98:skaa308. doi:10.1093/jas/skaa308.
- Pearce, S. C., M. V. Sanz Fernandez, J. Torrison, M. E. Wilson, L. H. Baumgard, and N. K. Gabler. 2015. Dietary organic zinc attenuates heat stress–induced changes in pig intestinal integrity and metabolism. J. Anim. Sci. 93:4702–4713. doi:10.2527/jas.2015-9018.
- Pituch, A., J. Walkowiak, and A. Banaszkiewicz. 2013. Butyric acid in functional constipation. Prz. Gastroenterol. 8:295–298. doi:10.5114/pg.2013.38731.
- Pluske, J. R. 2016. Invited review: Aspects of gastrointestinal tract growth and maturation in the pre- and postweaning period of pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 94:399–411. doi:10.2527/jas2015-9767.

- Rahman, M. R. T., I. Fliss, and E. Biron. 2022. Insights in the development and uses of alternatives to antibiotic growth promoters in poultry and swine production. Antibiotics. 11:766. doi:10.3390/antibiotics11060766.
- Salvi, P. S., and R. A. Cowles. 2021. Butyrate and the intestinal epithelium: Modulation of proliferation and inflammation in homeostasis and disease. Cells. 10:1775. doi:10.3390/cells10071775.
- Schilling, J. D., M. A. Mulvey, C. D. Vincent, R. G. Lorenz, and S. J. Hultgren. 2001. Bacterial Invasion Augments Epithelial Cytokine Responses to Escherichia coli Through a Lipopolysaccharide-Dependent Mechanism. J. Immunol. 166:1148–1155. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.166.2.1148.
- Sheikh, A., B. Tumala, T. J. Vickers, J. C. Martin, B. A. Rosa, S. Sabui, S. Basu, R. D. Simoes, M. Mitreva, C. Storer, E. Tyksen, R. D. Head, W. Beatty, H. M. Said, and J. M. Fleckenstein. 2022. Enterotoxigenic Escherichia coli heat-labile toxin drives enteropathic changes in small intestinal epithelia. Nat. Commun. 13:6886. doi:10.1038/s41467-022-34687-7.
- Shinohara, T., M. Harada, K. Ogi, M. Maruyama, R. Fujii, H. Tanaka, S. Fukusumi, H. Komatsu, M. Hosoya, Y. Noguchi, T. Watanabe, T. Moriya, Y. Itoh, and S. Hinuma. 2004.
 Identification of a G protein-coupled receptor specifically responsive to β-alanine. J. Biol. Chem. 279:23559–23564. doi:10.1074/jbc.M314240200. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M314240200
- Smith, F., J. E. Clark, B. L. Overman, C. C. Tozel, J. H. Huang, J. E. F. Rivier, A. T. Blisklager, and A. J. Moeser. 2010. Early weaning stress impairs development of mucosal barrier
function in the porcine intestine. Am. J. Physiol. Liver Physiol. 298:G352–G363. doi:10.1152/ajpgi.00081.2009.

- Spurlock, M. E. 1997. Regulation of Metabolism and Growth during Immune Challenge: An Overview of Cytokine Function. J. Anim. Sci. 75:1773–1783. doi:10.2527/1997.7571773x.
- Tang, X., K. Xiong, R. Fang, and M. Li. 2022. Weaning stress and intestinal health of piglets: a review. Front. Immunol. 13:1042778. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2022.1042778.
- Thomas, L. L., J. C. Woodworth, M. D. Tokach, S. S. Dritz, J. M. DeRouchey, R. D. Goodband,
 H. E. Williams, A. R. Hartman, D. J. Mellick, D. M. McKilligan, and A. M. Jones. 2020.
 Evaluation of different blends of medium-chain fatty acids, lactic acid, and monolaurin
 on nursery pig growth performance. Transl. Anim. Sci. 4:548–557.
 doi:10.1093/TAS/TXAA024.
- Thormar, H., H. Hilmarsson, and G. Bergsson. 2006. Stable concentrated emulsions of the 1monoglyceride of capric acid (monocaprin) with microbicidal activities against the foodborne bacteria Campylobacter jejuni, Salmonella spp., and Escherichia coli. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 72:522–526. doi:10.1128/AEM.72.1.522-526.2006.
- Tian, M., L. Li, Z. Tian, H. Zhao, F. Chen, W. Guan, and S. Zhang. 2022. Glyceryl butyrate attenuates enterotoxigenic Escherichia coli-induced intestinal inflammation in piglets by inhibiting the NF-κB/MAPK pathways and modulating the gut microbiota. Food Funct. 13:6282–6292. doi:10.1039/d2fo01056a.
- Tugnoli, B., G. Giovagnoni, A. Piva, and E. Grilli. 2020. From acidifiers to intestinal health enhancers: how organic acids can improve growth efficiency of pigs. Animals. 10:134. doi:10.3390/ani10010134.

- Wang, W., R. Wang, G. Zhang, F. Chen, and B. Xu. 2020. In vitro antibacterial activities and mechanisms of action of fatty acid monoglycerides against four foodborne bacteria. J. Food Prot. 83:331–337. doi:10.4315/0362-028X.JFP-19-259. Available from: https://doi.org/10.4315/0362-028X.JFP-19-259
- Weary, D. M., J. Jasper, and M. J. Hötzel. 2008. Understanding weaning distress. Appl. Anim. Behav. Sci. 110:24–41. doi:10.1016/j.applanim.2007.03.025.
- Williams, N. C., and L. A. J. O'Neill. 2018. A role for the krebs cycle intermediate citrate in metabolic reprogramming in innate immunity and inflammation. Front. Immunol. 9:317864. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2018.00141.
- Wong, B. T., S. Park, L. Kovanda, Y. He, K. Kim, S. Xu, C. Lingga, M. Hejna, E. Wall, R. Sripathy, X. Li, and Y. Liu. 2022. Dietary supplementation of botanical blends enhanced performance and disease resistance of weaned pigs experimentally infected with enterotoxigenic Escherichia coli F18. J. Anim. Sci. 100:skac353. doi:10.1093/jas/skac353.
- Xie, C., Y. Zhang, K. Niu, X. Liang, H. Wang, J. Shan, and X. Wu. 2021. Enteromorpha polysaccharide-zinc replacing prophylactic antibiotics contributes to improving gut health of weaned piglets. Anim. Nutr. 7:641–649. doi:10.1016/j.aninu.2021.01.008.
- Xiong, X., B. Tan, M. Song, P. Ji, K. Kim, Y. Yin, and Y. Liu. 2019. Nutritional intervention for the intestinal development and health of weaned pigs. Front. Vet. Sci. 6:46. doi:10.3389/fvets.2019.00046.
- Zhang, S., T. N. Edwards, V. K. Chaudhri, J. Wu, J. A. Cohen, T. Hirai, N. Rittenhouse, E. G.Schmitz, P. Y. Zhou, B. D. McNeil, Y. Yang, H. R. Koerber, T. L. Sumpter, A. C.Poholek, B. M. Davis, K. M. Albers, H. Singh, and D. H. Kaplan. 2021. Nonpeptidergic

neurons suppress mast cells via glutamate to maintain skin homeostasis. Cell. 184:2151– 2166. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2021.03.002. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2021.03.002

Zhang, W., M. Zhao, L. Ruesch, A. Omot, and D. Francis. 2007. Prevalence of virulence genes in Escherichia coli strains recently isolated from young pigs with diarrhea in the US. Vet. Microbiol. 123:145–152. doi:10.1016/j.vetmic.2007.02.018.

TABLES AND FIGURES

Ingredient, %	Control, phase 1	Control, phase 2
Corn	44.41	57.27
Dried whey	15.00	10.00
Soybean meal	18.00	22.00
Fish meal	10.00	7.00
Lactose	6.00	-
Soy protein concentrate	3.00	-
Soybean oil	2.00	2.00
Limestone	0.56	0.70
<i>L</i> -Lysine ·HCl	0.21	0.23
DL-Methionine	0.08	0.05
<i>L</i> -Threonine	0.04	0.05
Salt	0.40	0.40
Vit-mineral, Sow 6 ^b	0.30	0.30
Total	100.00	100.00
Calculated energy and nutrient		
Metabolizable energy, kcal/kg	3463	3429
Net energy, kcal/kg	2601	2575
Crude protein, %	22.27	20.80
Arg, ^c %	1.23	1.15
His, ^c %	0.49	0.47
Ile, ^c %	0.83	0.76
Leu, ^c %	1.62	1.55
Lys, ^c %	1.35	1.23
Met, ^c %	0.45	0.39
Thr, ^c %	0.79	0.73
Trp, ^c %	0.23	0.21
Val, ^c %	0.91	0.84
Met + Cys, ^c %	0.74	0.68
Phe + Tyr, ^c %	1.45	1.38
Ca, %	0.80	0.70
Total P, %	0.68	0.59
Digestible P, %	0.47	0.37

Table 3.1. Ingredient compositions of experimental diets^a

^aIn each phase, three additional diets were formulated by adding 0.3% monoglyceride

blend, 3,000 mg/kg zinc oxide, or 50 mg/kg carbadox to the control diet, respectively

^bProvided the following quantities of vitamins and micro minerals per kilogram of complete diet: vitamin A as retinyl acetate, 11,136 IU; vitamin D₃ as cholecalciferol, 2,208 IU;

vitamin E as *DL*-alpha-tocopheryl acetate, 66 IU; vitamin K as menadione dimethylpyrimidinol bisulfite, 1.42 mg; thiamin as thiamine mononitrate, 0.24 mg; riboflavin, 6.59 mg; pyridoxine as pyridoxine hydrochloride, 0.24 mg; vitamin B₁₂, 0.03 mg; *D*-pantothenic acid as *D*-calcium pantothenate, 23.5 mg; niacin, 44.1 mg; folic acid, 1.59 mg; biotin, 0.44 mg; Cu, 20 mg as copper sulfate and copper chloride; Fe, 126 mg as ferrous sulfate; I, 1.26 mg as ethylenediamine dihydriodide; Mn, 60.2 mg as manganese sulfate; Se, 0.3 mg as sodium selenite and selenium yeast; and Zn, 125.1 mg as zinc sulfate

^cAmino acids were indicated as standardized ileal digestible amino acids

Gene ²	Acc. No ³	Forward primer (5'-3')	Reverse primer (5'-3')
MUC2	AK231524	CAACGGCCTCTCCTTCTCTGT	GCCACACTGGCCCTTTGT
CLDN1	NM_001244539	TCTTAGTTGCCACAGCATGG	CCAGTGAAGAGAGCCTGACC
ZO-1	AJ318101	CCGCCTCCTGAGTTTGATAG	CAGCTTTAGGCACTGTGCTG
OCLN	NM_001163647	TTCATTGCTGCATTGGTGAT	ACCATCACACCCAGGATAGC
IL1A	NM_214029	CAGCCAACGGGAAGATTCTG	ATGGCTTCCAGGTCGTCAT
IL1B	NM_214055	CCTTGAAACGTGCAATGATG	TTCAAGTCCCCTGTGAGGAG
IL6	NM_214399.1	TAAGGGAAATGTCGAGGCCG	TTGTGTTCTTCATCCACTCGT
IL7	NM_214135	CAACTGCACCAGCAAGGTTAAAG	AAGTCCCCCTGTCTTTTCTGTTC
IL10	NM_214041.1	TCGGCCCAGTGAAGAGTTTC	GGAGTTCACGTGCTCCTTGA
IL12	NM_213993	CGTGCCTCGGGCAATTATA	CGCAGGTGAGGTCGCTAGTT
PTGS2	AF207824	ATAAGTGTGACTGCACCCGAAC	GGTGGGCTATCAATCAGATGTG
TNFa	NM_214022.1	CGTGAAGCTGAAAGACAACCAG	GATGGTGTGAGTGAGGAAAAC
18S rRNA	NM_213940.1	AGGAAAGCAGACATCGACCT	ACCTGGCTGTACTTCCCATC

Table 3.2. Gene-specific primer sequences and polymerase chain reaction conditions¹

¹Thermal cycling conditions were 95°C for 20 sec and 95°C for 1 sec, followed by 40 cycles with 20 sec at 60°C. ²*MUC2* = Mucin 2; *CLDN1* = Claudin-1; *ZO-1* = Zonula occludens-1; *OCLN* = Occludin; *IL1A* = Interleukin-1 alpha; *IL1B* = Interleukin-1 beta; *IL6* = Interleukin 6; *IL7* = Interleukin 7; *IL10* = Interleukin 10; *IL12* = Interleukin 12, *PTGS2* = Prostaglandinendoperoxide synthase 2; *TNFa* = Tumor necrosis factor-alpha; *I8S* rRNA = 18S ribosomal ribonucleic acid. ³Accession number in GenBank database.

131

Item ^c	Control	Monoglycerides	ZNO ^d	Antibiotic	SEM	<i>P</i> -value
BW, kg						
d -7	6.50	6.47	6.51	6.48	0.19	0.95
d 0	7.44	7.46	7.81	7.43	0.23	0.12
d 5 PI	7.56 ^b	7.38 ^b	9.25 ^a	7.95 ^b	0.34	< 0.01
d 14 PI ^e	12.88 ^b	12.56 ^b	14.71 ^a	12.77 ^b	0.43	< 0.05
d 21 PI ^e	17.43 ^b	17.00 ^b	19.14 ^a	17.33 ^b	0.52	< 0.05
ADG, g						
d -7 to 0	154	145	186	135	20.97	0.30
d 0 to 5 PI	38 ^b	44 ^b	287 ^a	104 ^b	34.14	< 0.01
d 0 to 14 PI ^e	346 ^b	330 ^b	452 ^a	362 ^b	26.98	< 0.05
d 0 to 21 PI ^e	470 ^b	431 ^b	526 ^a	457 ^b	15.29	< 0.01
ADFI, g						
d -7 to 0	271	267	278	273	28.71	0.98
d 0 to 5 PI	353	376	451	405	28.64	0.14
d 0 to 14 PI ^e	553 ^b	607 ^b	718 ^a	577 ^b	25.93	< 0.01
d 0 to 21 PI ^e	680 ^b	741 ^{ab}	826 ^a	719 ^b	32.32	< 0.05
Gain:Feed						
d -7 to 0	0.55	0.54	0.67	0.48	0.054	0.10
d 0 to 5 PI	0.10 ^b	0.11 ^b	0.60 ^a	0.23 ^b	0.069	< 0.01
d 0 to 14 PI ^e	0.62	0.55	0.63	0.61	0.029	0.25
d 0 to 21 PI ^e	0.66 ^a	0.58 ^b	0.62 ^{ab}	0.64 ^a	0.014	< 0.05

Table 3.3. Growth performance of enterotoxigenic *Escherichia coli* F18-challenged weaned pigs

 fed experimental diets

^{a,b}Means without a common superscript are different (P < 0.05)

^cBW Body weight, ADG Average daily gain, ADFI Average daily feed intake, PI Post-

inoculation. Each least squares mean represents 14-15 observations

^d*ZNO* High-dose zinc oxide

^eEach least squares mean represents 8–9 observations

Item ^d	Control	Monoglyceride	ZNO ^e	Antibiotic	SEM	<i>P</i> -value
d 0 before inoculation						
TNF-α, pg/mL	187.51	197.13	208.46	226.26	38.15	0.90
CRP, µg/mL	7.57 ^{ab}	5.56 ^b	8.26 ^{ab}	11.88 ^a	2.61	< 0.05
Haptoglobin, µg/mL	1531.22 ^{ab}	1236.94 ^{ab}	756.45 ^b	2217.13 ^a	402.98	0.06
d 2 post-inoculation						
TNF-α, pg/mL	236.35	277.77	235.19	232.65	42.62	0.86
CRP, µg/mL	9.15	5.95	8.96	10.59	2.06	0.18
Haptoglobin, µg/mL	1637.06 ^a	1783.59 ^a	818.70 ^b	1724.84 ^a	284.28	< 0.05
d 5 post-inoculation						
TNF-α, pg/mL	271.96	334.52	291.19	271.28	51.42	0.81
CRP, µg/mL	6.49	6.98	4.19	8.76	1.62	0.21
Haptoglobin, µg/mL	1800.29 ^a	1118.21 ^b	365.53°	1300.01 ^{ab}	224.95	< 0.01
d 14 post-inoculation ^f						
TNF-α, pg/mL	462.00 ^a	254.71 ^{ab}	213.75 ^b	400.18 ^{ab}	69.97	0.07
CRP, µg/mL	7.95 ^{ab}	8.42 ^a	6.92 ^b	8.21 ^{ab}	1.56	0.09
Haptoglobin, µg/mL	1280.88	1250.54	551.28	1002.63	332.56	0.42
d 21 post-inoculation ^f						
TNF-α, pg/mL	421.64	275.89	273.94	290.19	79.20	0.49
CRP, µg/mL	9.10 ^a	9.12 ^a	4.18 ^b	8.23 ^a	1.33	< 0.01
Haptoglobin, µg/mL	626.76	770.43	174.50	130.36	201.65	0.11

Table 3.4. Serum tumor necrosis factor-alpha and acute-phase proteins in enterotoxigenic Escherichia coli F18-challenged weaned

pigs fed experimental diets

^{a,b,c}Means without a common superscript are different (P < 0.05)

^d*TNF*- α Tumor necrosis factor-alpha, *CRP* C-reactive protein. Each least squares mean represents 14–15 observations

^eZNO High-dose zinc oxide

^fEach least squares mean represents 8–9 observations

Item ^c	Control	Monoglycerid	ZNO ^d	Antibiotic	SEM	<i>P</i> -value
d 5 PI						
Duodenum						
Goblet cells, per villus	10.97 ^b	8.61 ^b	18.58 ^a	12.86 ^{ab}	2.40	< 0.05
Villus area, µm ²	12473 ^b	14342 ^b	20838 ^a	16097 ^b	1549	< 0.01
Villus height, µm	183.56 ^b	190.73 ^b	274.42 ^a	216.75 ^b	13.11	< 0.01
Villus width, µm	70.92	81.33	81.22	79.10	4.62	0.13
Crypt depth, µm	245.58	236.32	237.64	251.08	21.00	0.88
Crypt width, µm	25.02	24.88	24.99	24.24	1.12	0.91
VH:CD	0.77^{b}	0.83 ^b	1.21 ^a	0.91 ^b	0.072	< 0.01
Jejunum						
Goblet cells, per villus	4.87	6.95	4.73	4.08	1.53	0.60
Villus area, µm ²	12434	12002	16387	13376	1817	0.30
Villus height, µm	200.14	205.14	236.62	213.79	17.42	0.42
Villus width, µm	64.45	61.02	69.64	63.84	3.86	0.28
Crypt depth, µm	147.26	135.38	138.27	145.15	13.03	0.81
Crypt width, µm	22.73	23.42	24.23	25.18	1.049	0.23
VH:CD	1.41	1.68	1.79	1.56	0.16	0.35
Ileum						
Goblet cells, per villus	15.38	16.40	17.00	17.28	2.90	0.97
Villus area, µm ²	12826	9723	11251	11128	1101	0.11
Villus height, µm	184.86	174.00	193.78	173.11	12.18	0.58
Villus width, µm	67.95	64.39	60.84	63.62	2.92	0.27
Crypt depth, µm	170.20^{a}	123.54 ^b	136.34 ^b	137.90 ^b	12.29	< 0.05

Table 3.5. Intestinal morphology of enterotoxigenic Escherichia coli F18-challenged weaned pigs fed experimental diets

	Crypt width, µm	22.34	22.85	23.64	24.13	0.64	0.50
	VH:CD	1.20 ^b	1.36 ^{ab}	1.57 ^a	1.34 ^{ab}	0.110	0.06
	d 21 PI ^e						
	Duodenum						
	Goblet cells, per villus	28.80 ^{ab}	25.04 ^{ab}	37.07 ^a	21.44 ^b	3.98	0.07
	Villus area, µm ²	30642 ^{ab}	24823 ^b	34452 ^a	25941 ^b	2336	< 0.05
	Villus height, µm	309.02 ^b	278.81 ^b	366.04 ^a	271.89 ^b	18.64	< 0.05
	Villus width, µm	98.56	88.51	96.46	97.05	3.17	0.18
	Crypt depth, µm	275.04	272.96	282.99	250.34	14.52	0.41
	Crypt width, µm	27.29	28.85	27.28	27.05	0.90	0.52
	VH:CD	1.21	1.15	1.37	1.18	0.101	0.42
	Jejunum						
	Goblet cells, per villus	8.89	10.08	11.57	9.08	1.41	0.45
6	Villus area, µm ²	18156	18460	18590	19026	1343	0.97
	Villus height, µm	257.12	276.95	282.69	279.23	15.19	0.66
	Villus width, µm	73.33	69.45	71.08	73.11	2.71	0.71
	Crypt depth, µm	165.89	170.21	180.80	165.23	11.99	0.56
	Crypt width, µm	26.48	26.67	26.13	26.44	0.80	0.97
	VH:CD	1.69	1.70	1.71	1.79	0.15	0.95
	Ileum						
	Goblet cells, per villus	18.40	19.74	22.26	18.18	3.45	0.73
	Villus area, µm ²	14508	15979	16654	15200	2130	0.57
	Villus height, µm	220.74	239.54	248.57	236.31	17.99	0.42
	Villus width, µm	70.96	75.91	73.84	71.49	5.13	0.66
	Crypt depth, μm	166.96	154.41	161.84	148.58	14.19	0.59

Crypt width, µm	27.50	28.50	25.85	26.24	1.038	0.21
VH:CD	1.40	1.70	1.90	1.70	0.12	0.22

^{a,b}Means without a common superscript are different (P < 0.05)

^c*PI* Post-inoculation, *VH:CD* Villus height-to-crypt depth ratio. Each least squares mean represents 6 observations

^d*ZNO* High-dose zinc oxide

^eEach least squares mean represents 8–9 observations

Table 3.6. Number of neutrophils and macrophages in the ileum of enterotoxigenic Escherichia

Item	Control	Monoglycerides	ZNO ^d	Antibiotic	SEM	<i>P</i> -value
d 5 post-inoculat	tion ^e					
Neutrophils	2596 ^a	1759 ^{ab}	1382 ^b	1406 ^b	382	< 0.05
Macrophages	2236 ^a	1715 ^{ab}	676 ^c	1085 ^{bc}	369	< 0.05
ahar -			44.99			

coli F18-challenged weaned pigs fed experimental diets

^{a,b,c}Means without a common superscript are different (P < 0.05)

^d*ZNO* High-dose zinc oxide

^eEach least squares mean represents 6 observations

Metabolite	Fold change ^a	VIP ^b	FDR ^c
Control vs. ZNO ^d , d 5 post-inoculation			
pantothenic acid	0.32	1.97	0.156
Fructose	0.43	2.08	0.137
Monoglycerides vs. ZNO, d 5 post-inoculation			
piperidone	0.12	2.05	0.093
kynurenine	0.34	1.87	0.099
beta-alanine	0.36	1.78	0.099
xylonic acid	0.41	1.82	0.099
nicotinamide	0.44	1.83	0.099
pantothenic acid	0.46	1.77	0.099
glutaric acid	0.48	1.60	0.141
hippuric acid	2.08	1.56	0.157
6-Oxopiperidine-2-carboxylic acid	2.28	1.75	0.099
histidine	2.29	1.50	0.177
sucrose	2.43	1.72	0.110
indoxyl sulfate	2.45	1 59	0.141
glycyl tyrosine	2.19	1.59	0.141
alpha-aminoadinic acid	4.48	1.59	0.177
Monoglycerides vs. Antibiotic d 5 post-inocul	otion	1.51	0.177
lactose	2 38	2 /19	0.034
cellobiose	2.50	2.49	0.034
Control vs. ZNO d 1/ post-inoculation	2.71	2.52	0.034
piperidone	0.00	1 70	0.014
glutaric acid	0.09	1.79	0.014
glucarel 3 galactosida	0.30	1.21	0.140
oloio acid	0.33	1.47	0.007
5 mothexystruptomine	0.37	1.23	0.129
5-methoxyu yptanine	0.38	1.47	0.007
thumino	0.42	1.01	0.014
ulyillille condunital hate anouida	0.45	1.71	0.024
biopurio ogid	2.18	1.02	0.057
indele 2 granianie seid	5.50	1.31	0.062
Managhuaridae un ZNO d 14 nest incentatio	5.40	1.40	0.007
Monoglycendes vs. ZNO, d 14 post-moculatio	n 0 10	1.70	0.021
pipendone	0.10	1.70	0.031
giycerol	0.22	1.75	0.031
taurine	0.22	1.14	0.194
glutaric acid	0.25	1.35	0.118
serotonin	0.30	1.62	0.032
oleic acid	0.37	1.28	0.137
glycerol-3-galactoside	0.40	1.31	0.129
mannose	0.47	1.75	0.031
hippuric acid	3.31	1.43	0.078
indole-3-propionic acid	5.25	1.63	0.032
ZNO vs. Antibiotic, d 14 post-inoculation			
hippuric acid	0.34	1.72	0.158
indole-3-propionic acid	0.43	1.70	0.158
thymine	2.09	2.05	0.070
pantothenic acid	2.60	1.70	0.158
glycerol	2.73	1.79	0.150
piperidone	4.84	1.83	0.150

 Table 3.7. Serum metabolites that differed among the dietary treatment groups

^aFold change values less than one indicate that the differential metabolites were reduced in the Control compared to ZNO or Monoglycerides compared to ZNO or Monoglycerides compared to Antibiotic or ZNO compared to Antibiotic, respectively

^b*VIP* Variable importance in projection

^c*FDR* False discovery rate

^d*ZNO* High-dose zinc oxide

Pathway name	Impact ^a	P-value ^b
Control vs. Monoglycerides, d 5 post-inoculation		
Taurine and hypotaurine metabolism	0.71	0.017
Phenylalanine metabolism	0.36	0.027
Control vs. ZNO ^c , d 5 post-inoculation		
Arginine biosynthesis	0.41	< 0.001
beta-Alanine metabolism	0.40	0.026
Arginine and proline metabolism	0.34	0.006
Pyruvate metabolism	0.21	0.030
Citrate cycle (TCA cycle)	0.13	0.023
Glyoxylate and dicarboxylate metabolism	0.10	0.017
Glycolysis / Gluconeogenesis	0.10	0.046
Control vs. Antibiotic d 5 post-inoculation	0.10	0.010
Citrate cycle (TCA cycle)	0.21	0.002
Glyoxylate and dicarboxylate metabolism	0.11	0.012
Phenylalanine metabolism	0.36	0.032
Monoglycerides vs. ZNO d 5 post-inoculation	0.50	0.032
Citrate cycle (TCA cycle)	0.13	0.024
Tauring and hypotauring matchedism	0.13	0.024
hete Alenino metabolism	0.71	0.023
Monoglygorides us. Antibiotic. d 5 nost inequlation	0.40	0.028
Touring and hypotouring metabolism	0.71	0.001
Nigotineta and nigotinemide metabolism	0.71	0.001
Nicounate and nicounamide metabolism	0.19	0.010
beta-Alanine metabolism	0.40	0.026
ZNO vs. Antibiotic, d5 post-inoculation	0.40	0.004
beta-Alanine metabolism	0.40	0.004
Citrate cycle (ICA cycle)	0.19	0.023
Control vs. Monoglycerides, d 14 post-inoculation	0.01	0.014
Glyoxylate and dicarboxylate metabolism	0.21	0.014
Taurine and hypotaurine metabolism	0.29	0.022
Control vs. ZNO, d 14 post-inoculation	0.14	0.001
Alanine, aspartate and glutamate metabolism	0.16	< 0.001
Citrate cycle (TCA cycle)	0.31	< 0.001
Glyoxylate and dicarboxylate metabolism	0.24	< 0.001
Pyrimidine metabolism	0.12	0.003
Control vs. Antibiotic, d 14 post-inoculation		
Citrate cycle (TCA cycle)	0.21	0.003
Glyoxylate and dicarboxylate metabolism	0.11	0.015
Taurine and hypotaurine metabolism	0.71	0.023
Monoglycerides vs. ZNO, d 14 post-inoculation		
Citrate cycle (TCA cycle)	0.28	< 0.001
Glyoxylate and dicarboxylate metabolism	0.24	< 0.001
Alanine, aspartate and glutamate metabolism	0.16	0.003
Pyrimidine metabolism	0.10	0.012
Monoglycerides vs. Antibiotic, d 14 post-inoculation		
Citrate cycle (TCA cycle)	0.19	0.017
ZNO vs. Antibiotic, d14 post-inoculation		
Alanine, aspartate and glutamate metabolism	0.36	< 0.001
Glyoxylate and dicarboxylate metabolism	0.22	< 0.001
Citrate cycle (TCA cycle)	0.27	< 0.001
D-Glutamine and D-glutamate metabolism	0.50	< 0.001
Pyrimidine metabolism	0.18	0.001
Arginine biosynthesis	0.12	0.010
beta-Alanine metabolism	0.40	0.031

Table 3.8. Significant impact pathways in serum that affected by the dietary treatment groups

^aPathway impact value; cumulative percentage from the matched metabolite nodes that

calculated from pathway topology analysis

^bOriginal *P*-value calculated from the enrichment analysis

^c*ZNO* High-dose zinc oxide

Fecal score



Figure 3.1. Daily fecal score of enterotoxigenic *Escherichia coli* F18-challenged weaned pigs fed diets supplemented with monoglycerides, high-dose zinc oxide (ZNO), or antibiotic. Fecal score = 1, normal feces, 2, moist feces, 3, mild diarrhea, 4, severe diarrhea, 5, watery diarrhea. *P < 0.05, indicating fecal scores were significantly different among treatments. #P < 0.10, indicating fecal scores tended to different among treatments. Each least squares mean represents 14–15 observations before d 5 post-inoculation (PI) and each least squares mean represents 8–9 observations after d 5 PI.

Frequency of diarrhea, %



Figure 3.2. Frequency of diarrhea (overall period) of enterotoxigenic *Escherichia coli* F18challenged weaned pigs fed diets supplemented with monoglycerides, high-dose zinc oxide (ZNO), or antibiotic. Frequency of diarrhea was calculated as the percentage of pig days with fecal score \geq 3 or 4 in the total of pig days. ^{a,b,c}Means without a common superscript are different (*P* < 0.05) in frequency of diarrhea \geq 3. ^{A,B,C}Means without a common superscript are different (*P* < 0.05) in frequency of diarrhea \geq 4.





Figure 3.3. The percentage (%) of β -hemolytic coliforms in fecal samples of enterotoxigenic *Escherichia coli* F18-challenged pigs fed diets supplemented with monoglycerides, high-dose zinc oxide (ZNO), or antibiotic. No β -hemolytic coliforms were observed in the fecal samples of pigs before *Escherichia. coli* challenge. β -hemolytic coliforms were only observed in control pigs on d 21 post-inoculation (PI). Each least squares mean represents 14–15 observations on d 2 and 5 PI and each least squares mean represents 8–9 observations on d 7, 10, 14, and 21 PI. ^{a,b}Means without a common superscript are different (*P* < 0.05).



Figure 3.4. Intestinal morphology of enterotoxigenic *Escherichia coli* F18-challenged weaned pigs fed experimental diets on d 5 post-inoculation.



Figure 3.5. Relative mRNA abundance of genes in jejunal mucosa of enterotoxigenic *Escherichia coli* F18-challenged weaned pigs fed diets supplemented with monoglycerides, high-dose zinc oxide, or antibiotic. Each least squares mean represents 6–9 observations. PI = Post-inoculation; MUC2 = Mucin 2; *CLDN1* = Claudin-1; *ZO-1* = Zonula occludens-1; *OCLN* = Occludin



Figure 3.6. Relative mRNA abundance of genes in ileal mucosa of enterotoxigenic *Escherichia coli* F18-challenged pigs supplemented with monoglycerides, high-dose zinc oxide, or antibiotic on d 5 (**A**) and 21 PI (**B**). ^{a,b}Means without a common superscript are different (P < 0.05). Each least squares mean represents 6–9 observations. PI = Post-inoculation; *TNFa* = Tumor necrosis factor-alpha; *IL6* = Interleukin 6; *IL7* = Interleukin 7; *IL10* = Interleukin 10; *IL12* = Interleukin 12; *IL1A* = Interleukin-1 alpha, *IL1B* = Interleukin-1 beta; *MUC2* = Mucin 2, and *PTGS2* = Prostaglandin-endoperoxide synthase 2



Figure 3.7. Partial Least Squares Discriminant Analysis (PLS-DA) 2D score plot of the metabolites in serum showed separated clusters between the CON and ZNO, MG and ZNO, MG and AB, and ZNO and AB groups on d 5 (**A**) and/or d 14 (**B**) post-inoculation, respectively. CON = Control; MG = Monoglycerides; ZNO = High-dose zinc oxide; AB = Antibiotic. Shaded areas in different colors represent in 95% confidence interval.



Figure 3.8. Partial Least Squares Discriminant Analysis (PLS-DA) 2D score plot of the metabolites in serum showed separated clusters between the CON and ZNO (**A** and **B**), MG and ZNO (**C** and **D**) on d 5 (**A** and **C**) and d 14 (**B** and **D**) post-inoculation, respectively. CON = Control; MG = Monoglycerides; ZNO = High-dose zinc oxide. Shaded areas in different colors represent in 95% confidence interval.



Figure 3.9. Partial Least Squares Discriminant Analysis (PLS-DA) 2D score plot of the metabolites in serum showed separated clusters between the MG and AB (**A** and **B**), ZNO and AB (**C** and **D**) on d 5 (**A** and **C**) and d 14 (**B** and **D**) post-inoculation, respectively. MG = Monoglycerides; ZNO = High-dose zinc oxide; AB = Antibiotic. Shaded areas in different colors represent in 95% confidence interval.



Figure 3.10. Significantly changed pathways in serum between the control and monoglycerides groups on d 5 (**A**) and d 14 (**C**) post-inoculation, respectively. The x-axis represents the pathway impact values and the y-axis represents the $-\log(P)$ values from the pathway enrichment analysis. Metabolite set enrichment analysis shows the metabolic pathways were enriched in control compared with monoglycerides on d 5 (**B**) and d 14 (**D**) post-inoculation, respectively. Both pathway analysis and metabolite set enrichment analysis were performed using identified metabolites with VIP > 1.



Figure 3.11. Significantly changed pathways in serum between the control and high-dose zinc oxide (ZNO) groups on d 5 (**A**) and d 14 (**C**) post-inoculation, respectively. The x-axis represents the pathway impact values and the y-axis represents the $-\log(P)$ values from the pathway enrichment analysis. Metabolite set enrichment analysis shows the metabolic pathways were enriched in control compared with ZNO on d 5 (**B**) and d 14 (**D**) post-inoculation, respectively. Both pathway analysis and metabolite set enrichment analysis were performed using identified metabolites with VIP > 1.



Figure 3.12. Significantly changed pathways in serum between the monoglycerides and high-dose zinc oxide (ZNO) groups on d 5 (**A**) and d 14 (**C**) post-inoculation, respectively. The x-axis represents the pathway impact values and the y-axis represents the $-\log(P)$ values from the pathway enrichment analysis. Metabolite set enrichment analysis shows the metabolic pathways were enriched in monoglycerides compared with ZNO on d 5 (**B**) and d 14 (**D**) post-inoculation, respectively. Both pathway analysis and metabolite set enrichment analysis were performed using identified metabolites with VIP > 1.



Figure 3.13. Significantly changed pathways in serum between the monoglycerides and antibiotic groups on d 5 (**A**) and d 14 (**C**) post-inoculation, respectively. The x-axis represents the pathway impact values and the y-axis represents the $-\log(P)$ values from the pathway enrichment analysis. Metabolite set enrichment analysis shows the metabolic pathways were enriched in monoglycerides compared with antibiotic on d 5 (**B**) and d 14 (**D**) post-inoculation, respectively. Both pathway analysis and metabolite set enrichment analysis were performed using identified metabolites with VIP > 1.



Figure 3.14. Significantly changed pathways in serum between the high-dose zinc oxide (ZNO) and antibiotic groups on d 5 (**A**) and d 14 (**C**) post-inoculation, respectively. The x-axis represents the pathway impact values and the y-axis represents the $-\log(P)$ values from the pathway enrichment analysis. Metabolite set enrichment analysis shows the metabolic pathways were enriched in ZNO compared with antibiotic on d 5 (**B**) and d 14 (**D**) post-inoculation, respectively. Both pathway analysis and metabolite set enrichment analysis were performed using identified metabolites with VIP > 1.

CHAPTER 4

DIETARY SUPPLEMENTATION OF BLEND OF ORGANIC ACIDS AND MONOGLYCERIDES ALLEVIATED DIARRHEA AND SYSTEMIC INFLAMMATION OF WEANED PIGS EXPERIMENTALLY INFECTED WITH ENTEROTOXIGENIC ESCHERICHIA COLI F18

ABSTRACT

The emergence of antibiotic resistant microorganisms associated with conventional swine production practices has increased interest in acid-based compounds having antimicrobial properties and other biological functions as nutritional interventions. Despite the interest in organic acids and monoglycerides, few studies have examined the effects of the combination of these acidbased additives in weaned pigs under disease challenge conditions. Therefore, this study aimed to investigate the effects of dietary supplementation with blends of organic acids or medium-chain fatty acid monoglycerides on intestinal health and systemic immunity of weaned pigs experimentally infected with an enterotoxigenic *Escherichia coli* (ETEC) F18. Dietary supplementation of organic acids, monoglycerides, or both organic acids and monoglycerides (combination) reduced (P < 0.05) frequency of diarrhea of ETEC F18-infected pigs throughout the experimental period. This is consistent with the reduced (P < 0.05) proportion of β -hemolytic coliforms in feces observed in organic acids and combination treatments on d 10 post-inoculation. Supplementation of organic acids, monoglycerides, or combination also reduced (P < 0.05) bacterial translocation in mesenteric lymph nodes on d 21 post-inoculation. ETEC infection increased (P < 0.05) total white blood cells, neutrophils, lymphocytes, monocytes, eosinophils,

and basophils. ETEC infection also decreased (P < 0.05) red cell distribution width and increased (P < 0.05) percentage of packed cell volume and levels of hemoglobin and total protein. Pigs fed with monoglycerides or combination had lower (P < 0.05) white blood cells on d 5 postinoculation, and pigs in combination group also had lower (P < 0.05) lymphocytes than pigs in control group. Monoglyceride supplementation increased (P < 0.05) white blood cells and neutrophils compared with control group on d 14 post-inoculation. However, supplementation with organic acid blend, monoglyceride blend, or combination did not affect growth performance in this experiment. Supplementation with monoglycerides or organic acids alone or in combination ameliorates the detrimental effects of ETEC F18 infection in weaned pigs, as indicated by reduced diarrhea, fecal shedding, and bacterial translocation, and thus enhancing disease resistance. Monoglycerides reduce the inflammatory response during peak infection, but their immunomodulatory and possible synergistic effects with organic acids need to be further investigated.

Keywords: Acidifiers, Antimicrobial agents, Diarrhea, Enterotoxigenic *Escherichia coli*, Monoglycerides, Systemic immunity, Weaned pigs

INTRODUCTION

Weaning, a critical and inevitable stage in pig production, presents a variety of challenges, including rapid dietary transitions, immature physiological and immune systems, and environmental changes (Pluske, 2016; Park et al., 2020). The multifactorial stressor decreases appetite, induces intestinal dysfunction, and increases susceptibility to pathogens in weaned pigs, resulting not only in post-weaning diarrhea but also in inflammatory response (Xiong et al., 2019). Colonization of enterotoxigenic *Escherichia coli* (ETEC) in the small intestine, especially strains expressing the F18 fimbriae, is the most common cause of post-weaning diarrhea in pigs (Rhouma et al., 2017). The changes in the host resulting from interaction with ETEC F18 are not fully understood, but disturbances in fluid secretion and electrolyte imbalances caused by virulence factors have been reported (Fleckenstein et al., 2010; Kim et al., 2022b). ETEC F18 infection in weaned pigs leads to diarrhea, dehydration, stunted growth, and even significant mortality (Sun and Kim, 2017; Navez et al., 2023). Moreover, stress in the early life stage can exacerbate the severity and duration of this enteric disease and vice versa (McLamb et al., 2013).

Nutritional strategies to manage the adverse effects of weaning stress and post-weaning diarrhea have become even more important, particularly as usage of antibiotic growth promoters has been restricted and reduced due to increasing concerns over public health risks from antimicrobial resistance and environmental footprint (Liu et al., 2018; Pluske et al., 2018; Helm et al., 2019). Organic acids, organic compounds containing a carboxyl group, have been proposed as a viable alternative to antibiotic growth promoters due to their benefits on animal health and growth (Tugnoli et al., 2020). During the weaning period, pigs have immature digestive systems and produce insufficient hydrochloric acid, making supplementation with organic acids particularly significant (Ferronato and Prandini, 2020). For example, organic acid supplementation

can lower the stomach pH, thereby increasing pepsin activity and reducing pathogen load by creating a hostile environment for pathogens (Kim et al., 2005). The benefits of organic acid supplementation extend beyond these effects, encompassing a variety of bioactivities that ultimately enhance nutrient utilization and growth performance in pigs (Suiryanrayna and Ramana, 2015; Ferronato and Prandini, 2020). Although organic acids have been utilized in swine feed for a while, inconsistent responses in animals have prompted further research to determine the optimal application methods and efficacy across various factors (e.g., types and combinations of organic acids, animal conditions, etc.) (Liu et al., 2018; Nguyen et al., 2020; Tugnoli et al., 2020).

Monoglycerides, glycerol monoesters of organic fatty acids, have attracted interest as an alternative to corresponding fatty acids. Esterification of organic fatty acids with glycerol increases stability, reduces unpleasant odors, and allows for a gradual release of the active substance throughout the intestine, facilitating their use as additives (Jackman et al., 2020). Monoglycerides of medium-chain fatty acids (MCFA; C6-12) have demonstrated antibacterial activities against a broad spectrum of pathogens, including Escherichia coli (Hyldgaard et al., 2012; Churchward et al., 2018; Kovanda et al., 2019), and are classified as GRAS (generally recognized as safe) in the United States and widely utilized in the food industry (Moonen and Bas, 2014). MCFA monoglycerides have been reported to play various biological roles, such as immunomodulation (Wang et al., 2006; Zhang et al., 2016) and improvement of intestinal health (Amer et al., 2021; Kong et al., 2021), based on *in vitro* and *in vivo* experiments. In addition, synergistic antibacterial effects have been observed when MCFA or their esters were combined with organic acids (Thormar et al., 2006; Kim and Rhee, 2013). Despite the interest in organic acids and monoglycerides and their potential synergy, few studies have explored their use as blends to enhance disease resistance and resilience in pigs. Therefore, the objectives of the current study

were 1) to evaluate the influence of dietary supplementation of organic acids or monoglycerides on the growth performance, intestinal health, and immune responses of weaned pigs experimentally infected with ETEC F18; and 2) to investigate whether combination of these acidbased additives has synergistic effects on animal health in *in vivo* challenge model.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Animals, housing, experimental design, and diet

The protocol for this study was reviewed and approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee at the University of California, Davis (IACUC #21875). A total of 40 piglets (initial body weight [BW] = 7.81 ± 0.84 kg) weaned around 21 d of age were obtained from the Swine Teaching and Research Center at the University of California, Davis. The sows and piglets used in this experiment did not receive *Escherichia coli* vaccines, antibiotic injections, or antibiotics in creep feed. Before weaning, fecal samples were collected from sows and all their piglets destined for this study to verify the absence of β -hemolytic *Escherichia coli*. The *Escherichia coli* F18 receptor status was also tested based on the methods of Kreuzer et al. (2013), and only piglets susceptible to *Escherichia coli* F18 were selected for this study. After weaning, all pigs were randomly assigned to one of the four dietary treatments (10 replicates/treatment) in a randomized complete block design with BW as the block and pig as the experimental unit. Pigs were housed in individual pens (0.61 m × 1.22 m) for 28 days, including 7 days before and 21 days after the first *Escherichia coli* challenge. All piglets had free access to feed and water. The light was on at 07:30 h and off at 19:30 h daily in the environmental control unit.

The four dietary treatments included: 1) a corn-soybean meal-based nursery basal diet (control); 2) the basal diet with 0.3% organic acid blend (Acitra G20C, Eastman, blend of formic acid, lactic acid, and sodium formate); 3) the basal diet with 0.3% monoglyceride blend (Entero-
Nova 410C, Eastman, blend of short- and medium-chain fatty acids); 4) the basal diet with Acitra G20C at 0.2% and Entero-Nova 410C at 0.2% (combination). A 2-phase feeding program was used, with the first two weeks as phase 1 and the last two weeks as phase 2 (Table 1). Spray-dried plasma, antibiotics, and high levels of zinc oxide exceeding recommendation and normal practice were not included in the basal diet. All diets were formulated to meet pig nutritional requirements (NRC, 2012) and provided as mash form throughout the experiment.

After 7 days of adaptation, all pigs were orally inoculated with 3 mL of ETEC F18 for three consecutive days from d 0 post-inoculation (PI). The ETEC F18 was originally isolated from a field disease outbreak by the University of Montreal (isolate number: ECL22131). The ETEC F18 expresses heat-labile toxin and heat-stable toxins a and b. The inoculums were prepared at 10¹⁰ colony-forming units (CFU) per 3 mL dose in phosphate-buffered saline. This dose caused mild diarrhea in the current study, consistent with our previously published research (Liu et al., 2013; Kim et al., 2019a; He et al., 2022).

Clinical observations and sample collections

The procedures of this experiment were adapted from previous research (Liu et al., 2013; Kim et al., 2019b; He et al., 2020; Wong et al., 2022). Clinical observations (fecal score and alertness score) were recorded twice daily throughout the study. The fecal score of each pig was assessed each day visually by two independent evaluators, with the score ranging from 1 to 5 (1 = normal feces, 2 = moist feces, 3 = mild diarrhea, 4 = severe diarrhea, and 5 = watery diarrhea). The frequency of diarrhea was calculated as the percentage of the pig days with fecal score of 3 or greater. Alertness was scored from 1 to 3 (1 = normal, 2 = slightly depressed or listless, and 3 = severely depressed or recumbent). Scores for alertness did not exceed two throughout the experiment (data not shown). Pigs were weighed on weaning day (d -7; initial BW), d 0 (before first inoculation), 7, 14, and 21 PI. Feed intake was recorded throughout the study. Average daily gain (ADG), average daily feed intake (ADFI), and feed efficiency (gain:feed ratio) were calculated for each period. Fecal samples were collected from the rectum of all pigs on d -7, 0, 2, 5, 7, 10, 14, and 21 PI using a cotton swab to test β-hemolytic coliforms and the percentage of β-hemolytic coliforms to total coliforms (Liu et al., 2013; Kim et al., 2019b; He et al., 2020; Wong et al., 2022). Blood samples were collected from the jugular vein of all pigs with or without ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid to yield whole blood and serum, respectively, before ETEC challenge (d 0), and on d 2, 5, or 14 PI. Serum samples were collected and immediately stored at -80 °C before further analysis.

All pigs were euthanized at the end of the experiment. Before euthanization, pigs were anesthetized with 1 mL mixture of 100 mg telazol, 50 mg ketamine, and 50 mg xylazine (2:1:1) by intramuscular injection. After anesthesia, intracardiac injection with 78 mg Fatal-Plus solution (sodium pentobarbital, MWI Animal Health, Visalia, CA, USA) per 1 kg of BW was used to euthanize each pig. Mesenteric lymph nodes were aseptically collected and then pooled within the pig, grounded, diluted, and plated on brain heart infusion agar for measurement of total bacteria, and the results were expressed as CFU per g of mesenteric lymph nodes (Almeida et al., 2013; Garas et al., 2016). Spleen samples were analyzed in the same manner as mesenteric lymph nodes for bacterial translocation.

Detection of β-hemolytic coliforms

Briefly, fecal samples were plated on Columbia blood agar with 5% sheep blood (Biological Media Service, School of Veterinary Medicine, University of California, Davis) to identify hemolytic coliforms, which can lyse red blood cells (RBC) surrounding the colony. Fecal samples were also plated on MacConkey agar (Biological Media Service, School of Veterinary Medicine, University of California, Davis) to enumerate total coliforms. Hemolytic colonies from the blood agar were sub-cultured on MacConkey agar to confirm that they were lactose-fermenting bacteria and flat pink colonies. All plates were incubated at 37 °C for 24 h in an air incubator. Populations of both total coliforms and β -hemolytic coliforms on blood agar were visually scored from 0 to 8 (0 = no bacterial growth, 8 = very heavy bacterial growth). The ratio of scores of β hemolytic coliforms to total coliforms was calculated.

Measurement of immune response biomarkers

Whole blood samples collected on d 0, 5, and 14 PI were used for measuring total and differential blood cell counts by Comparative Pathology Laboratory at the University of California, Davis. A multiparameter, automated programmed hematology analyzer (Drew/ERBA Scientific 950 FS Hematological Analyzer, Drew Scientific Inc., Miami, FL, USA) was used for the assay to differentiate porcine blood optimally. Serum samples collected from d 0, 2, 5, and 14 PI were analyzed for C-reactive protein (CRP; R&D Systems Inc., Minneapolis, MN, USA) and haptoglobin (Aviva Systems Biology, San Diego, CA, USA) using porcine-specific enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay kits following the manufacturer's procedures. All samples, including standards, were analyzed in duplicate. The intensity of the color was measured at 450 nm with the correction wavelength set at 530 nm using a plate reader (BioTek Instruments, Inc., Winooski, VT, USA). The concentrations of each analyte in the tested samples were calculated based on a standard curve. The intra-assay coefficients of variation for CRP and haptoglobin were 3.8% and 8.5% respectively. The inter-assay coefficients of variation for CRP and haptoglobin were 5.6% and 8.2%, respectively. Serum samples collected from d 0, 5, and 14 PI were also analyzed for inflammatory cytokines (granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor, interleukin [IL]-1

alpha, IL-6, IL-8, and tumor necrosis factor-alpha) using a Porcine Immunology Multiplex Discovery Assay (PD13; Eve Technologies Corp, Calgary, AB, Canada).

Statistical analysis

The normality of data was verified and outliers were identified using the UNIVARIATE procedure (SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC, USA). Outliers were identified and removed as values that deviated from the treatment mean by more than 3 times the interquartile range. All data except frequency of diarrhea were analyzed by ANOVA using the PROC MIXED of SAS (SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC, USA) in a randomized complete block design with the pig as the experimental unit. The statistical model included diet as the main effect and block as a random effect. Treatment means were separated by using the LSMEANS statement and the PDIFF option of PROC MIXED. The Chi-square test was used for analyzing the frequency of diarrhea. Statistical significance and tendency were considered at P < 0.05 and $0.05 \le P < 0.10$, respectively.

RESULTS

Growth performance, diarrhea incidence, β-hemolytic coliforms

There was no significant difference in the initial BW of pigs among dietary treatments (Table 2). In comparison to control, supplementation of organic acids, monoglycerides, or combination did not affect BW, ADG, ADFI, and gain:feed ratio of pigs throughout the experiment. Supplementation with organic acids, monoglycerides, or combination of both did not affect average daily fecal scores throughout the experiment (Figure 4.1). However, the frequency of diarrhea (fecal score \geq 3) was lower (*P* < 0.05) in organic acids (29.77%), monoglycerides (25.49%), and combination groups (28.57%) than control group (39.29%) during the overall experimental period (Figure 4.2).

No β -hemolytic coliforms were identified in fecal samples of pigs before ETEC F18 inoculation (Figure 4.3), but the β -hemolytic coliforms were detected in feces from all pigs on d 2 PI. No significant differences were observed in the percentage of fecal β -hemolytic coliforms at each time point, except that organic acid blend and combination reduced (*P* < 0.05) the percentage of fecal β -hemolytic coliforms on d 10 PI compared to control. However, comparable percentages of β -hemolytic coliforms in feces were observed in the three supplemented groups on d 10 PI.

Bacterial translocation

Pigs supplemented with organic acids, monoglycerides, or combination had lower (P < 0.05) counts of total coliforms (CFU/g) in mesenteric lymph nodes on d 21 PI compared with control group (Figure 4.4). The total coliforms (CFU/g) in mesenteric lymph nodes did not differ between the three supplemented groups. There was no significant difference in total coliforms (CFU/g) in spleen among the dietary treatments.

Systemic immunity and red blood cell profile

ETEC F18 inoculation increased (P < 0.05) the total white blood cell (WBC) number, and the counts of neutrophils, lymphocytes, monocytes, eosinophils, and basophils as the pig age increased (Table 3). The proportion of eosinophils and basophils was increased (P < 0.05) on d 14 PI compared with d 0 or 5 PI. The ETEC F18 infection also affected the RBC profile by decreasing (P < 0.05) red cell distribution width on d 5 and 14 PI, but increasing (P < 0.05) the percentage of packed cell volume and levels of hemoglobin and total protein on d 14 PI.

No difference was observed in the WBC profile among dietary treatments on d 0 before ETEC F18 inoculation (Table 4). Supplementation of organic acids did not affect the WBC profiles on d 5 and 14 PI. Pigs fed with monoglycerides or combination had lower (P < 0.05) WBC counts on d 5 PI, compared with control. Supplementation of combination also reduced (P < 0.05) number

of lymphocytes and neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio (NLR) on d 5 PI compared with control. However, pigs supplemented with monoglycerides had greater (P < 0.05) numbers of WBC and neutrophils and higher (P < 0.05) NLR on d 14 PI compared to control.

The effects of dietary supplementation of organic acids, monoglycerides, or combination on the RBC profiles of weaned pigs were limited on d 0, with the exception that pigs in organic acid blend group had increased (P < 0.05) mean platelet volume (Table 5), which continued into the subsequent period. Pigs in the combination group had the greatest (P < 0.05) RBC on d 5 PI. On d 14 PI, pigs in the combination group had greatest (P < 0.05) RBC and hemoglobin counts, but the lowest (P < 0.05) platelet counts among dietary treatments.

Pigs in the monoglycerides group tended (P < 0.10) to have the lowest IL-1 alpha level on d 0 and 14 PI, followed by pigs in the combination group (Table 6). However, dietary treatments did not affect IL-6 and IL-8 levels. Supplementation of monoglycerides also tended (P < 0.10) to reduce serum granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor and tumor necrosis factor-alpha on d 0 and 5 PI. No difference was observed in C-reactive protein and haptoglobin levels among dietary treatments throughout the experiment.

DISCUSSION

In the swine industry, post-weaning diarrhea caused by ETEC F18 is a significant disease in terms of the negative impact on productivity, profitability, and sustainability, particularly due to issues related to antibiotic resistance and environmental impacts (Bonetti et al., 2021; Duarte et al., 2023). Despite growing interest in the bioactivity and effects of nutritional interventions such as organic acids and monoglycerides, there has been limited research on disease resistance and resilience in weaned pigs under disease challenge conditions. The present study aims to contribute to our understanding of practical nutritional intervention by investigating the impacts of various mixtures of acid-based feed additives on performance, diarrhea, fecal culture, bacterial translocation, and systemic inflammation of weaned pigs challenged with ETEC F18.

ETEC with the F18 fimbrial adhesin, the primary cause of post-weaning diarrhea, adheres to and proliferates in the small intestine, producing enterotoxins that disrupt fluid homeostasis (Almeida et al., 2022; Kim et al., 2022b; Almeida et al., 2023). Diarrhea, bacterial fecal shedding, and associated signs are commonly used to assess challenge efficacy (Luise et al., 2019). Following ETEC F18 inoculation, increased diarrhea and β-hemolytic coliform fecal shedding were observed, indicating successful infection in our challenge model. These observations are consistent with our previous studies using the same ETEC strain, which also showed peak infection on d 3 to 5 PI followed by gradual recovery (Liu et al., 2013; Kim et al., 2022a; Wong et al., 2022). The current study demonstrates that supplementation with organic acid blend, monoglyceride blend, or their combination effectively reduced the frequency of diarrhea in ETEC F18-infected pigs. This is supported by changes in the percentage of β -hemolytic coliform in feces. While there was no difference in β-hemolytic coliform fecal shedding among the treatment groups during the early infection stage, pigs in the organic acids and combination groups exhibited the lowest fecal shedding on d 10 PI, followed by pigs in the monoglycerides group. These findings are consistent with previous research suggesting that the reduction in diarrhea of pigs may be due to the inhibition of ETEC proliferation by supplementing organic acids (Tsiloyiannis et al., 2001), monoglycerides (Kovanda et al., 2023), or combination (Ren et al., 2020).

Organic acids have unique pKa values and exhibit different degrees of dissociation depending on the pH of their environment. The undissociated form can penetrate bacterial cell membranes, lowering intracellular pH and disrupting bacterial homeostasis (Tugnoli et al., 2020). Combinations of acids with different pKa values can exert broad effects throughout the gastrointestinal tract (Ravindran and Kornegay, 1993; Nguyen et al., 2020). Monoglycerides, on the other hand, act pH-independently (Wang and Johnson, 1992; Yoon et al., 2018) and primarily disrupt bacterial phospholipid membranes, altering membrane permeability and exerting antibacterial effects (Yoon et al., 2018; Jackman et al., 2022). Synergistic antibacterial effect of the combination of acid and monoglycerides has been reported in *in vitro* microbiology studies. In the current *in vivo* challenge study, both organic acid and monoglycerides reduced frequency of diarrhea and fecal β -hemolytic coliforms, but no additional reduction was observed in the combination group. The results of diarrhea frequency and fecal shedding suggest that continuous supplementation with mixtures of acid-based additives has the potential to enhance intestinal barrier function and resilience to pathogenic challenges over time.

To investigate the effects of organic acids, monoglycerides, and their combination on intestinal barrier function and immune responses in ETEC-infected pigs, bacterial translocation and systemic immunity were examined. Regardless of the harmfulness of bacteria in the gut, bacterial invasion into the other organs due to bacterial overgrowth, intestinal barrier dysfunction, or compromised immune system can lead to systemic inflammation and damage (Nagpal and Yadav, 2017). This invasion is often observed in disease conditions and can serve as an indicator of bacterial infection (Berg, 1995; Nagpal and Yadav, 2017). Different bacteria may vary in their efficiency of translocating from the gastrointestinal tract to organs, such as mesenteric lymph nodes, spleen, and liver. Mesenteric lymph nodes are particularly efficient site for translocating *Enterobacteriaceae* family (Gram-negative, facultatively anaerobic; e.g., *Escherichia coli*) (Berg, 1995; Yadav and Kumar, 2022). The results of bacterial translocation indicate that organic acid blend, monoglyceride blend, and their combination improved the integrity of the intestinal barrier during ETEC infection, potentially reducing systemic spread of pathogens.

The activation of innate immunity by lipopolysaccharides (LPS) in the outer membrane of ETEC leads to the release of inflammatory cytokines, immune cell recruitment, and disruption of intestinal integrity, resulting in systemic inflammation (Kim et al., 2022b; Duarte et al., 2023). The increase in WBC counts observed in this study aligns with previous research (Song et al., 2012; Liu et al., 2013; Kovanda et al., 2023), indicating that innate immunity plays a significant role in both the early stages as well as throughout the progression of ETEC infection, reflecting a systemic inflammatory response. Supplementation with monoglycerides or the combination reduced WBC counts on d 5 PI, suggesting modulation of the inflammatory response. Moreover, although the blend of organic acid or monoglyceride groups showed intermediate levels, the combination group exhibited lower lymphocytes and NLR than the control group, indicating enhanced immunemodulatory effects in ETEC F18-challenged pigs near the peak of infection. These findings are in close agreement with our previous research involving other types of acid-based products (i.e., monobutyrin or monovalerin) (Kovanda et al., 2023), suggesting that supplementation with the combination may synergistically reduce systemic inflammation induced by ETEC infection. Our observations of reduced inflammatory cytokines further support the immunomodulatory effects of monoglycerides.

Interestingly, monoglycerides supplementation further increased WBC, neutrophils, and NLR on d 14 PI, potentially linked to the activation of G protein-coupled receptors (GPCR) by monoglyceride-derived MCFA. It has been reported that MCFA act as ligands for various GPCR present in the plasma membrane of various cells, influencing cellular processes (Ikeda et al., 2022). Specifically, GPR84, predominantly expressed on immune cells, enhances the inflammatory response upon activation (Recio et al., 2018; Huang et al., 2021; Yang et al., 2024) and has been reported to be upregulated by LPS (Huang et al., 2021; Yang et al., 2024). Therefore, the relatively

high level of neutrophils in the monoglycerides group on d 14 PI may be associated with sustained innate immune response (Marwick et al., 2018; Loh and Vermeren, 2022; Silva et al., 2023), contributing to pathogen clearance.

Despite the aforementioned symptomatic and physiological improvements, there were no differences across treatments in the growth performance of newly weaned pigs challenged with ETEC F18 in this study. These findings are also consistent with previous studies where the addition of acid-based additives improved intestinal and immune status but did not significantly impact growth performance (Zentek et al., 2013; Amer et al., 2021). It is important to note that enhancing overall disease resistance in pigs, particularly during the post-weaning period, may reduce the risk of other enteric diseases and the necessity for antibiotic use.

In summary, the present study thoroughly investigated the effects of several mixtures of acid-based feed additives on the performance, diarrhea, fecal shedding, bacterial translocation, and immunity of newly weaned pigs challenged with ETEC F18. Supplementation with organic acid blend (formic acid, lactic acid, and sodium formate), a monoglyceride blend of SCFA and MCFA, or a combination of both acid-based additives benefited the control of post-weaning diarrhea and may alleviate intestinal damage caused by ETEC infection as indicated by reduced fecal shedding and bacterial translocation. The monoglyceride blend of SCFA and MCFA exhibited immunomodulatory effects on the host and shows promise for synergistic effects with organic acids, warranting further investigation.

LITERATURE CITED

- Almeida, J. A. S., Y. Liu, M. Song, J. J. Lee, H. R. Gaskins, C. W. Maddox, O. Osuna, and J. E. Pettigrew. 2013. Escherichia coli challenge and one type of smectite alter intestinal barrier of pigs. J. Anim. Sci. Biotechnol. 4:1–8. doi:10.1186/2049-1891-4-52.
- Almeida, M., G. Li, N. Macedo, and P. Pineyro. 2022. F18 Escherichia coli update. In: ISU James D. McKean Swine Disease Conference. p. 33–35.
- Almeida, M., B. Sexton, G. Mariano, A. Wadle, E. Coursey, T. Sorrells, R. Nelli, G. Li, N.
 Macedo, and P. Pineyro. 2023. Escherichia coli post-weaning: what does the diagnostic laboratory data tell us? In: ISU James D. McKean Swine Disease Conference. p. 89–90.
- Amer, S. A., A. A-Nasser, H. S. Al-Khalaifah, D. M. M. Alsadek, D. M. Abdel Fattah, E. M. Roushdy, W. R. I. A. Sherief, M. F. M. Farag, D. E. Altohamy, A. A. A. Abdel-Wareth, and A. E. Metwally. 2021. Effect of dietary medium-chain α-monoglycerides on the growth performance, intestinal histomorphology, amino acid digestibility, and broiler chickens' blood biochemical parameters. Animals. 11:1–14. doi:10.3390/ani11010057.
- Berg, R. D. 1995. Bacterial translocation from the gastrointestinal tract. Trends Microbiol. 3:149–154. doi:10.1007/978-1-4615-4143-1_2.
- Bonetti, A., B. Tugnoli, A. Piva, and E. Grilli. 2021. Towards zero zinc oxide: feeding strategies to manage post-weaning diarrhea in piglets. Animals. 11:642. doi:10.3390/ani11030642.
- Churchward, C. P., R. G. Alany, and L. A. S. Snyder. 2018. Alternative antimicrobials: the properties of fatty acids and monoglycerides. Crit. Rev. Microbiol. 44:561–570. doi:10.1080/1040841X.2018.1467875. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1080/1040841X.2018.1467875

- Duarte, M. E., Y. Garavito-Duarte, and S. W. Kim. 2023. Impacts of F18+ Escherichia coli on Intestinal Health of Nursery Pigs and Dietary Interventions. Animals. 13:2791. doi:10.3390/ani13172791.
- Ferronato, G., and A. Prandini. 2020. Dietary supplementation of inorganic, organic, and fatty acids in pig: A review. Animals. 25:1740. doi:10.3390/ani10101740.
- Fleckenstein, J. M., P. R. Hardwidge, G. P. Munson, D. A. Rasko, H. Sommerfelt, and H.
 Steinsland. 2010. Molecular mechanisms of enterotoxigenic Escherichia coli infection.
 Microbes Infect. 12:89–98. doi:10.1016/j.micinf.2009.10.002. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.micinf.2009.10.002
- Garas, L. C., C. Feltrin, M. Kristina Hamilton, J. V. Hagey, J. D. Murray, L. R. Bertolini, M. Bertolini, H. E. Raybould, and E. A. Maga. 2016. Milk with and without lactoferrin can influence intestinal damage in a pig model of malnutrition. Food Funct. 7:665–678. doi:10.1039/c5fo01217a.
- He, Y., C. Jinno, K. Kim, Z. Wu, B. Tan, X. Li, R. Whelan, and Y. Liu. 2020. Dietary Bacillus spp. enhanced growth and disease resistance of weaned pigs by modulating intestinal microbiota and systemic immunity. J. Anim. Sci. Biotechnol. 11:101. doi:10.1186/s40104-020-00498-3.
- He, Y., C. Jinno, C. Li, S. L. Johnston, H. Xue, Y. Liu, and P. Ji. 2022. Effects of a blend of essential oils, medium-chain fatty acids, and a toxin-adsorbing mineral on diarrhea and gut microbiome of weanling pigs experimentally infected with a pathogenic Escherichia coli. J. Anim. Sci. 100:skab365. doi:10.1093/jas/skab365.

Helm, E. T., S. Curry, J. M. Trachsel, M. Schroyen, and N. K. Gabler. 2019. Evaluating nursery pig responses to in-feed sub-therapeutic antibiotics. PLoS One. 14:1–16. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0216070.

Huang, L., L. Gao, and C. Chen. 2021. Role of Medium-Chain Fatty Acids in Healthy Metabolism: A Clinical Perspective. Trends Endocrinol. Metab. 32:351–366. doi:10.1016/j.tem.2021.03.002. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tem.2021.03.002

- Hyldgaard, M., D. S. Sutherland, M. Sundh, T. Mygind, and R. L. Meyer. 2012. Antimicrobial mechanism of monocaprylate. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 78:2957–2965. doi:10.1128/AEM.07224-11.
- Ikeda, T., A. Nishida, M. Yamano, and I. Kimura. 2022. Short-chain fatty acid receptors and gut microbiota as therapeutic targets in metabolic, immune, and neurological diseases.
 Pharmacol. Ther. 239:108273. doi:10.1016/j.pharmthera.2022.108273. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pharmthera.2022.108273
- Jackman, J. A., R. D. Boyd, and C. C. Elrod. 2020. Medium-chain fatty acids and monoglycerides as feed additives for pig production: towards gut health improvement and feed pathogen mitigation. J. Anim. Sci. Biotechnol. 11:44. doi:10.1186/s40104-020-00446-1.
- Jackman, J. A., T. A. Lavergne, and C. C. Elrod. 2022. Antimicrobial monoglycerides for swine and poultry applications. Front. Anim. Sci. 3:1–9. doi:10.3389/fanim.2022.1019320.
- Kim, K., A. Ehrlich, V. Perng, J. A. Chase, H. Raybould, X. Li, E. R. Atwill, R. Whelan, A. Sokale, and Y. Liu. 2019a. Algae-derived β-glucan enhanced gut health and immune

responses of weaned pigs experimentally infected with a pathogenic E. coli. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 248:114–125. doi:10.1016/j.anifeedsci.2018.12.004.

- Kim, K., Y. He, C. Jinno, L. Kovanda, X. Li, D. Bravo, E. Cox, and Y. Liu. 2022a.
 Supplementation of oligosaccharide-based polymer enhanced growth and disease resistance of weaned pigs by modulating intestinal integrity and systemic immunity. J. Anim. Sci. Biotechnol. 13:10. doi:10.1186/s40104-021-00655-2.
- Kim, K., Y. He, X. Xiong, A. Ehrlich, X. Li, H. Raybould, E. R. Atwill, E. A. Maga, J. Jørgensen, and Y. Liu. 2019b. Dietary supplementation of Bacillus subtilis influenced intestinal health of weaned pigs experimentally infected with a pathogenic E. coli. J. Anim. Sci. Biotechnol. 10:52. doi:10.1186/s40104-019-0364-3.
- Kim, K., M. Song, Y. Liu, and P. Ji. 2022b. Enterotoxigenic Escherichia coli infection of weaned pigs: Intestinal challenges and nutritional intervention to enhance disease resistance. Front. Immunol. 13:885253. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2022.885253.
- Kim, S. A., and M. S. Rhee. 2013. Marked synergistic bactericidal effects and mode of action of medium-chain fatty acids in combination with organic acids against Escherichia coli
 O157: H7. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 79:6552–6560. doi:10.1128/AEM.02164-13.
- Kim, Y. Y., D. Y. Kil, H. K. Oh, and I. K. Han. 2005. Acidifier as an alternative material to antibiotics in animal feed. Asian-Australasian J. Anim. Sci. 18:1048–1060. doi:10.5713/ajas.2005.1048.
- Kong, L., Z. Wang, C. Xiao, Q. Zhu, and Z. Song. 2021. Glycerol Monolaurate Ameliorated Intestinal Barrier and Immunity in Broilers by Regulating Intestinal Inflammation, Antioxidant Balance, and Intestinal Microbiota. Front. Immunol. 12:1–14. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2021.713485.

- Kovanda, L., J. Park, S. Park, K. Kim, X. Li, and Y. Liu. 2023. Dietary butyrate and valerate glycerides impact diarrhea severity and immune response of weaned piglets under ETEC F4-ETEC F18 coinfection conditions. J. Anim. Sci. 101:skad401.
 doi:10.1093/jas/skad401.
- Kovanda, L., W. Zhang, X. Wei, J. Luo, X. Wu, E. R. Atwill, S. Vaessen, X. Li, and Y. Liu.
 2019. In vitro antimicrobial activities of organic acids and their derivatives on several species of gram-negative and gram-positive bacteria. Molecules. 24:3770.
 doi:10.3390/molecules24203770.
- Kreuzer, S., M. Reissmann, and G. A. Brockmann. 2013. New fast and cost-effective gene test to get the ETEC F18 receptor status in pigs. Vet. Microbiol. 163:392–394.
 doi:10.1016/j.vetmic.2012.12.040. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.vetmic.2012.12.040
- Liu, Y., C. D. Espinosa, J. J. Abelilla, G. A. Casas, L. V. Lagos, S. A. Lee, W. B. Kwon, J. K. Mathai, D. M. D. L. Navarro, N. W. Jaworski, and H. H. Stein. 2018. Non-antibiotic feed additives in diets for pigs: a review. Anim. Nutr. 4:113–125. doi:10.1016/j.aninu.2018.01.007.
- Liu, Y., M. Song, T. M. Che, J. A. S. Almeida, J. J. Lee, D. Bravo, C. W. Maddox, and J. E. Pettigrew. 2013. Dietary plant extracts alleviate diarrhea and alter immune responses of weaned pigs experimentally infected with a pathogenic Escherichia coli. J. Anim. Sci. 91:5294–5306. doi:10.2527/jas.2012-6194.
- Loh, W., and S. Vermeren. 2022. Anti-Inflammatory Neutrophil Functions in the Resolution of Inflammation and Tissue Repair. Cells. 11. doi:10.3390/cells11244076.

- Luise, D., C. Lauridsen, P. Bosi, and P. Trevisi. 2019. Methodology and application of Escherichia coli F4 and F18 encoding infection models in post-weaning pigs. J. Anim.
 Sci. Biotechnol. 10:1–20. doi:10.1186/s40104-019-0352-7.
- Marwick, J. A., R. Mills, O. Kay, K. Michail, J. Stephen, A. G. Rossi, I. Dransfield, and N.
 Hirani. 2018. Neutrophils induce macrophage anti-inflammatory reprogramming by suppressing NF-κB activation article. Cell Death Dis. 9. doi:10.1038/s41419-018-0710-y.
- McLamb, B. L., A. J. Gibson, E. L. Overman, C. Stahl, and A. J. Moeser. 2013. Early Weaning Stress in Pigs Impairs Innate Mucosal Immune Responses to Enterotoxigenic E. coli Challenge and Exacerbates Intestinal Injury and Clinical Disease. PLoS One. 8:1–12. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0059838.
- Moonen, H., and H. Bas. 2014. Emulsifiers in Food Technology. In: V. Norn, editor. Emulsifiers in Food Technology. Second Edi. Blackwell Publishing Ltd. p. 73–90.
- Nagpal, R., and H. Yadav. 2017. Bacterial translocation from the gut to the distant organs: An overview. Ann. Nutr. Metab. 71:11–16. doi:10.1159/000479918.
- National Research Council (NRC). 2012. Nutrient Requirements of Swine: Eleventh Revised Edition. National Academies Press, Washington, D.C. Available from: http://www.nap.edu/catalog/13298
- Navez, M., C. Antoine, F. Laforêt, E. Goya-Jorge, C. Douny, M. L. Scippo, M. Vermeersch, J. N. Duprez, G. Daube, J. Mainil, B. Taminiau, V. Delcenserie, and D. Thiry. 2023. In Vitro Effect on Piglet Gut Microbiota and In Vivo Assessment of Newly Isolated Bacteriophages against F18 Enterotoxigenic Escherichia coli (ETEC). Viruses. 15. doi:10.3390/v15051053.

- Nguyen, D. H., W. J. Seok, and I. H. Kim. 2020. Organic acids mixture as a dietary additive for pigs—a review. Animals. 10:952. doi:10.3390/ani10060952.
- Park, S., W. Li, B. St-Pierre, Q. Wang, and T. A. Woyengo. 2020. Growth performance, nutrient digestibility and fecal microbial composition of weaned pigs fed multi-enzyme supplemented diets. J. Anim. Sci. 98:1–10. doi:10.1093/jas/skaa306.
- Pluske, J. R. 2016. Invited review: Aspects of gastrointestinal tract growth and maturation in the pre- and postweaning period of pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 94:399–411. doi:10.2527/jas2015-9767.
- Pluske, J. R., D. L. Turpin, and J.-C. Kim. 2018. Gastrointestinal tract (gut) health in the young pig. Anim. Nutr. 4:187–196. doi:10.1016/j.aninu.2017.12.004.
- Ravindran, V., and E. T. Kornegay. 1993. Acidification of weaner pig diets: A review. J. Sci. Food Agric. 62:313–322. doi:10.1002/jsfa.2740620402.
- Recio, C., D. Lucy, G. S. D. Purvis, P. Iveson, L. Zeboudj, A. J. Iqbal, D. Lin, C. O'Callaghan,
 L. Davison, E. Griesbach, A. J. Russell, G. M. Wynne, L. Dib, C. Monaco, and D. R.
 Greaves. 2018. Activation of the immune-metabolic receptor GPR84 enhances
 inflammation and phagocytosis in macrophages. Front. Immunol. 9.
 doi:10.3389/fimmu.2018.01419.
- Ren, C., Y. Wang, X. Lin, H. Song, Q. Zhou, W. Xu, K. Shi, J. Chen, J. Song, F. Chen, S. Zhang, and W. Guan. 2020. A Combination of Formic Acid and Monolaurin Attenuates Enterotoxigenic Escherichia coli Induced Intestinal Inflammation in Piglets by Inhibiting the NF-κB/MAPK Pathways with Modulation of Gut Microbiota. J. Agric. Food Chem. 68:4155–4165. doi:10.1021/acs.jafc.0c01414.

- Rhouma, M., J. M. Fairbrother, F. Beaudry, and A. Letellier. 2017. Post weaning diarrhea in pigs: Risk factors and non-colistin-based control strategies. Acta Vet. Scand. 59:1–19. doi:10.1186/s13028-017-0299-7.
- Silva, L. M., T. S. Kim, and N. M. Moutsopoulos. 2023. Neutrophils are gatekeepers of mucosal immunity. Immunol. Rev. 314:125–141. doi:10.1111/imr.13171.
- Song, M., Y. Liu, J. A. Soares, T. M. Che, O. Osuna, C. W. Maddox, and J. E. Pettigrew. 2012. Dietary clays alleviate diarrhea of weaned pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 90:345–360. doi:10.2527/jas.2010-3662.
- Suiryanrayna, M. V. A. N., and J. V. Ramana. 2015. A review of the effects of dietary organic acids fed to swine. J. Anim. Sci. Biotechnol. 6:1–11. doi:10.1186/s40104-015-0042-z. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/s40104-015-0042-z
- Sun, Y., and S. W. Kim. 2017. Intestinal challenge with enterotoxigenic Escherichia coli in pigs, and nutritional intervention to prevent postweaning diarrhea. Anim. Nutr. 3:322–330. doi:10.1016/j.aninu.2017.10.001. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aninu.2017.10.001
- Thormar, H., H. Hilmarsson, and G. Bergsson. 2006. Stable concentrated emulsions of the 1monoglyceride of capric acid (monocaprin) with microbicidal activities against the foodborne bacteria Campylobacter jejuni, Salmonella spp., and Escherichia coli. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 72:522–526. doi:10.1128/AEM.72.1.522-526.2006.
- Tsiloyiannis, V. K., S. C. Kyriakis, J. Vlemmas, and K. Sarris. 2001. The effect of organic acids on the control of porcine post-weaning diarrhoea. Res. Vet. Sci. 70:287–293. doi:10.1053/rvsc.2001.0476.

- Tugnoli, B., G. Giovagnoni, A. Piva, and E. Grilli. 2020. From acidifiers to intestinal health enhancers: how organic acids can improve growth efficiency of pigs. Animals. 10:134. doi:10.3390/ani10010134.
- Wang, J., X. Wu, N. Simonavicius, H. Tian, and L. Ling. 2006. Medium-chain fatty acids as ligands for orphan G protein-coupled receptor GPR84. J. Biol. Chem. 281:34457–34464. doi:10.1074/jbc.M608019200.
- Wang, L. L., and E. A. Johnson. 1992. Inhibition of Listeria monocytogenes by fatty acids and monoglycerides. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 58:624–629. doi:10.1128/aem.58.2.624-629.1992.
- Wong, B. T., S. Park, L. Kovanda, Y. He, K. Kim, S. Xu, C. Lingga, M. Hejna, E. Wall, R. Sripathy, X. Li, and Y. Liu. 2022. Dietary supplementation of botanical blends enhanced performance and disease resistance of weaned pigs experimentally infected with enterotoxigenic Escherichia coli F18. J. Anim. Sci. 100:skac353. doi:10.1093/jas/skac353.
- Xiong, X., B. Tan, M. Song, P. Ji, K. Kim, Y. Yin, and Y. Liu. 2019. Nutritional intervention for the intestinal development and health of weaned pigs. Front. Vet. Sci. 6:46. doi:10.3389/fvets.2019.00046.
- Yadav, S. S., and P. Kumar. 2022. Assessment of Fibrinogen and Fibronectin Binding Activity.
- Yang, M., J. Zhang, H. Yan, Y. Pan, J. Zhou, H. Zhong, J. Wang, H. Cai, F. Feng, and M. Zhao.
 2024. A comprehensive review of medium chain monoglycerides on metabolic pathways, nutritional and functional properties, nanotechnology formulations and applications in food system. Crit. Rev. Food Sci. Nutr. 0:1–22. doi:10.1080/10408398.2024.2353403.
 Available from: https://doi.org/10.1080/10408398.2024.2353403

- Yoon, B. K., J. A. Jackman, E. R. Valle-González, and N. J. Cho. 2018. Antibacterial free fatty acids and monoglycerides: Biological activities, experimental testing, and therapeutic applications. Int. J. Mol. Sci. 19. doi:10.3390/ijms19041114.
- Zentek, J., F. Ferrara, R. Pieper, L. Tedin, W. Meyer, and W. Vahjen. 2013. Effects of dietary combinations of organic acids and medium chain fatty acids on the gastrointestinal microbial ecology and bacterial metabolites in the digestive tract of weaning piglets. J. Anim. Sci. 91:3200–3210. doi:10.2527/jas.2012-5673.
- Zhang, M. S., A. Sandouk, and J. C. D. Houtman. 2016. Glycerol Monolaurate (GML) inhibits human T cell signaling and function by disrupting lipid dynamics. Sci. Rep. 6:1–13. doi:10.1038/srep30225. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/srep30225

TABLES AND FIGURES

Ingredient, %	Control, phase 1	Control, phase 2
Corn	44.70	54.29
Dried whey	15.00	10.00
Soybean meal	21.50	30.50
Fish meal	3.00	-
Lactose	6.00	-
Soy protein concentrate	5.00	-
Soybean oil	2.00	2.00
Limestone	0.98	1.00
Dicalcium phosphate	0.55	0.90
L-Lysine ·HCl	0.34	0.39
DL-Methionine	0.14	0.12
<i>L</i> -Threonine	0.09	0.10
Salt	0.40	0.40
Vit-mineral, Sow 6 ^b	0.30	0.30
Total	100.00	100.00
Calculated energy and nutrient		
Metabolizable energy, kcal/kg	3418	3375
Net energy, kcal/kg	2564	2508
Crude protein, %	20.84	20.19
Arg, ^c %	1.20	1.19
His, ^c %	0.48	0.48
Ile, ^c %	0.80	0.77
Leu, ^c %	1.57	1.53
Lys, ^c %	1.35	1.29
Met, ^c %	0.44	0.40
Thr, ^c %	0.79	0.76
Trp, ^c %	0.23	0.23
Val, ^c %	0.86	0.82
Met + Cys, ^c %	0.74	0.71
Phe + Tyr, ^c %	1.44	1.42
Ca, %	0.80	0.75
Total P, %	0.62	0.61
Digestible P, %	0.40	0.37
Analyzed nutrients, %		
Dry matter	92.00	90.40
Crude protein	23.00	22.70
Acid detergent fiber	2.80	3.60
Neutral detergent fiber	6.40	8.40

Table 4.1. Ingredient compositions of experimental diets^a

Total Ca	1.39	1.48
Total P	0.64	0.65

^aIn each phase, three additional diets were formulated by adding 0.3% organic acids, 0.3% monoglycerides, or blend of 0.2% organic acids and 0.2% monoglycerides to the control diet, respectively

^bProvided the following quantities of vitamins and micro minerals per kilogram of complete diet: Vitamin A as retinyl acetate, 11136 IU; vitamin D₃ as cholecalciferol, 2208 IU; vitamin E as *DL*-alpha tocopheryl acetate, 66 IU; vitamin K as menadione dimethylprimidinol bisulfite, 1.42 mg; thiamin as thiamine mononitrate, 0.24 mg; riboflavin, 6.59 mg; pyridoxine as pyridoxine hydrochloride, 0.24 mg; vitamin B₁₂, 0.03 mg; *D*-pantothenic acid as *D*-calcium pantothenate, 23.5 mg; niacin, 44.1 mg; folic acid, 1.59 mg; biotin, 0.44 mg; Cu, 20 mg as copper sulfate and copper chloride; Fe, 126 mg as ferrous sulfate; I, 1.26 mg as ethylenediamine dihydriodide; Mn, 60.2 mg as manganese sulfate; Se, 0.3 mg as sodium selenite and selenium yeast; and Zn, 125.1 mg as zinc sulfate

^cAmino acids were indicated as standardized ileal digestible amino acids

Item ^a	Control	OA ^b	MG ^c	OA+MG ^d	SEM	<i>P</i> -value
BW, kg						
d -7	7.72	7.77	7.77	7.76	0.43	0.96
d 0	9.09	8.90	9.10	8.96	0.26	0.87
d 7 PI	11.61	10.96	11.53	11.59	0.40	0.55
d 14 PI	14.83	14.23	15.07	15.02	0.60	0.73
d 21 PI	19.38	18.70	19.18	19.89	0.73	0.69
ADG, g						
d -7 to 0	196	154	196	167	49.34	0.48
d 0 to 7 PI	367	306	360	381	60.31	0.44
d 7 to 14 PI	459	470	509	491	47.04	0.80
d 14 to 21 PI	650	640	583	696	31.24	0.098
d 0 to 21 PI	554	554	546	593	33.54	0.71
d -7 to 21 PI	417	390	410	432	30.51	0.68
ADFI, g						
d -7 to 0	326	302	333	315	34.36	0.80
d 0 to 7 PI	580	553	545	569	70.91	0.95
d 7 to 14 PI	793	784	839	797	55.43	0.89
d 14 to 21 PI	1059	1117	1131	1177	69.24	0.62
d 0 to 21 PI	925	949	986	986	60.24	0.83
d -7 to 21 PI	690	691	712	715	52.03	0.95
Gain:Feed						
d -7 to 0	0.59	0.50	0.58	0.48	0.101	0.31
d 0 to 7 PI	0.61	0.56	0.66	0.66	0.050	0.29
d 7 to 14 PI	0.55	0.60	0.61	0.62	0.034	0.46
d 14 to 21 PI	0.62	0.58	0.52	0.59	0.035	0.08
d 0 to 21 PI	0.60	0.58	0.56	0.60	0.028	0.40
d -7 to 21 PI	0.60	0.57	0.58	0.60	0.020	0.57

Table 4.2. Growth performance of enterotoxigenic *Escherichia coli* F18-challenged weaned pigs

 fed experimental diets

^aBW Body weight, ADG Average daily gain, ADFI Average daily feed intake, PI Post-

inoculation. Each least squares mean represents 9-10 observations

^bOA Organic acid blend

^c*MG* Monoglyceride blend

^dOA+MG = combination of organic acids and monoglycerides

Item ^d	d 0	d 5 PI	d 14 PI	SEM	<i>P</i> -value
WBC, 10 ³ /µL	7.81 ^c	10.09 ^b	11.95 ^a	0.44	< 0.01
Neu, $10^{3}/\mu L$	3.69 ^b	5.09 ^a	5.26 ^a	0.31	< 0.01
Lym, 10 ³ /µL	3.34 ^c	4.08 ^b	4.96 ^a	0.22	< 0.01
Mono, $10^3/\mu L$	0.53 ^c	0.78 ^b	0.94 ^a	0.050	< 0.01
Eos, $10^3/\mu L$	0.15 ^b	0.19 ^b	0.55 ^a	0.051	< 0.01
Baso, $10^3/\mu L$	0.011 ^b	0.019 ^a	0.021 ^a	0.002	< 0.01
Neu, %	46.07	48.96	44.99	1.55	0.20
Lym, %	43.06	40.72	41.73	1.53	0.54
Mono, %	7.13	7.47	8.09	0.47	0.29
Eos, %	1.89 ^b	1.54 ^b	4.89 ^a	0.49	< 0.01
Baso, %	0.13 ^b	0.15 ^{ab}	0.18 ^a	0.017	< 0.05
Neu:Lym	1.03	1.19	1.06	0.079	0.18
RBC, 10 ⁶ /µL	7.38	7.34	7.55	0.14	0.39
HGB, g/dL	8.16 ^b	8.11 ^b	8.68 ^a	0.28	< 0.05
HCT, %	30.39 ^b	29.72 ^b	32.57 ^a	0.55	< 0.01
MCV, fL ^e	41.58 ^{ab}	40.66 ^b	42.70 ^a	0.81	< 0.01
MCH, pg	11.35	11.16	11.78	0.51	0.22
MCHC, g/dL	27.16	27.01	27.43	0.72	0.88
RDW, %	29.23 ^a	27.29 ^b	26.31 ^b	0.68	< 0.01
Platelets, $10^3/\mu L$	461	441	421	57.24	0.42
MPV, fL ^e	7.74	7.52	7.61	0.21	0.21
Total protein, g/dL	4.98 ^b	4.94 ^b	5.15 ^a	0.078	< 0.05

Table 4.3. Total and differential white blood cells and red blood profile in weaned pigs

throughout the experiment

^{a,b,c}Means without a common superscript are different (P < 0.05)

^d*WBC* White blood cell, *Neu* Neutrophil, *Lym* Lymphocyte, *Mono* Monocyte, *Eos* Eosinophil, *Baso* Basophil, *RBC* Red blood cell, *HGB* Hemoglobin, *HCT* Hematocrit (Packed cell volume); *MCV* Mean corpuscular volume, *MCH* Mean corpuscular hemoglobin, *MCHC* Mean corpuscular hemoglobin concentration, *RDW* Red cell distribution width, *MPV* Mean platelet volume. Each least squares mean represents 9-10 observations

^e*fL* Femtolitre (10^{-15} L)

Item ^c	Control	OA ^d	MG ^e	OA+MG ^f	SEM	<i>P</i> -value
d 0 before inoculation						
WBC, 10 ³ /µL	8.16	7.68	7.68	7.74	0.83	0.91
Neu, 10 ³ /µL	3.91	3.51	3.56	3.77	0.60	0.92
Lym, 10 ³ /µL	3.47	3.42	3.24	3.21	0.36	0.78
Mono, $10^3/\mu L$	0.63	0.46	0.54	0.48	0.095	0.21
Eos, $10^3/\mu L$	0.113	0.135	0.187	0.175	0.095	0.67
Baso, $10^3/\mu L$	0.010	0.012	0.012	0.010	0.005	0.95
Neu, %	46.30	44.97	46.26	46.77	3.15	0.97
Lym, %	43.72	43.05	41.90	43.56	3.00	0.97
Mono, %	8.03	6.14	8.00	6.37	0.90	0.28
Eos, %	1.38	1.65	2.39	2.14	0.91	0.63
Baso, %	0.112	0.144	0.145	0.123	0.033	0.89
Neu:Lym	1.11	0.95	1.07	0.97	0.137	0.70
d 5 post-inoculation						
WBC, 10 ³ /µL	11.59 ^a	10.19 ^{ab}	9.86 ^b	8.72 ^b	0.83	< 0.05
Neu, 10 ³ /µL	5.83	5.32	4.79	4.41	0.60	0.33
Lym, 10 ³ /µL	4.66 ^a	3.87 ^{ab}	4.11 ^{ab}	3.68 ^b	0.36	< 0.05
Mono, $10^3/\mu L$	0.89	0.69	0.83	0.71	0.095	0.36
Eos, $10^{3}/\mu L$	0.193	0.257	0.170	0.154	0.095	0.63
Baso, $10^3/\mu L$	0.018	0.018	0.019	0.020	0.005	0.98
Neu, %	50.08	51.48	48.84	45.46	3.15	0.30
Lym, %	40.40	39.75	39.82	42.89	3.00	0.66
Mono, %	7.63	6.28	8.30	7.66	0.90	0.33
Eos, %	1.28	1.51	1.59	1.77	0.91	0.89
Baso, %	0.119	0.153	0.180	0.130	0.033	0.41
Neu:Lym	1.32 ^a	1.20 ^{ab}	1.26 ^a	0.99 ^b	0.137	< 0.05
d 14 post-inoculation						
WBC, 10 ³ /µL	10.29 ^b	12.20 ^{ab}	12.74 ^a	12.57 ^{ab}	0.83	< 0.05
Neu, $10^{3}/\mu L$	4.09 ^b	5.48 ^{ab}	6.33 ^a	5.15 ^{ab}	0.60	< 0.05
Lym, 10 ³ /µL	4.86	5.32	4.67	4.97	0.36	0.77
Mono, $10^3/\mu L$	0.94	0.86	1.05	0.93	0.095	0.72

Table 4.4. Total and differential white blood cells in enterotoxigenic Escherichia coli F18-

challenged weaned pigs fed experimental diets

Eos, $10^{3}/\mu L$	0.418	0.529	0.547	0.716	0.095	0.50
Baso, $10^3/\mu L$	0.021	0.017	0.026	0.019	0.005	0.67
Neu, %	42.91	42.49	51.12	43.45	3.15	0.33
Lym, %	44.05	41.94	37.74	43.18	3.00	0.62
Mono, %	8.71	8.15	7.98	7.51	0.90	0.85
Eos, %	4.18	4.35	5.34	5.68	0.91	0.79
Baso, %	0.161	0.148	0.226	0.189	0.033	0.34
Neu:Lym	0.89 ^b	0.94 ^{ab}	1.36 ^a	1.04 ^{ab}	0.137	< 0.05

^{a,b}Means without a common superscript are different (P < 0.05)

^cWBC White blood cell, Neu Neutrophil, Lym Lymphocyte, Mono Monocyte, Eos

Eosinophil, Baso Basophil. Each least squares mean represents 9-10 observations

^dOA Organic acid blend

^e*MG* Monoglyceride blend

^fOA+MG = combination of organic acids and monoglycerides

Item ^d	Control	OA ^e	MG ^f	OA+MG ^g	SEM	<i>P</i> -value
d 0 before inoculation						
RBC, 10 ⁶ /µL	7.22	7.36	7.38	7.54	0.25	0.78
HGB, g/dL	8.22	7.89	8.29	8.24	0.47	0.80
HCT, %	29.19	30.70	30.68	31.00	1.05	0.56
MCV, fL ^h	41.51	42.18	41.46	41.18	1.13	0.78
MCH, pg	11.42	11.76	11.26	10.96	0.68	0.66
MCHC, g/dL	27.38	27.68	27.09	26.50	1.03	0.77
RDW, %	29.11	29.32	29.27	29.23	1.08	0.98
Platelets, $10^3/\mu L$	482	522	396	443	69.08	0.32
MPV, fL^h	7.50 ^b	8.24 ^a	7.53 ^b	7.70 ^{ab}	0.26	< 0.05
Total protein, g/dL	5.01	5.08	4.89	4.96	0.12	0.46
d 5 post-inoculation						
RBC, $10^{6}/\mu L$	7.26 ^{ab}	7.04 ^b	7.33 ^{ab}	7.76 ^a	0.25	< 0.05
HGB, g/dL	8.14	7.66	8.23	8.43	0.47	0.65
HCT, %	29.61	28.50	29.44	31.36	1.05	0.37
MCV, fL ^h	40.98	40.80	40.16	40.72	1.13	0.86
MCH, pg	11.23	11.16	11.22	11.02	0.68	0.99
MCHC, g/dL	27.77	27.13	27.85	26.89	1.03	0.74
RDW, %	27.06	27.84	26.64	27.62	1.08	0.85
Platelets, $10^3/\mu L$	384	494	441	443	69.08	0.37
MPV, fL ^h	7.47 ^{ab}	7.91 ^a	7.26 ^b	7.45 ^{ab}	0.26	< 0.05
Total protein, g/dL	4.83	5.07	4.99	4.86	0.12	0.46
d 14 post-inoculation						
RBC, $10^{6}/\mu L$	7.23 ^b	7.20 ^b	7.62 ^{ab}	8.16 ^a	0.25	< 0.05
HGB, g/dL	8.68 ^{ab}	8.01 ^b	9.05 ^{ab}	9.69 ^a	0.47	< 0.05
НСТ, %	31.74 ^{bc}	29.53 ^c	33.24 ^{ab}	35.75 ^a	1.05	< 0.05
MCV, fL ^h	42.73	41.23	42.86	44.00	1.13	0.54
MCH, pg	12.05	11.28	11.84	11.95	0.68	0.86
MCHC, g/dL	27.97	26.85	27.89	27.03	1.03	0.81
RDW, %	26.74	27.04	25.24	26.20	1.08	0.88
Platelets, $10^3/\mu L$	509 ^a	434 ^{ab}	409 ^{ab}	331 ^b	69.08	< 0.05

 Table 4.5. Red blood cell profile in enterotoxigenic Escherichia coli F18-challenged weaned

pigs fed experimental diets

MPV, fL ^h	7.72 ^{ab}	8.05 ^a	7.26 ^b	7.41 ^b	0.26	< 0.05	
Total protein, g/dL	5.14	5.05	5.30	5.08	0.12	0.29	
abcM as a without a common superscript and different $(D < 0.05)$							

^{a,b,c}Means without a common superscript are different (P < 0.05)

^d*RBC* Red blood cell, *HGB* Hemoglobin, *HCT* Hematocrit (Packed cell volume); *MCV* Mean corpuscular volume, *MCH* Mean corpuscular hemoglobin, *MCHC* Mean corpuscular hemoglobin concentration, *RDW* Red cell distribution width, *MPV* Mean platelet volume. Each least squares mean represents 9-10 observations

^eOA Organic acid blend

^f*MG* Monoglyceride blend

^gOA+MG = combination of organic acids and monoglycerides

^h*fL* Femtolitre (10^{-15} L)

Table 4.6. Serum inflammatory cytokines and acute phase proteins in enterotoxigenic

Item ^c	Control	OA ^d	MG ^e	OA+MG ^f	SEM	<i>P</i> -value
d 0 before inoculation						
GM-CSF, pg/mL	97.63 ^a	66.40 ^{ab}	19.88 ^b	106.11 ^a	41.78	0.06
IL-1α, pg/mL	136.68 ^a	142.19 ^a	17.35 ^b	65.23 ^{ab}	63.87	0.07
IL-6, pg/mL	120.02	183.34	83.06	207.92	83.49	0.52
IL-8, pg/mL	140.32	125.81	136.91	177.77	25.04	0.29
TNF-α, pg/mL	228.58 ^{ab}	136.31 ^{ab}	49.05 ^b	302.93 ^a	88.09	0.056
C-reactive protein, µg/mL	6.77	4.32	4.62	6.13	1.54	0.63
Haptoglobin, mg/mL	1.70	1.40	0.99	1.42	0.47	0.24
d 2 post-inoculation						
C-reactive protein, µg/mL	17.85	19.55	18.13	16.99	4.95	0.93
Haptoglobin, mg/mL	2.16	2.82	2.14	2.23	0.66	0.60
d 5 post-inoculation						
GM-CSF, pg/mL	51.06 ^{ab}	53.02 ^{ab}	27.57 ^b	88.94 ^a	22.39	0.055
IL-1α, pg/mL	138.70	152.51	31.53	62.66	66.99	0.12
IL-6, pg/mL	148.57	209.48	117.35	213.25	90.72	0.76
IL-8, pg/mL	106.33	150.79	110.00	211.33	39.63	0.12
TNF-α, pg/mL	129.86	141.61	31.45	194.62	67.52	0.18
C-reactive protein, µg/mL	7.81	9.01	10.24	8.27	2.06	0.79
Haptoglobin, mg/mL	1.43	1.67	1.39	0.97	0.68	0.57
d 14 post-inoculation						
GM-CSF, pg/mL	48.18	47.16	32.45	50.28	6.58	0.22
IL-1α, pg/mL	103.34 ^{ab}	148.50 ^a	27.40 ^b	47.13 ^b	67.27	0.07
IL-6, pg/mL	83.62	169.12	101.47	145.67	60.16	0.68
IL-8, pg/mL	96.90	108.91	93.83	171.07	49.02	0.10
TNF-α, pg/mL	81.19	54.00	29.66	76.27	22.41	0.35
C-reactive protein, µg/mL	7.59	8.17	11.28	9.01	2.33	0.69
Haptoglobin, mg/mL	0.83	0.94	0.88	0.54	0.39	0.74

Escherichia coli F18-challenged weaned pigs fed experimental diets

^{a,b}Means without a common superscript are different (P < 0.05)

^cGM-CSF Granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor, *IL-1α* Interleukin-1 alpha,

IL-6 Interleukin 6, *IL-8* Interleukin 8, *TNF-\alpha* Tumor necrosis factor-alpha. Each least squares

mean represents 9-10 observations

^dOA Organic acid blend

^e*MG* Monoglyceride blend

^fOA+MG = combination of organic acids and monoglycerides

Daily fecal score



Figure 4.1. Daily fecal score of enterotoxigenic *Escherichia coli* F18-challenged weaned pigs fed diets supplemented with organic acid or monoglyceride blends. Fecal score = 1, normal feces, 2, moist feces, 3, mild diarrhea, 4, severe diarrhea, 5, watery diarrhea. PI = post-inoculation. Each least squares mean represents 9-10 observations. OA = organic acid blend; MG = monoglyceride blend; OA+MG = combination of organic acids and monoglycerides.

Frequency of diarrhea, %



Figure 4.2. Frequency of diarrhea of enterotoxigenic *Escherichia coli* F18-challenged weaned pigs fed diets supplemented with organic acid or monoglyceride blends during the entire experimental period. Frequency of diarrhea was calculated as the percentage of pig days with diarrhea score \geq 3 in the total of pig days. ^{a,b}Means without a common superscript are different (*P* < 0.05). OA = organic acid blend; MG = monoglyceride blend; OA+MG = combination of organic acids and monoglycerides.



Figure 4.3. The percentage (%) of β -hemolytic coliform in fecal samples of enterotoxigenic *Escherichia coli* F18-challenged pigs fed diets supplemented with organic acid or monoglyceride blends. Each least squares mean represents 9-10 observations. ^{a,b}Means without a common superscript are different (*P* < 0.05). Control pigs had more (*P* < 0.05) β -hemolytic coliform in feces, compared with pigs in the combination of organic acids and monoglycerides, or pigs only fed with organic acid blend on d 10 post-inoculation (PI). OA = organic acid blend; MG = monoglyceride blend; OA+MG = combination of organic acids and monoglycerides.



Figure 4.4. Total coliforms in mesenteric lymph nodes and spleen of enterotoxigenic *Escherichia coli* F18-challenged weaned pigs fed experimental diets. ^{a,b}Means without a common superscript are different (P < 0.05). Each least squares mean represents 9-10 observations. OA = organic acid blend; MG = monoglyceride blend; OA+MG = combination of organic acids and monoglycerides.
CHAPTER 5

GENERAL SUMMARY, DISCUSSION, AND CONCLUSION

Gut integrity is associated not only with the efficient transport of nutrients through digestion and absorption, but also with proper intestinal barrier and immune function, which includes the ability to isolate and protect the host from external factors detrimental to health and homeostasis. Multifactorial weaning stressors, combined with the abrupt transition of diet from easily digestible liquid to a complex plant-based diet, can result in intestinal dysfunction as well as decreased appetite in weaned pigs, making them more susceptible to pathogen exposure and infection. Diarrhea caused by enterotoxigenic Escherichia coli (ETEC) infection within a few weeks following weaning is common in piglets, compromising gut integrity and negatively affecting both short-term recovery/survival and long-term development of gastrointestinal function, ultimately impacting productivity and animal welfare in swine production. Antibiotics and pharmacological levels of zinc oxide (2,000–3,000 mg/kg) have been widely used during the critical period of swine production to improve productivity and reduce losses by managing postweaning diarrhea and promoting growth. Despite their effectiveness as antimicrobial growth promoters, the use of antibiotics and high-dose zinc oxide in feed has been restricted or reduced due to public concerns about human health, antibiotic resistance, and environmental damage. These challenges, along with the importance of sustainable agriculture, make it essential to reduce reliance on conventional practices and find nutritional interventions for pig growth and health.

Monoglycerides, formed by attaching a fatty acid to glycerol, exhibit broad-spectrum antibacterial effects as well as antiviral activity against enveloped viruses due to their amphiphilic nature. Moreover, the molecular structure of monoglycerides improves handling characteristics and minimizes the loss of unwanted bioactive substances (i.e., organic fatty acids) before reaching the intended site in the intestine. This benefits the intestinal barrier and metabolism of the host. These properties make monoglycerides a valuable and practical nutritional intervention for enhancing disease resistance and/or resilience in weanling pigs by improving intestinal integrity and modulating inflammatory responses. Despite the potential advantages of monoglycerides for growth and health of pigs, few studies have investigated their biological activity and potential use in the transitional period of piglets, particularly in cases of ETEC infection, which commonly occurs after weaning. Therefore, a comprehensive investigation was conducted to explore the benefits and potential use of monoglycerides as a sustainable strategy to improve disease resistance and overall health in weaned pigs through *in vitro* cell culture and *in vivo* ETEC challenge models.

The first *in vitro* study evaluated the biological activities of monoglycerides by measuring the integrity of epithelial monolayer with an intestinal porcine epithelial cell line (IPEC-J2), and assessing immunomodulatory responses with porcine alveolar macrophages (PAM). In terms of epithelial barrier integrity, epithelial cells treated with up to 1,000 μ g/mL of monoglycerides exhibited enhanced barrier function, as indicated by increased transepithelial electrical resistance. Low doses (50 or 100 μ g/mL) of monoglycerides increased pro-inflammatory cytokine production from non-challenged macrophages, while the highest dose (1,000 μ g/mL) increased inflammatory marker in macrophages activated by lipopolysaccharide (LPS). The results from this study suggest that monoglycerides help improve epithelial cell lining and integrity, potentially due to metabolic changes such as providing energy or regulating tight junction protein expression. The study also indicated that monoglycerides have the potential to act as inflammatory modulators, contributing to early immune responses and immune enhancement, which may be related to the regulation of nuclear factor kappa-light-chain-enhancer of activated B cells (NF-xB) in immune cells.

The second study evaluated the effectiveness of dietary monoglycerides (a blend of shortand medium-chain fatty acids; BalanGutTM LS L; BASF SE) on several parameters related to disease resistance and productivity in pigs, including growth performance, diarrhea, local and systemic immune responses, intestinal health, and metabolism. Antimicrobial growth promoter (carbadox) improved growth performance, reduced diarrhea, and decreased fecal shedding of ETEC-infected pigs, while monoglyceride supplementation provided comparable but somewhat limited benefits. Pigs fed monoglycerides had lower serum haptoglobin levels at the peak of infection compared to control pigs. Supplementation of monoglyceride reduced ileal crypt depth and induced changes similar to those observed with carbadox, including reduced neutrophil and macrophage numbers and decreased mRNA expression of TNFA, IL (Interleukin) 6, IL10, IL1A, IL1B, and Prostaglandin-endoperoxide synthase 2 (PTGS2) in the ileal mucosa. Moreover, monoglyceride supplementation influenced serum metabolites associated with cellular homeostasis and antioxidant responses during the peak of ETEC infection in pigs. These results suggest that supplementation of monoglycerides may enhance disease resistance by mitigating intestinal and systemic inflammation and promoting intestinal health in weaned pigs challenged with ETEC. Potential modes of action include modulating various cellular responses through HDAC inhibition and G-protein coupled receptor activation, as well as reducing the inflammatory response to ETEC infection by modulating the NF-kB/MAPK pathway. The second study indicates that supplementation of monoglycerides can alleviate the severity of diarrhea and mitigate intestinal and systemic inflammation in weaned pigs challenged with ETEC.

The third study aimed to evaluate the efficacy of monoglycerides (a blend of short- and medium-chain fatty acids; Entero-Nova 410C, Eastman) in modulating immune response and maintaining gut integrity of ETEC-infected pigs, and their compatibility with organic acids (a blend of formic acid, lactic acid, and sodium formate; Acitra G20C, Eastman). Supplementation

with organic acids, monoglycerides, or their combination alleviated the diarrheal condition compared to the control group. These results are supported by reduced fecal shedding and bacterial translocation to immune organs observed in ETEC-infected pigs supplemented with either organic acids, monoglycerides, or the combination, suggesting mitigation of ETEC colonization or its adverse effects. Supplementation of monoglycerides and the combination of both acid-based additives reduced inflammation markers (white blood cells, neutrophils, lymphocytes, and the ratio of neutrophils to lymphocytes) at the peak of ETEC infection compared to the control group. Additionally, pigs supplemented with monoglycerides had higher levels of white blood cells and neutrophils than the control group after the peak of the infection, which may be associated with a sustained innate immune response or surveillance contributing to recovery and pathogen clearance. The third study demonstrated that monoglycerides or organic acids alone or in combination can ameliorate the detrimental effects of ETEC infection in weaned pigs by alleviating intestinal damage and modulating both intestinal and systemic inflammation.

In summary, monoglycerides have demonstrated enhanced disease resistance and overall health in weaned pigs by mitigating excessive diarrhea and inflammatory responses induced by ETEC infection. These effects are associated with improved intestinal structure and barrier function, as well as modulated local and systemic immunity, and altered metabolites related to gut integrity. As the push toward more sustainable livestock production and a One Health approach, nutritional interventions that reduce reliance on antimicrobial use are increasingly important. Monoglycerides are a promising dietary approach because they meet several key criteria for effective practices, including safety, stability, antibacterial activity with minimal resistance development, improved disease resistance and performance, ease of handling, and compatibility. However, more research is needed to assess the impact of monoglycerides supplementation on growth performance of weaned pigs in commercial settings under various external challenges.

Future studies should also explore the synergistic effects of monoglycerides combined with other acid-based additives to further validate their potential combined benefits in *in vivo* models. Additionally, targeted metabolomics and other omics approaches should be considered to provide valuable insights into the biological activities and interactions of different types of monoglycerides.